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General:

We are pleased to submit the Board of Directors' Report of the State of the Corporation’s Affairs for the
year ended on Detember 31, 2019. E! Al Israel Airlines Ltd. mainly operates in the field of air transport of
passengers and cargo, between lsrael and foreign countries. In addition, the Company provides
maintenance and conveyance services at its home airport, sale of duty-free products and - through investee
comparies - in related activities, mainly the production and supply of airline meals and management of
several travel agencies abroad.

The business environment in which the Company operates is global and civil aviation and tourism industry
to and from Israel, which is characterized by seasonality and fierce competition, intensifying during periods
of excess capacity and highly sensitive to the economic, geopolitical and security situation in Israel and
globally.

Explanations of the Board of Directors as to the State of the
Corporation’s Business

CORONA VIRUS CRISIS

After the date of the statement of financial position, the global Corona Virus pandemic had a significant
negative impact on the global economy, and in particular on the aviation sector, including the Company.
The pandemic resulted in a sharp decline in demand for passenger flights and in significant flight
cancellations in February and March 2020, up tc a complete stop of all regular passenger flights, further to
the nctice given by the Ministry of Health in early March 2020, requiring a 14-day isolation of all those
entering Israel from any country. The aforementioned stoppage resulted in loss of most Company revenues
and therefore creates, first and foremost, a material liquidity problem for the Company.

The economic crisis saw a sharp decline in demand for oil, which resulted in sharply lower jet fuel cost and
in lower interest rates world-wide. Since the Company had entered into hedging transactions designed to
manage exposure to changes in jet fuel prices and in exchange rates , the aforementioned decline resulted
in a decrease in fair value of these transactions and in losses which required the Company to provide
deposits of material amounts, which resulted in even more severe impact to the Company's cash flow. For
more information about these hedging transactions, see note 18 to the financial statements and Chapter B
of this report. Furthermore, since Company operations were significantly reduced, the Company did not
benefit from the lower jet fuel prices for its current consumption. See Chapter E below.

The Company has a working capital deficit, primarily due to advance sale of flight tickets, with a balance of
USD 321 million as of soon prior to the report issue date. Due to flight cancellations, the Company was
required to reimburse significant amounts to customers.

The crisis also resylted in lower valuation of aircraft world-wide. Therefore, the impairment of aircraft values,
used as collateral to secure loans obtained by the Company from Israeli banks for purchase of aircraft
{loans that do not constitute "reportable credit"), resulted in failure to comply with financial covenants for
LTV ratio. In conformity with the loan agreements, failure to comply with the required ratio gives banks the
right to receive deposits, (estimated at USD 30 million as of the report issue date). The Company has
applied to these banks for waiver requests for compliance with the aforementioned ratio for the duration of
the crisis.

L 4
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In order to immediately reduce cash expenditure by the Company during the shut-down period, the
Company applies, inter alia, the following measures, designed to address the implications of the Corona
Virus crisis (for more information see Note 1 to the financial statements):

{1} Measures with regard to human resources — most employees of the Company and of its
subsidiaries were placed on furlough through June 30, 2020. The Company also reduced the work
hours for managers, stopped recruitment of new hires and terminated new employees in training.
Company management is also in negotiations with employee representatives and with the Labor
Union regarding termination of other employees, cuts to salary and benefits of highly-paid
employees,

(2) Delay by consent some of the lease payments for leased aircraft.

(3) Termination of leases of two leased aircraft scheduled to go into service in 2020, and return of
three aircraft leased by wet lease.

(4) Suspending and termination of projects involving investments in aircraft fleet and in other areas.

(5) Expansion of operation of passenger aircraft for cargo transport, with adaptation of Boeing 777
aircraft for cargo transport.

(6) Application to release surplus in central severance pay funds (for more information see note 1 and
note 14.C.2 to the financial statements).

{7} Signing an MOU with regard to a Sale & lease-back agreement for three Boeing 737-800 aircraft
where the closing of this transaction is subject, inter alia, to obtaining assistance from financing
providers and from the State.

(8) Negotiations with lenders and with the State to obtain assistance, mostly backed by State
guarantees. Note that as of close to the report approval date, the MQOU has yet to be signed and it
is uncertain whether negotiations would result in a binding agreement and/or whether State
guarantees for the loan would be provided. The loan outline has yet to be agreed by the Company,
the lender and the State, and is contingent on suspensive conditions, primarily the following: (1)
Signing a new collective bargaining agreement with Company employees, to reflect the required
streamlining; (2) Closing of the aforementioned sale & lease-back transaction; (3) Release of full
excess in central severance pay funds yet to be released.

As of the report issue date, negotiations with the State and lenders are on-going, hence the uncertainty
with regard to closing of this assistance package. Since obtaining this assistance is crucial for allowing the
Company to address the implications of the Corona Virus crisis, the Company believes that at this stage
there is significant doubt as to whether the Company may continue as a going concern. For more
information see Note 1 to the financial statements.

Year 2019

In recent years, the capacity of foreign airlines in the Israeli market has grown sharply. This capacity parily
exceeds demand, leading to a price decline. This competition is particularly fierce in routes to the Far East
due, inter alia, to the competitive advantage given to a competitor in the route to India, flying cver Saudi
Arabia, while the Company is prevented from flying this shorter route. El Al also has competition from low
cost airlines on routes to Europe. Similar to passenger activity, the company is alse experiencing increased
competition in cargo operations.

In order to deal with the competition in its business environment, as stated, the Company focused on
several core issues, as detailed below. These plans were expected to be carried out over the next few
years and the bulk of which was completed as detailed below.

B-3 *— *+ 2019
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Improvement of product and customer experience —

The most significant of these measures is to upgrade aircraft interior through the execution of 787
aircraft procurement plan and by upgrading the interior of existing aircraft.

The Company has completed the bulk of this procurement plan, with 15 new 787 aircraft in service,
one of which was put into service in the first quarter of 2020, The last aircraft was scheduled to be
received in March 2020. Due to the Corona Virus crisis, by the report issue date, the Company has
not received this aircraft nor the loan for it, as of the report issue date, the Company is in
negotiations with the lenders on this matter. The loan to finance advance payments paid by the
Company for this aircraft was extended through June 30, 2020. The 787 aircraft have replaced the
767-300 aircraft , which were fully de-commissicned early this year, and the 747-400 aircraft, which
were de-commissioned in 2019,

Moreover, the Company upgraded the aircraft interiors of its 737-800 fleet, essentially completed
in 2019. In November 2019, the Company signed a lease for three additional aircraft of this type,
the first of which was put into service in February 2020. Due to the Corona Virus crisis, the
Company terminated the lease for the remaining two aircraft.

Due to the Corona Virus crisis and disruption of passenger flights, the Company suspended the
renewal of aircraft interiors for 777-200 aircraft, scheduled to start in 2020. The Company will review
the implications once this crisis is over.

A wireless internet system was installed in all 787 aircraft and such systems are gradually installed
in ali other aircraft,

Commerce —

B-4

In 2019, the Company expanded its route network and opened new destinations. in that year, the
Company launched routes to Nice, San Francisco, Manchester and Las Vegas.

Due to the Corona Virus crisis, the launch of routes to Chicago, Tokyo, Dublin and Disseldorf,
scheduled for 2020, has been put on hold.

In October 2018, the Company launched value propositions customized for customers in Europe;
in April 2019, similar value propositions were launched for Asia-Pacific and for Africa.

In May 2019, the Company signed a code sharing agreement and a club sharing agreement with
Alaska Airlines.

At the end of 2018 - the Company has extended its cooperation with the FlyCard branded credit
card, sighed new agreements with CAL, Diner's and Poalim Express, and brought on a new
strategic partner - MasterCard. In accordance with these agreements, in the first quarter of 2019,
the Company received a total of USD 59 million, partly in the form of signing grants and partly as
an advance on account of future payments to which the Company will be entitled pursuant to the
new agreements, which will apply as of September 2019.

In April 2018, new value offer to the Matmid Club customers was launched which, inter alia, updates
the points accumulation mechanism, expands options to use points for flight tickets, payment for
baggage and seating and so forth. In July 2018, when the new Bocking Engine for club members
went live, the value proposition was improved.

The Company signed a new contract with travel agents in israel, pursuant to which payment will
be at a fixed rate of up to 3% with respect to a portion of flight tickets sold by these agents, in line
with pre-defined criteria, replacing the fixed 5% commission previously paid.

In addition, the Company improved the Booking Engine on its website, and developing digital
solutions for personal marketing, all in order to increase sales.

&
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Operations and streamlining -
in the report year, the Company was acting to strengthen its competitiveness through streamiining.
+« Reduction of the number of fleet (to conly three}, placing new aircraft into service and de-
commissioning of 767-300ER and 747-400 aircraft have reduced, as of the report issue date, the
average age of Company aircraft to 9.2 years, thereby contributing to streamlining of the logistics
and maintenance systems, reduction in number of malfunctions, reduced refurbishment times,
increased refurbishment intervals, more efficient placement of air crews by the Company and so
forth,
» The new 787 aircraft are more efficient than the other fieets of the Company — both in fuel
consumption and in maintenance activities.
» Further operational streamlining was achieved by adding seats to the NG737-800 aircraft.
+ In 2018, the Company launched a three-year plan called "Ofek 2021" with the objective of
streamlining the Company’s operational processes and increasing its sources of revenue.
+ In 2019, the Company launched a multi-year program to replace several operational and
commercial information systems and to improve logistic work processes.
» InMay 2019, the Company launched a modern iogistics center for maintenance of spare parts.

People and processes —

In 2019 - the Company acted on improving its relationship with the employees and to sirengthen their sense
of identification with the Company and its objectives. Amaong others, in October 2018, a new labor
agreement was signed with the Company's pilots, to upgrade its operational efficiency and flexibility while
improving the pitots' working conditions and guaiity of tiving.

In the reported pericd, the Company was in the midst of realizing its procurement and product improvement
plan, which was designed to materialize primarily in the first half of 2020 and to be completed in 2021.
During the execution period, however, its operational efficiency was undermined, in part due to the need to
train and assign air crews 1o the new aircraft, due to sub-optimal assignment of aircraft to routes and due
to concurrent aperation of three wide-body aircraft fleets. In addition, during the transition period, the
Company can only partially benefit from the operational efficiency of the new aircraft (in terms of fuel and
mainienance costs) due to thetr gradual entry into service over a number of years, and the lack of product
uniformity due io customers' partial exposure {o the improved product.

0 January 2018, the Company applied IFRS 18 "leases” for the first time, which had material effects on the
Company’s financial statements, including a significant increase in assets and liabilities, a decline in lease
expenses, and a net increase in amortization and financing expenses of USD 18 million (pre-tax} in 2018.
It is also noted that, in accordance with the transitional provisions of the Standard, comparative data were
not restated.

Moreover, in 2019 the yield to maturity for corporate debentures decreased significantly, used for
discounting the liability with respect to defined benefit plan (and for other long-term benefits); the effect on
the habitity for paid teave and rest for employees amounted 1o USD 8.8 million (pre-tax), charged as an
expense in 2019,

&
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A1, MAIN DATA
MAIN DATA FOR THE YEAR ENDING ON DECEMBER 31 {USD MILLIONS)

2019 2018 Change
Operating income 2,178 2,142 2%
Operating expenses 1,835 1,846 {1%)
Grass profit 343 296 16%
EBITDAR ' 305 260 17%
Pre-tax loss on income 77 (88) 13%
Loss for the year (60) (52) 14%

A2. REVIEW OF THE DEVELOPMENTS IN THE BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT AND
OPERATIONAL METRICS

A2.1 REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT IN WHICH THE COMPANY
OPERATES

For the year ended on December 31
Traffic at Ben Gurion Alrport:

The following charts describe passenger traffic developrnents at Ben Gurion Airport, divided by inbound
and outbound tourism, and with respect to cargo, divided by imports and exporis. In 2019, the trend of
significant growth in incoming tourism continued, with 9% growth, while the number of outbound tourists
increased by 7%. As for cargo, imports increased by 3% while exports declined by 2%.

INCOMING TOURISM TO ISRAEL AND OUTBOUND RESIDENTS (IN THOUSANDS): 2

10,000
7793 % 5312
8,000 7,090
6,000
4,000
3,962
2,000 3,205 A
Q
2017 2018 2019
————ICOMING tourists S——— Departing Israelis

1 Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and rent.
? Source: Central Bureau of Statistics
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IMPORTS AND EXPORTS OF AIR FREIGHT TO AND FROM ISRAEL (THOUSANDS
OF TONS): 3

300
Q
240 192.0 201.0 +3% 208.0
180
120 148.1 148.6 25 e
60
0
2017 2018 2019
o — Export e — Import
Jet fuel:

In 2019, there was a decline in jet fuel prices compared to 2018, as shown by the following graph.
Regarding the development of jet fuel prices following the financial position statement date, see

Part E below.
DEVELOPMENT OF AVERAGE JET FUEL AND CRUDE OIL MARKET PRICES *
$ per barrel Cent/gallon
100 . 500
- 450
80 717 0% | 400
64.2 350
60 54,8// ——— ' 300
250
40 _ 200
202.9 185.6 ; 150
20 156.0 -9% © 100
" 50
0 - 0
2017 2018 2019
e——— 5/Barrel m—— Cent/gallon

3 Source:lsrae! Airparts Authority
+ Source: Bloomberg
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Exchange rates
The foliowing graph shows the average NIS-USD exchange rates in each quarter. In 2019, the

USD was lower by 0.8% against the NIS, compared to 2018. The average exchange rates have an
impact on the Company's shekel-denominated results.

As of December 31, 2019, the USD/NIS exchange rate was 3.48, compared with 3.75 as of
December 31, 2018, reflecting a 7.8% decrease in the USD vs. the NIS. These rates have an
impact on the Company's N1S-denominated balance sheet items. See Chapter B of this report.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE NIS-USD AVERAGE EXCHANGE RATE:

3.60 3.59 3.56

2077 2018 2019

For the three-month period ending on December 31
In the fourth quarter of 2019, incoming tourism increased by 3% over the corresponding period last

year, with outgoing traffic of local residents increased sharply by 20%. As for cargo, imports
increased by 7% while exports declined by 3%.

INCOMING TOURISM TO ISRAEL AND OUTBOUND RESIDENTS (IN THOUSANDS): §

2,400
+20% 1,882
1,563 1,573 it
1,600
800
035 1,041 +3% 1,074
0
2017 2018 2019
e [11COMING toUTISES s Departing israelis

5 Source: Central Bureau of Statistics
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IMPORTS AND EXPORTS OF AIR FREIGHT TO AND FROM ISRAEL
(THOUSANDS OF TONS): &

80
+7% 55.2
60 492 51.6
40
39.0 39.1 3% 37.9
20
o
2017 2018 2019
e % DO e— Import
Jet fuek

in the 4th quarter of 2019, there was a decline of 8% in jet fuel prices compared to the 4th quarter of
2018, as shown by the following graph.

DEVELOPMENT OF AVERAGE JET FUEL AND CRUDE OIL MARKET PRICES '

S per barrel Cent/gallon
100 . 500
450
80 68.6 9% , 400
61.5 62.4 © 350
60 -_ o . 300
. 250
a0 ' 200
174.8 195.1 -8% 183.5 ©150
20 i 100
50
0 0
2017 2018 2019
s S (Barrel m—— Cont/gallon

8 Sgurce:israel Airports Authority
7 Scurce: Blocomberg
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A2.2 The Company’'s operating metrics and market shares

B-10

FOR THE YEAR ENDING ON DECEMBER 31

2019 2018 Change
Ei Al apd Sun D'or
Passenger segment (scheduled and charter)
(paying customers) - in thousands 5,826 5,609 3.9%
Total market share — in percentage 24 6% 25.5% (3.68%)
Revenue Passenger Kilometer (RPK) - in
millions 23,642 22,852 3.5%
Available Seat Kilometer {ASK) — in millions 28,520 27,303 (4.5%)
Passenger load factor (PLF) — in percentage 82.9% 83.7% (1.0%)
Flight hours - in thousands 172.8 1712 0.9%
Average revenue per RPK - in cents * 818 823 (0.6%)
Air cargo - in tones, thousands 74.5 807 (7.8%)
Revenue Tons Kilometers (RTK)} - in millions 446 4 472.0 (5.4%)
RASK ** 7.3 7.5 (2.5%)
* CASK 7.4 77 (4.7%)
** CASK exciuding fuel 57 59 (2.6%)
Aircraft Flget ***/+***
No. of operational aircraft at the end of the
period — in units 43 45 -2
Average age of aircraft fleet at the end of the
period - in years 9.2 12.5 -3.3

Revenues from passengers and related income in scheduled flights only and net of changes in
exchange rates.
** Passenger aircraft, excluding financing expenses.
*** The entire fleet — owned and chartered aircraft. It'll be noted, that operating metrics

provided in this Note include flights by wet leased aircraft (including crew), which are

not included in the aircraft fleet.
**** As of the end of 2019, the aircraft fleet included twelve 787-9 aircraft and two 787-8 aircraft,
compared to seven 787-9 aircraft at the end of the previous year,

Legend

Passenger segment- one-way flight voucher.

RPK - Revenue Passenger Kilometer - the number of paid passengers multipiied by the airborne
distance.

ASK - Available Seat Kilometer - the number of seats offered for sale multiplied by the airhorne
distance.

PLF {(Passenger Load Factor) — RPK/ASK.

RTK - Revenue Ton Kilometer- weights the aircraft cargo for payment in tons multiplied by
atrborne distance.

RASK (Revenue per Available Seat Kilometer } — Revenues divided by ASK

CASK (Cost per Available Seat Kilometer)- Expenses divided by ASK

. + 2019
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Operating metrics ({in millions)

30,000 26,689 27,303 28,520 100%
25,000 22,506 22,852 23,642
20,000 90%
15,000 i 82.99
10,000 80%
5,000
0 70%
2017 2018 2019
RPK mmwm ASK ~— LOAD FACTOR

TRAFFIC AT BEN GURION AIRPORT AND THE MARKET SHARE OF EL AL AND
SUN D'OR 8

Traffic at Ben-Gurion airport Market share of El Al and
(Million passenger segments) Sun D'or in total traffic (%)
40
28.5% 30%

A0,
10 TTe——  255% 4% 24.6%

o 20%
20 7%
10 10%
0 0%
2017 2018 2019

| Traffic at Ben-Gurion airport {(Million passenger segments)

In 2019, the Company increased its number of available seats per kilometer (ASK) by 4.5%
compared to 2018. A significant part of this increase is due to the new aircraft which the Company
received, which have better yield and more seats than the de-commissioned 767-300 aircraft.
These aircraft allowed the Company to open new routes and to add flights on existing routes.

The revenue per passenger kilometer (RPK) was increased by 3.5%, which is lower than the
increase in the number of available seats per kilometer (ASK). Note that demand builds up
gradually when launching new destinations.

8 Source:lsrael Airports Authority
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Consequently, the Company's Load Factor in 2018 decreased by 1.0%, to 82.9%. The more
moderate increase in demand also affected the overall average revenue per RPK, which decreased
by 0.6%.

Since traffic at Ben Gurion Airport increased by 7% and the Company's passenger traffic increased
by only 4%, the Company's market share decreased by 3.6%, to 24.6%, compared 10 25.5% in
2018.

In 2018, there was a 7.8% decrease in the volume of transported air carge in tons

and a 5.4% decrease in revenue from air cargo multiplied by airborne distance (RTK), due to
weakness in the global air cargo market and reduced cargo flights.

FOR THE THREE-MONTH PERIOD ENDING ON DECEMBER 31

2019 2018 Change
El Al and Sun D'or
Passenger segment (scheduled and
charter) (paying customers) — in thousands 1,333 1,258 6.0%
Total market share — in percentage 23.4% 25 0% (6.4%)
Revenue Passenger Kilometer {RPK) —
in millions 5,593 5285 5.8%
Available Seat Kilometer (ASK) — in millions 6,735 6,373 5.7%
Passenger load factor (PLF) —
in percentage 83.0% 82.9% 0.2%
Flight hours - in thousands 412 306 4.1%
Average revenue per RPK - in cents** 8.3 872 0.9%
Air cargo — in tones, thousands 18.0 17.6 2 4%,
Revenue Ton Kilometer (RTK) ~ in millions 112.5 109.3 3.0%
RASK 7.4 7.5 (0.9%)
CASK 78 8.0 (2.4%)
CASK excluding fuel 6.2 6.2 1.5%

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the Company increased the number of available seats per kilometer
(ASK) by 5.7% compared {o the corresponding period last year. The RPK increased by 5.8%
compared to the corresponding period last year due, inter aita, to the timing of the holiday season—
mostly in October in 2019, while in the previous year — they were mainly in September.
Consequently, the Company's Load Factor increased by 0.2% in the reported period compared to
the corresponding period last year.

&
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TRAFFIC AT BEN GURION AIRPORT AND THE MARKET SHARE OF EL AL AND SUN
D'OR?

Traffic at Ben-Gurion airport Market share of El Al and
{Million passenger segments) Sun D'or in total traffic (%)
40%
12
o 30%
27.2% 25.0% 8%
9 T ————— : 23.4%
20%
6
13%
3 10%
0 0%
2017 2018 2019

1 Traffic at Ben-Gurion airport (Million passenger segments)

A3. ANALYSIS OF THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS RESULTS

Presented below are the Company's statements of income including as a percentage of turnover and
the rates of change year-over-year. Alsc presented are the main factors which affected the
Company's results in the reported periods compared to the corresponding periods last year. Note
that as from January 1, 2019, the Company applies IFRS 16 "Leases” (see note 2.D to the annual
financial statements); in conformity with transition provisions of this standard, the Company did not
adjust the 2018 results shown here for comparison. Due to the material effect of this accounting
standard on Company results, the effect of this standard was incorperated in explanaticns provided
below. See alsa note 2.D to the financial statements.

¢ Source:lsrael Airports Authority
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FOR THE YEAR ENDING ON DECEMBER 31

2019 2018 Change
% of uso % of uspD

USD thousands turnover thousands turnover thousands %
Operating income 2,177,997 100% 2,141,883 100% 36.004 1.7%
Operating expenses (1,834,804)  (842%) (1,845737) (86.2%) 10,933 (0.6%)
Gross profit 343,193 15.8% 296,256 13.8% 46,937 15.8%
Selling expenses (213,802) (9.8%) (215,118)  (10.0%) 1,315 (0.6%)
Administrative and
general expenses {139,290) (6.4%) (132,461)" (6.2%) (6,829) (5.2%)
Other expenses, net 12,498 0.6% 14,001 0.7% (1,503) (10.7%)
Profit (loss) from
ordinary activities 2,599 0.1% (37.320) (1.7%) 38,919  (107.0%)
Financing expenses, net (81,005) (28,753) (52,252}

Company’s share of the
profits of associated
companies, and
revaluation of options in

respect thereof 1,844 {1.675) 3,518
Pre-tax loss on income (76,562) (67.748) {8,815)
Tax benefit 16,961 15,581 1,380
Loss for the year (59,601) (52,167) (7,435)

Operating income

In 2019, operating revenues increased by USD 36 million, or 1.7%, compared to 2018. Air passenger
revenues increased by USD 48.5 million, or 2.5%. This increase is due to the Company's higher RPK,
partially offset by lower passenger/Km yieid, due to the reasons cited above. There was also a negative
impact of exchange rates in the currencies of some of the Company's sale transactions, in relation to the
USD. Cargo revenues decreased by USD 13 million, due to decrease in air cargo volume and lower yield
per TON-KM, due to weakness in the globa! cargo market and due to severe competition. The negative
impact of exchange rates also contributed to lower cargo revenues.

Operating expenses
In 2019, operating expenses decreased by USD 10.9 million compared to 2018, due to the following

reasons:

s Increase in payroll expenses by USD 35 million. The increase was due to new pay agreements, to
pilot fleet conversions and to negative impact of exchange rates. Moreover, USD 8.8 million of this
increase were due to a decrease in the discount rate for actuarial liability.

» Increase in expenses due to increase in operations, reflected by a 4.5% increase in the number of
available seats per kilometer (ASK).

» The effect of application of IFRS 16 "Leases", whereby rights to use leased assets were reduced
by USD 92.7 million included under Operating Expenses, against re-classification of USD 28 million
to Financing Expenses with respect to lease liability, and recognition of lease expenses (outside
the scope of this standard) amounting to USE 45.4 million, compared to lease expenses amounting
to USD 145 million in 2018.

+ Decrease in jet fuel expenses by USD 43.6 million, as set forth below.

« Increase in maintenance expenses by USD 17.4 million, primarily due to expenses charged by
flight houts, in conformity with the engine maintenance and spare part refurbishment agreement for
the additional 787 aircraft put into service during the year.

* 2019
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Composition of operating expenses for 2019

Other expenses Wages and social
10% benefits

Lease and 27%

depreciation

14%

Maintenance of
aircraft
7%

Jet fuel
Airport fees, air 26%
navigation &
communication
16%

Jet fuel expenses:

in 2019, jet fuel expenses for the Company decreased by USD 43.6 million {or 8.3%) compared to
2018, due to lower jet fuel market prices and due to a 4% decrease in fuel consumption by
Company aircraft, despite the 4.5% increase in ASK. This was due to operation of the 787 aircraft,
which are more fuel efficient. Conversely, the positive effect of hedging transactions was lower in
the reported period, as set forth below, which partially offset the decrease in jet fuel expenses.

THE TABLE BELOW PRESENTS THE EFFECT OF JET FUEL EXPENSES ON THE
COMPANY’S RESULTS IN THE SECOND QUARTER, INCLUDING THE IMPACT OF

HEDGE TRANSACTIONS {IN USD MILLIONS):

2019 2018 Difference

Jet fuel expenses for the period 4815 546.5 (65.0)

(before the effect of hedging)

Impact of jet fuel hedging on the
income statement 1.7 (23.1) 214

Total jet fuel expenses (including
the impact of hedging) 479.8 523.4 (43.6)

J_et fqe! volume consumed 2378 547 3 (9.5)
(in millions of gallons)

For additional details regarding hedge prices, see section B below. For additional details about the
impact of derivatives financial instruments on the financial statements, see note 18 of the
condensed financial statements.

Selling expenses
Selling expenses decreased by USD 1.3 million compared to 2018, primarily due to decrease in

distribution cost, mostly due to decrease in average base commission to agents and to change in
the distribution channe! mix. Conversely, advertising expenses increased due to the launch of new
destinations.

* * 2019
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Administrative and general expenses
General and administrative expenses increased by USD 6.8 million compared to 2018, primarily

due to increase in expenses with respect to lawsuits, increase in IT maintenance and decrease in
rights to use leased assets pursuant to IFRS 16 — partially offset by lower consulting expenses.

Other income {expenses)
Other revenues, net amounted to USD 12.5 million, including capital gain from sale of aircraft and

engines and from sale of excess inventory, compared to 2018 when revenues amotunting to USD
14.0 million were recognized from sale of aircraft and engines and from insurance receipts for a
767 aircraft that was damaged and de-commissioned.

Financing expenses
Financing expenses, net amounted to USD 81.0 million, compared to USD 28.8 million in 2018.

The increase is primarily due to application of IFRS 16, which resulted in interest expenses
recognized with respect to lease liabilities, amounting to USD 43.6 million, and additional expense
with respect to exchange rate differences, amounting to USD 2.7 million, due to balance sheet
exposure to lease liabilities denominated in currencies other than USD (mostly in NIS).
Furthermore, during this period interest expenses for loans increased, primarily due to increase in
Company loans used to finance 787-9 aircraft purchased by the Company.

Pre-tax loss
The pre-tax loss in the reported period amounted to USD 76.6 million compared to a pre-tax loss

of USD 67.7 million in 2018.

Tax benefit
In 2019, tax benefit amounted to USD 17.0 million, compared to USD 15.6 million in the previous

year, due to the increase in pre-tax loss.

Loss for the year
After-tax loss in 2019 amounted to USD 59.6 million compared to a loss of USD 52.2 million in

2018.

&
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FOR THE YEAR ENDING ON DECEMBER 31

2018 2017 Change

usD % of uso % of usD

[+
thousands turnover thousands turnover thousands %

Operating income 2,141,993 100% 2,096,998 100% 44 995 2.1%
Operating expenses {1,850,794) (86.8%)  (1,748,660) (83.4%) (111,134) 6.4%
Grpss profit 282,199 13.2% 348,338 16.6% (66,138) (19.0%)
Selling expenses (214,984) (10.0%) (209,096) {10.0%}) {5,888) 2.8%
Administrative and 1

expe'ns'es genera (118,536) (5.5%) (113,536) (5.4%) (5000)  4.4%
Other expenses, net 14,001 0.7% 3,271 0.2% 10,730 328.0%
Profit (loss) from ordinary o

activities (37,320) (1.7%) 28,977 1.4% (66,297)
Financing expenses, net (28,753) (20,502) {8,251)

Company’s share of the

profits of associated

companies, and (1,875) 243 (1,918)
revaluation of options in

respect thereof

Profit (loss) before taxes

on income (67.748) 8,718 (76,466)
Tax benefit {income tax) 15,581 (3.048) 18,629
Profit (loss) for period (52,167) 5670 (57.837)

For analysis of 2018 business results compared to 2017 business results, see the Board of Directors
Report as of December 31, 2018.

FOR THE THREE-MONTH PERIOD ENDING ON DECEMBER 31

2019 2018 Change
uso % of usD % of usD %

thousands turnover thousands turnover thousands
Operating income 518,462 100% 493,438 100% 25,024 5.1%
Qperating expenses 452,026) (87.4%) (442 707y  (89.7%) (10,219) 2.3%
Gross profit 65,536 12.6% 50,731 10.3% 14,805 29.2%
Selling expenses (58,167)  (11.2%) (52,019)  (10.5%) (6,148} 11.8%
Administrative and general
expenses (38,460} (7.4%) {33,023} (6.7%) (5,437) 16.5%
Other expenses, het 9,607 1.9% 1,373 0.3% 8,234  599.7%
Loss from ordinary
operations (21,484, (4.1%) (32,938) (6.7%) 11,454  (34.8%)
Financing expenses, net (20,720) (7,4271) (13,299)

The Company's share of the
profits (losses) of an
associate and revaluation of

options in respect thereof. 855 {1,105) 2,060
Pre-tax loss on income (41,249) (41,484) 215
Tax benefit 9,772 9,815 (43)
Loss for the quarter (31,477) (31,649) 172
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Operating income

In the fourth quarter of 2019, operating revenues increased by USD 25.0 million, or 5.1%, compared to
the corresponding period last year. Air passenger revenues increased by USD 25.6 million, or 5.8%. This
increase is due to increase in RPK flown by the Company, and to the increase in passenger-KM yield, for
the reasons described above, which were partially offset by the negative effect of exchange rates for
currencies of some sale transactions by the Company vs. the USD.

Cargo revenues in the fourth quarter of 2019 decreased by USD 1.5 million {or 4.4%) compared to the
corresponding period last year, primarily due to the decrease in ton-KM yield and to the negative effect of
exchange rates, which was partially offset by higher volume flown.

Operating expenses
In the fourth quarter of 2019, operating expenses increased by USD 10.2 million, or 2.3%, compared to
the corresponding period last year. This change is due to the following reasons:
¢ Increase in payroll expenses by USD 16 million compared to the corresponding period last year,
primarily due to new pay agreements and pilot conversion between fleets, and due to the increase
in actuarial obligations.
e Increase in expenses due to increase in operations, reflected by a 5.7% increase in ASK.
+ Increase in engine maintenance expenses.
e Decrease in jet fuel expenses by USD 9.4 million, as set forth below.
» Decrease due to application of IFRS 168, which diverted USD 8 million to financing expenses (the
great majority remains under depreciation expenses for rights to use leased assets, included
under Operating Expenses).

Jet fuel expenses:

in the fourth quarter of 2019, jet fuel expenses decreased by USD 9.4 million, or 7.6%, compared to the
corresponding period last year. This was primarily due to lower fuel consumption by Company aircratft,
despite the 5.7% increase in ASK, primarily due to continued introduction of 787-9 aircraft into service,
which are more fuel efficient. Moreover, fuel expenses were favorably affected by lower market prices for
jet fuel.

THE TABLE BELOW PRESENTS THE EFFECT OF JET FUEL EXPENSES ON THE

COMPANY’S RESULTS IN THE SECOND QUARTER, INCLUDING THE IMPACT OF HEDGE
TRANSACTIONS (IN USD MILLIONS):

2019 2018 Change
Jet fuel expenses for the period (before the
Impact of jet fuel hedging on the income
statement 03 (1.3} 1.6
Total jet fuel expenses (including the impact
of hedging) 113.4 122.8 (9.4)
Jet fuel volume consumed (in millions of
gallons) 54.8 5586 (0.8)

For additional details regarding hedge prices, see section B below.
For additional details about the impact of derivatives financial instruments on the financial statements, see
note 18 of the condensed financial statements.

Selling expenses

Selling expenses in the fourth quarter of 2019 increased by USD 6.1 million compared to te corresponding
period last year, primarily due to increase in advertising expenses and increase in distribution system
orders, due to higher business volumes. This was offset by the lower commission rates.

&
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Administrative and general expenses
General and administrative expenses in the fourth quarter of 2019 increased by USD 5.4 million compared

to te corresponding period last year, primarily due to increase in expenses for software amortization and in
provision for lawsuits.

Financing expenses
Financing expenses, net in the fourth quarter of 2018 amounted to USD 20.7 million, compared to USD 7.4

millicn in the corresponding period last year. The increase is primarily due to application of IFRS 16, which
resulted in interest expenses recognized with respect to lease liabilities, amounting to USD 12.1 million, and
additional expense with respect to exchange rate differences, amounting to USD 0.3 million, due to balance
sheet exposure to lease liabilities denominated in currencies other than USD (mostly in NIS).

Pre-tax loss
The pre-tax loss in the fourth quarter of 2019 amounted to USD 41.2 million compared to a pre-tax loss of

USD 41.5 million in the corresponding period last year.

Tax benefit
Tax benefit in the fourth quarter of 2019 amounted to USD 9.8 million, similar to the tax benefit recognized

in the corresponding period last year.

Loss for the quarter
After-tax loss in the fourth quarter of 2019 amounted to USD 31.5 million, compared to a loss of USD 31.6

million in the carresponding period last year.

Ad4. SEASONALITY

The Group's activity is impacted by seasonality and intensifies during peak periods. A massive traffic
of Israeli tourists traveling overseas is recorded during the summer months and the holiday seasons,
while the biggest traffic of tourists into Israel takes place in the summer months and ahead of Jewish
or Christian holidays or vacations in their countries of origin.

800
0,
647.2 50%
600
30%
400
20%
200 10%
0 0%
Q1-19 Q2-19 Q3-19 Q4-19
El Revenues in millions s 0, of Operating revenues
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A5, CASHFLOWS

CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2018 COMPARED TO 2018

2019 2018 Change
uUsD ush
thousands thousands
Cash flows provided by operating activities, net 293,851 91,229 202,622
Cash flows used in investment activities, net (433,625) (486,972} 53,347
Cash flows provided by {used in) financing
activities, net 174,415 352,349 (177.934)
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash
balances held in foreign currency 1522 (2.856) 4,378
Increase (decrease} in cash and cash 36.163 (46,250) 82 413

equivalents

Cash flows from current operations
In 2019, the Company had a positive cash flow from operating activities of USD 294 million compared to

USD 91 million in 2018. Note that cash flow from current operations in 2019 was calculated in conformity
with IFRS 16 rules, initially applied this year, which stipulate that repayment of lease obligations by the
Company, which in 2019 amounted to USD 82 million, should be classified as cash flow from financing
operations. In the corresponding period last year, this cash flow was included under current operations. As
Noted above, in accordance with the transition provisions of the Standard, comparison figures were not re-
stated. The increase in cash flow from current operations, excluding the aforementioned effect of IFRS 186,
amounting to USD 121 million, is primarily due to receipts with respect to agreements with credit card
companies, amounting to USD 59 million, to payment with respect to a settlement agreement with the Tax
Assessor for tax assessment amounting to USD 22 million in 2018, and to changes in other asset and
liability items, primarily with respect to un-earned revenues. Conversely, the loss in 2019 increased
compared to the previous year.

DEVELOPMENT OF CASH FLOW FROM CURRENT OPERATIONS, 2017-2019 (USD IN
MILLIONS

350

2939

300 284.0

250
200
150
100

50

0
2017 2018 2019
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Cash flows for investment activities
In 2019, the Company used USD 434 million, net, for its investment activities. Investment in fixed assets

and intangible assets amounted to USD 442 million, primarily with respect to purchase of a 787-9 aircraft
and two 787-8 aircraft owned by the Company, advance payment for aircraft purchase and purchase of
spare engines for 787-9 aircraft. The Company also invested USD 15 million in net deposits. Conversely,
the Company had cash flows of USD 23 million from proceeds from the sale of fixed assets, primarily
engines for the 747-400 fleet.

In 2018, the Company used USD 487 miilion, net, for its investment activities. Investments in fixed assets
and intangible assets amounted to USD 526 million (mainly for the acquisition of three Boeing 787-9
aircrafts and advance payments for aircrafts not yet received). On the other hand, the Company had cash
flows from a change in deposits in the amount of USD 29 million and cash flows from the sale of fixed
assets in the amount of USD 11 million.

Cash flows from financing activities
in 2019, the Company had a net cash flow of USD 174 million from financing operations. In this period, the

Company received loans amounting to USD 542 million, primarily financing for the fourth 787-9 aircraft and
two 787-8 aircraft owned by the Company, for re-financing of two Boeing 777-200 aircraft (see note 13 to
the financial statements) and loans to finance 3 spare engines for the 787 aircraft fleet. Conversely, the
Company repaid loans amounting to LUSD 281 million, of which USD 157 million in repayment of loans used
to make advance payments, by obtaining long-term loans to finance the 787-9 aircraft and two 787-8
aircraft, as well as repayment of the outstanding balance of a bullet loan which was re-financed. In addition,
the Company repaid lease obligations amounting to USD 82 million. In addition, short-term borrowing in the
reported period decreased by USD 5 million.

In 2018, the Company had a net cash flow of USD 352 million from financing operations. In this period, the
Company received long-term loans amounting to USD 405 million, and loans for financing of advance
payments for purchase of aircraft, amounting to USD 145 million. Conversely, the Company repaid loans
for financing of advance payments for purchase of aircraft, amounting to USD 85 miillion, as well as long-
term loans (current maturities) amounting to USD 104 million.

A6. THE FINANCIAL POSITION, CASH BALANCES AND WORKING CAPITAL
OF THE COMPANY

December December December December
31, 2019 31, 2018 31, 2019 31, 2018
USD thousands USD thousands
Current Current
assets 485,812 416,591 liabilities 1,082,917 1,014,595
Non-current Non-current
assets 3,010,124 1,692,429 liabilities 2,244 367 864,987
Total
liabilities 168,652 229,438
Total 3,495,936 2,109,020 Total 3,495,936 2,109,020
B2 ¢ * 2019
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Below are the main changes in the Company's assets, liabilities and equity as of
December 30, 2019 compared to December 31, 2018

Current assets
The Company’s current assets as of December 31, 2019 totaled USD 486 million, an increase of USD 69

million compared to the balance as of December 31, 2018. The increase was primarily due to increase in
cash balances and deposits and to increase in trade receivables, which were partially offset by a decrease
in other accounts receivable (mostly receivables with respect to refurbishment of leased engines).

Current liabilities
The Company’s current liabilities as of December 31, 2019 amounted to USD 1,083 million, an increase

by USD B8 millien from their balance as of December 31, 2018. A significant part of this increase is due
to application of IFRS 16, which included current maturities of lease obligations amounting to USD 93
million. Moreover, un-earned revenues from sale of flight tickets increased, as did the actuarial liability to
employees and trade payables. Conversely, short-term borrowing and current loan maturities decreased,
as did other accounts payable and the balance of financial derivatives.

Working capital:

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had a working capital deficiency of USD 597 million compared
to a deficiency of USD 598 million as of December 31, 2018. Current liabilities as of December 31, 2019
include USD 62 million in loans for financing of advance payments for two 787-8 aircraft (of which USD
31 million was repaid by long-term financing received upan receiving one of these aircraft). USD 59 million
for liability to employees with respect to paid leave expected to be payable to employees upon retirement,
but classified under Current Liabilities, in conformity with accounting rules. Furthermore, USD 248 million
in un-earned revenues with respect to sale of flight tickets which, in the normal course of business for the
Company is not paid in cash, but rather by providing future flight services. In view of the implications of
the Corona Virus crisis, and primarily due to discontinuation of passenger flights as from March, this
amount is partially payable in cash. Moreover, the change in working capital as of December 31, 2018 is
primarily due to initial application of IFRS 16 in 2019, whereby current loan maturities with respect to
leases, amounting to USD 93 million, were included under Current Liabilities, offset by the decrease in
current maturities for long-term loans. The Company's current ratio as of December 31, 2019 increased
to 44.9%, compared to 41.1% as of December 31, 2018.

Non-current assets
Non-current assets as of December 31, 2019 amounted to USD 3,010 million, an increase by USD 1,318

million compared to December 31, 2018, primarily due to rights to use leased assets, amounting to USD
983 million (recognized upon initial application of IFRS 16), increase by USD 274 million due to purchase
of a 787-9 aircraft and two 787-8 aircraft, which were put into service in 2019, and to increase in long-
term deposits amounting to USD 50 million, due to initial application of IFRS 16 (see note 2.D to the
annual financial statements), as well as to increase in assets with respect to employee benefits.

Non-current liabilities
Non-current liabilities for the Company as of December 31, 2019 amounted to USD 2,244 million, increase

by USD 1,379 million compared to December 31, 2018, primarily due to liabilities with respect to leases,
amounting to USD 928 million, due to initial application of IFRS 16 (see note 2.D to the annual financial
statements), to obtaining long-term financing due to aircraft purchase and to increase in long-term un-
earned revenues due to grants received from credit card companies as part of agreements signed there
with (see Note 12.C of the Annual Financial Statements.

Equity

Shareholders' equity as of December 31, 2019 amounted to USD 169 million. The decrease by USD 61
million compared to shareholder equity as of December 31, 2018 is primarily due to loss in 2019 and to
effect of application of IFRS 16, amounting to USD 19 million, partially offset by the positive effect of cash
flow hedge reserves.
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DEVELOPMENT OF EQUITY AS OF DECEMBER 31 (USD IN MILLIONS):

300 284.1
229.4
200 168.7
100
0
2017 2018 2019

Material Company loans and credit lines:
in accordance with the guidelines of the Securities Authority with respect to “reportable credit event”, the

Company has determined that the materiality threshold for reporting material loans is 5% of the
consolidated balance sheet of the Company and 10% of the outstanding loans of the corporation.
For more information about loans of the Company, see note 13 to the annual financial statements and

Appendix A to this report.
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B. Exposure to Market Risks and their Management

Detailed below are the market risks to which the Company is exposed and the management of said risks
including the use of hedge transactions. The Company applies the hedge accounting by designates
derivatives finangial instruments as hedging instruments. With regard to the Cempany's hedge accounting
policy as well as its market risks management policy, the officers responsible for the management thereof,
means of supervision and exercise of the Company's policy, see note 18 to the annual financial
statements as of December 31, 2019,

Exposure to changes in jet fuel prices

Jet fuel prices are a key component of the Company's operating expenses and have an impact on its
profitability. The Company is taking measures to reduce its exposure to these changes, as specified
below.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had several jet fuel hedges estimated at 43% of the expected
consumption in 2020. Furthermore, the Company hedged 18% of expected consumption in 2021. The net
fair value of total jet fuel hedge instruments as of December 31, 2019 was USD 2.1 million.

The table below presents a sensitivity analysis for jet fuel expenses over a period of 12 months (close to
the date of publication of the financial statements), in relation to projected market prices which are
expected according to the curve known as of the date of publication of the report, according to the
estimated level of activity and the Company's assessments (assuming all other variables, including level
of consumption and suppliers’ margins remain unchanged with respect to the reporting year} as well as
the effect of hedging on expenses.

Changes in the average Effect on Hedging as a Impact on
market price in the next 12 expenses prior  percentage of expenses after
months relative to the price to hedging the projected the effect of
close to the date of (USD, million) expenses for hedging
publication of this report (49 the next 12 (USD, million)
cents/gallon) months

50% 60 . 9

25% 30 87% 4

-25%, -30 -4

-50% -80 -9

The Company applies the hedge accounting by designates derivatives financial instruments as hedging
instruments. Regarding hedge accounting policy, see note 18 of the annual financial statements as of
December 31, 2019.

Furthermore, in June 2019 the Company Board of Directors revised the hedging policy, by increasing the
maximum hedging in the policy by 5%. Moreover, the Company's Risk Management Committee
temporarily authorized deviation by up to 20% from maximum values in the policy, at discretion of
Company managemeni.

Due to the decrease in Company operations in view of the Corona Virus crisis, the Company's hedging
transactions for the second quarter of 2020 and thereafter are higher than the actual consumption.

For more information abeut the sharp decrease in jet fuel prices due to the Corona Virus crisis after the
date of the statement of financial position, see section E.2. of the board of directors’ report below.

The rate of change in market price, in the table above, is in conformity with the maximum rate of change
in jet fuel prices during the Corona Virus crisis.
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Exposure in respect of long-term loans
In accordance with the provisions of several loan agreements (which do not constitute a "reportable

credit"), the Company is required to meet a minimum ratio between the market value of the aircrafts and
the balance of the loans that are secured by the same aircrafts. As of the report date, the Company is in
compliance with the required ratic. Moreover, the agreements include common provisions for such
transactions, such as provisions allowing the financing providers to demand early repayment of the loans
in case of a breach event caused by the Company. The Company's exposure to market risks in this regard
results from changes in the market value of aircrafts globally.

The Corona Virus crisis also resulted in lower valuations of aircraft world-wide. Therefore, the
impairment of aircraft values, used as collateral to secure loans obtained by the Company from
Israeli banks for purchase of aircraft (loans that do not constitute "reportable credit"), resulted in
failure to comply with financial covenants for LTV ratio. In conformity with the loan agreements,
failure to comply with the required ratio gives banks the right to receive deposits, (estimated at
USD 30 million as of the report issue date). The Company has applied to these banks for awaiverfor
compliance with the aforementioned ratio for the duration of the crisis.

Most of the loans taken by the Company bear interest based on LIBOR interest rates, and in some loans
the interest is hedged using derivatives that are also based on LIBOR interest rates. As from the end of
2021, the use of LIBOR interest rates would be discontinued and new interest rate benchmarks would be
used. At this stage, the Company is unable to assess the impact of discontinued use of LIBOR interest
rates, nor whether such impact would be material or not, as it is not yet currently known what would be
the interest rate benchmarks to replace the use of LIBOR interest rates.

Exposure to changes in interest rates
As of the report date, 28% of the outstanding balance of Company loans bears a floating interest rate and

72% of outstanding loans bear a fixed interest rate for a period of up to about 12 years.

In August, the Market Risk Management Committee of the Board of Directors authorized interest to be
fixed for two loans obtained for purchase of two 787 aircraft, including deviation from the percentage of
hedged loans to over 50% in conformity with the Company's hedging policy, as set forth in note 18 to the
annual financial statements as of December 31, 2019.

The table below presents the sensitivity of interest expense on the balance of loans at the reporting date,
for a period of 12 months (close to the date of publication of the financial statements), including the effect
of the Company's hedges, as detailed above, regarding interest risk management.

Changes in the average Libor Average of hedging Impact on expenses
interest rate in the next 12 and/or fixed interest over the coming 12
months relative to the Libor rate as a percentage of the months, after the
interest rate close to the date estimated exposure for effect of hedging
publication of this report (0.5%) the next 12 months (USD in millions)

50% 1.0

10% 0.3

72%
-10% -0.3
-50% -0.1

For more information about the sharp decline in interest rates after the date of the statement of financial
position, due to the Corona Virus crisis, see section E. below.

&
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NIS-USD Exchange Rate Exposure

Most of the revenues and expenses of the Company are in US dollars, which is the Company's functional
and reporting currency. The Company has NIS-denominated expenses, primarily payroll expenses and
payments to local suppliers in Israel. Accordingly, a change in the rate of the NIS against the USD affects
the Company's NIS expenses in dollar terms. The Company is taking measures to reduce its exposure
to these changes, as specified below. in addition, changes in the NIS-USD exchange rate has an impact
on the Company's balance sheet items, mainly due to long-term employee benefits, which could be
reflected as an expense or income in the income statement, and an increase or decrease of the dollar-
denominated cash flows required to settle the liability

Close to the date of publication of the report, the hedging of NiS-denominated cash flows for the next 12
months is 0% of the estimated exposure.

The table below presents a sensitivity analysis for NIS-denominated expenses over a period of 12 months
{close to the date of publication of the financial statements), in relation to the expected market prices as
of that date, according to the estimated level of activity and the Company's assessments (assuming all
other variables, including the amount of NIS-denominated expenses remain unchanged) as well as the
effect of hedging on expenses.

Change in the average The change (in Hedging as a The change {in
exchange rate in the dollar terms} in percentage of the dollar terms) in
next 12 months relative NIS-denominated projected exposure for NiS-denominated
to the exchange rate expenses priorto  the next 12 months expenses after the
close to the date of the effect of effect of hedging
publication of the report hedging (USD, (USD, million)
{NIS 3.53/% per spot} million)

10% -51 0% -51

-10% 62 62

In addition, any 10% increase or decrease in the exchange rate as of December 31, 2019, would have
led to an increase or decrease in NIS-denominated liabilities in the sum of USD 8.8 million.

As from 2019, minimums were specified in the exchange rate hedging pelicy (USD/NIS) for the coming
nine months, on gradual revolving basis. Soon prior to the financial statements issue date, the Company
is in deviation from these minimums, in accordance with a temporary permit granted by the Risk
Management Committee of the Board of Directors.

In 2019 and in early 2020, as part of financing of the procurement plan, the Company obtained multiple
JOLCO lcans, linked to JPY, amounting in total to USD 100 million. These are bullet loans for a 10-year
term. The Company has partially hedged the exposure to the USD/JPY exchange rate using a forward
transaction. As of saon prior to the report issue date, the fair value of this hedging transaction is USD 6.5
million in debit for the Company. For more information about Company exposure to USD/JPY exchange
rate fluctuations, see note 18 to the financial statements.
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C. Aspects of corporate responsibility and corporate
governance

C1. CHARITABLE DONATIONS AND ASSISTANCE TO THE COMMUNITY

The Company sees great importance in making charitable donations and providing assistance to
those in need and to the community. As part of its operations, in 2019 the Company made
charitable donations in cash and cash equivalents, amounting to USD 2.4 miliion.

The Company maintained its Ma'aleh rating for 2019 at Platinum Pius status.

The Company provides activities and volunteer work with over 50 NGOs, including adoption of
the Tzefa paratrooper regiment, the "Big Small Money" proiect for Alut, food donation to those in
need, assistance using club points, the CEQ Fund, for purchasing flight tickets for medical
treatment or for recreation for sick children, informational activity by Company staff overseas,
volunteer work at boarding schools, adoption and training of youth, weekly teaching assistance
for pupils and the "Adopt a Surviver' project for Holocaust survivors.

Also other NGOs involved in education, entrepreneurship, persons with special needs, welfare,
sick patients, youth at risk, the mentally ill, blind persons, animals, NGOs providing assistance to
defense forces and law enforcement, and NGOs that promote Zionism and immigration to Israel.

C2. DIRECTORS WITH ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL CAPABILITIES

For information regarding the experience and education of the directors the Board of Directors
considered to have possessed accounting and financial in the reported year — see Regulation 26 in
part D of this periodic report.

C3. DISCLOSURE REGARDING THE INTERNAL AUDITOR IN A REPORTING
CORPORATION

1. Details on the internal auditor and compliance with conditions

1.1 Name of Auditor: Gil Berr.

1.2  Beginning of term in office: June 1 st.,2009.

1.3 Qualifications: CPA holding a degree in accounting and business administration and
certified in public administration and auditing (with honors).
Holds the CIA (Certified Internal Auditor — U.S.) and CRISC (Certified in Risk and Information
Systems Control) certificates. Has some twenty years’ experience in internal  auditing,
financial statements auditing, risk management and in consulting. Until his appointment
Mr.Berr was a partner in the Cost Forrer Gabbai & Kasierer (Ernst & Young) accounting firm
and was responsible for auditing and risk management. Wiithin this framework he served as
internal auditor for various companies and organizations. In addition, he serves as a regular
lecturer Ben Gurion University, Ariel University and at the Ono Academic College in the field
of risk management and internal auditing. In addition, serves as a director at the Internal
Auditor's Association (IIA} and Chair of Risk Management Forum.
The internal auditor meets all the requirements set out in Section 3(a) of the Internal Auditing
Law, 5752-1992.
The internal auditor is in compliance with the provisions of Section 146(b) of the Companies
Law, 5759-1999 and Section 8 of the Internal Auditing Law, 5752-1992.

L J
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1.4. The internal auditor has no holdings in Company securities or holdings in any related body
in the reported year.

1.5 Commencing from the date of his appointment, the internal auditor has had no business
connections of any sort with the audited corporation or with any related body, with the
exception of serving as internal auditor for Group subsidiaries.

1.6 The internal auditor is employed by the Company as a full-time Company employee.

The internal auditor's Appointment

2.1 The appeintment of the internal auditor was approved by the Audit Committee on its April 21,
2009 meeting and by the Company's Board of Directors on its April 30, 2009 meeting, and
after considering the auditor's education, skills and experience in large-scale corporate
auditing and risk management.

2.2 The auditor was given duties and authorities in accordance with the Company's auditing
procedure, the directives of which are based on the laws of the State of Israel. Pursuant to
this, the Internal Auditor was tasked with proposing a work plan, to be carried out in
accordance with the Company’s auditing plans and to distribute, in writing, reports containing
findings, conclusions and recommendations.

The internal auditor's Supervisor
The internal auditor is subordinate to the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the
CEOQ of the Company, in accordance with the Company's bylaws.

Work plan

4.1. The internal auditor's work plan is on a yearly basis.

4.2 The internal auditor's work plan is determined based upon the following considerations:

4.2.1. The risk embodied in the matter on the Company's activities and profitability.

422 The effect of the matter on the safety and security of passengers, employees and
aircraft, the Company's profitability, passenger service, and regulation.

4.2 3. The existence of appropriate controls, applicability and efficiency in the audited
area.

4.2.4. Proposals of VPs and departiment managers.

4.2.5. Previous audit findings and pace at which the recommendations submitted were
implemented.

4.2.6. The need for follow-up in order to ensure a proper auditing process.

4.3. Establishment of the work plan involves the Chairman of the Company's Board of Directors,
the members of the Audit and Remuneration Committees and the Company CEQO.

4.4, Thework plan proposal is received on a yearly basis from by the Chairman of the Company's
Board of Directors, the members of the Audit and Compensation Committees and the
Company CEO. All of them approve the proposal in accordance with Section 149 of the
Companies Law, 5759-1988.

4.5 The work plan allows the internal auditor to exercise his judgment in deviating from the
plan.

46 The Company's auditor is present at Board of Directors' meetings in which material
transactions are approved.

Audits Overseas or for Subsidiaries

The Company's auditor also serves as internal auditor for all active subsidiaries, and, therefore,
the auditor's work plan takes these companies into account. The auditor's work plan also includes
inspections of the Company's cverseas activities.

. ¢ 2019
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Treatment of Complaints Pertaining to Flaws in the Management of the Company’s
Business

The Company's auditor was assigned the task of concentrating and presenting to the Audit
Committee the method of treatment of complaints by Company workers regarding flaws in the
manner in which it conducts its business. For this purpose, a regular mechanism has been
established at the Company to handle these matters. The subject is studied and reviewed on a
regular basis.

Scope of Employment

7.1. The Internal Auditor is employed by the Company in full time capacity, with seven internal
auditors in full time capacity reporting to them.

7.2. In 2018, the Company invested approx. 15,850 work hours for audit at the Company and
subsidiaries in Israel and overseas, as set forth below:
The scope of employment is determined based on the audit work plan, which is determined
based on the scope and complexity of various Company operations.

Work hours Work hours Work hours for Total
for Company for Company subsidiaries™*
operations in operations
Israel overseas*
12,850 1,700 1,300 15,850

*70% of the Company's work hours regarding activities abroad were carried out in Israel.
** Including an investee abroad.

Performing the Audit

8.1. The Company's internal auditor conducts his work in accordance with the Companies Law,
5759-1999, the Internal Auditing Law, 5792-1992 and generally accepted professional
standards.

8.2. The Chairman of the Board and Audit Committee Chair hold a monthly meeting with the
internai auditor regarding his work and regarding the professional standards according to
which the Auditor operates.

§.3. The Audit and Compensation Committee holds meetings in which it discusses the internal

auditor's work and audit regulations.

§.4. Prior to the approval of the annual audit plan, the Chairman of the Board and Audit and
Remuneration Committee Chair meets with the internal auditor to discuss the standards
according to which the work plan was formulated, following which the audit committee
discussed the proposed audit plan and the standards based on which the proposal was
formulated and approves it.

8.5 Furthermore, during the reported year a discussion was held by the Audit and Compensation
Committee, in the presence of the internal auditor and without the presence of company
officers who are not committee members, to check for the presence of flaws in the
corporation’'s business management.

Access to Information

The internal auditor has unfettered, continuous and direct access to any document or information
held by the Company and its subsidiaries, in Israe! and abroad, or by any of its employees, as well
as access to any crdinary or computerized infermation listings, to any database and toc any
automatic data processing system in the Company, including for financial data, as noted in Section
9 of the Internal Auditing Law, 5752-1992.
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The internal auditor's report

10.1. The audit reports are submitted in writing.

10.2. In 2019 the internal auditor prepared 41 audit reperts. The audit reporis were submitted to
the Chairman of the Board, the members of the Audit and Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors, and the Company's CEO.

10.3. In 2019, the Audit and Remuneration Committee convened for 14 meetings to discuss
reports by the Internal Auditor, on the following dates: January 21, February 4, February 17,
February 25, March 17, April 7, May 26, June 17, July 24, August 11, September 19, October
28, November 24 and December 31.

Board of Director’'s Evaluation of the Internal Auditor's Activity

In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the scope, nature and continuity of the internal auditing
activities and work plan are reasonable under the circumstances, and they achieve the internal
audit objectives of the corporation, since they relate to all of the Company’s major and material
activities.

Remuneration

12.1. Remuneration of the Internal auditor is based on salary and benefits (including a bonus in
conformity with the Company's officer remuneration poelicy), as customary for senior
management and in conformity with the remuneration policy. Total remuneration for 2019
amounted to NIS 1,213 thousand.

12.2. In the opinion of the Company's Board of Directors, the components of the compensation to
the internal auditor do not impair his ability to apply his independent judgment in carrying out
his assignments, inter alia, in view of the fact that the audit work is performed by the internal
audit department, which includes several internal auditors.

DISCLOSURE WITH REGARD TO REMUNERATION OF THE INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR

THE COMPANY PAID THE FOLLOWING FEES TO INDEPENDENT AURITORS BRIGHTMAN

ALMAGOR ZOHAR & CO. FOR AUDIT AND TAX SERVICES AND FOR OTHER SERVICES
PROVIDED BY THE LATTER.

Audit Other services Total
usD usD usD
Hours thousands Hours thousands Hours thousands
Year 2019 9379 380 1,673 261 11,052 641
Year 2018 9622 363 2,716 299 12,338 662

Cs.

B-30

These fees were approved by the Company's Board of Directors and are reasonable and
acceptable, in view of the nature of the Company and the scope of its activities.

COMPENSATION TO INTERESTED PARTIES AND SENIOR OFFICERS

Regarding compensation to interested parties and senior officers, see note 22 of the financial
statements regarding transactions with interested parties and related parties as well as Regulation
21 to the chapter "Additional Details on the Corporation”. Regarding the Company’s compensation
policy for senior officers for the years 2017-2019, as endorsed by the Company's Shareholders'
Meeting on December 1, 2016 ("Remuneration Policy"), see the Company's Immediate Report
dated October 27, 2016 (reference no. 2016-01-088523) to which the remuneration policy is
attached. It'll be noted that the General Meeting of Company Shareholders approved, on November
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3, 2019, the officer remuneration policy for 2020-2022 (for more information see revised report
convening the General Meeting, dated October 24, 2019, reference number 2019-01-080309, with
which the aforementicned remuneration policy was enclosed).

INTERNAL ENFORCEMENT PLANS
Internal enforcement plan with respect securities and corporate laws

In 2011, the Company Board of Directors approved, after approval by the Corporate Governance
Committee, highlights of the Internal Enforcement Program for securities law and corporate law
("Internal Enforcement Program™) and in conformity with the recommendation by the CEO,
appointed the Legal Counsel as supervisor of internal enforcement at the Company for this matter
("Supervisor”).

The Internal Enforcement Plan expresses the Company’s recognition of the importance of
compliance with the law on behalf of Company employees, executives, Board members and
relevant service providers, and concentrates the Company's policy on the subject of preventing and
treating violations, including a policy for evaluating the damages of statutory violations and
preventing their recurrence.

The goal of the Internal Enforcement Plan is to assimilate and enforce norms in matters of
observing the law, ethical rules and other codes of behavior by the Company, its executives and
its employees and therefore to confirm compliance with securities law on behalf of the Company
and by individuals working at it.

The Enforcement Plan includes means for the internal identification of potential viclations and
failures, the purpose of which, inter alia, is to locate and correct failures, improve reporting
processes, identify and treat cases of conflict of interest, prevent the leak of internal information out
of the Company and to prevent prohibited influence on trade in Company shares.

To be clear, the internal enforcement plan may serve as a tool employed by the CEQO and the Board
of Director in the fulfillment of their oversight obligation and may be held in the Company’s favor in
the event of any violation of securities law.

The Internal Enforcement Plan adopted by the Company includes an cutline for the activities of the
Company’s internal enforcement array and key procedures, including: the Board of Director’'s work
procedure; the procedure for defining the positions and autherities of the Audit Committee; the
procedure for transactions with related parties; the Board of Director's conflict of interest procedure;
the executive remuneration procedure; the reporting (non-financial) procedure; internal information
procedure; the delivery of information to the media and to the capital markets and the procedure
for training Board members.

In 2019, the Supervisor continued to conduct various activities in conjunction with deployment of
the enforcement program among Company staff and management, including training on internal
enforcement delivered by the Supervisor to staff and management at the Company and at
subsidiaries, and to consultants that provide services to the Company, and conducted proactive
audits to verify implementation of enforcement procedures.

The Supervisor provides to Board members, in the Enforcement Supervisor's Report, a description
of actions taken in the reported period, in conjunction with implementation and deployment of the
enforcement program, an overview of compliance events and measures applied to address such
events, and to prevent recurrence of such events in future, as well as a list of updates on legislative
amendments, 1SA directives and material rulings in Court proceedings regarding securities law and
corporate law.

L 4
4

2019



ELVALINZ

avlya mraaon

B-32

o0,
‘.:.”0000 e 4

OO MR RN

SO MO0
.0:0:0’.’.'.’.’4\'0’.‘. e

" Free translation of the Hebrew Language — Hebrew Wording Binding

Internal enforcement program with regard to competitive law

In 2014, the Company Board of Directors approved the interna!l enforcement pregram with regard
to competitive law, including an outline for operation of the internal enforcement unit at the
Company and key procedures for Company operations; as recommended by the CEO, the Board
of Directors appointed the Legal Counsel as supervisor of internal enforcement at the Company in
this area. The implementation and adoption of an effective enforcement plan increases the
awareness of workers and executives for the requirements of the Antitrust Law and the enforcement
policy of the Antitrust Authority, and consequently, reduces exposure to claims against the
Company, employees and executives. This also constitutes a framework for fruitful cooperation
between the Antitrust Authority and the Company. In addition, effective implementation of the
Enforcement Plan shall favor the officers in the event of criminal liability, as long as it has been
proven that the breach was committed without the knowledge of the accused officer and that the
Company has taken all reasonable measures to ensure that the Antitrust Law was complied with.

As part of deployment of the internal enforcement program for competitive law, in 2019 training was
delivered to Company staff and management, and audits were conducted to review implementation
of enforcement procedures.

Internal enforcement program for prohibition of bribery and corruption

In 2018, the Company Board of Directors approved the internal enforcement pregram for prohibition
of bribery and corruption, and appointed the Company’s VP, Human Resources and Administration
to be the supervisor for enforcement in this area. The enforcement program applies to Company
staff and management in Israel and overseas, to staff and management of subsidiaries in Israel
and overseas and to relevant third parties. The enforcement program reflects the great importance
which the Company sees in strict compliance with statutory provisions regarding bribery and
corruption felonies.

As part of deployment of the internal enforcement program for prohibition of bribery and corruption,
in 2019 training was delivered to Company staff and management on this topic.

&
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D. Disclosure in connection with the Financial Reporting of
the Corporation

D1.

D2

B-33

DISCLOSURE AS TO CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The implementation of the accounting principles by the management upon the preparation of the
financial statements at times involves estimates, assumptions and forecasts that impact the amounts
of assets and liabilities and the business results reported in the financial statements. Some of the
assumptions, estimates and forecasts are critical to the financial position or the operating results
presented in the Group's financial statements, due to the materiality of the matter, the complexity of
the calculations or the degree of likelihood for the realization of the uncertain matters. For details
regarding the material accounting estimates used by the Company, see Note 2¢ of the Financial
Statements as of December 31, 2019.

DISCLOSURE REGARDING VALUATION

Pursuant to Regulation 8b(i) of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970,
below is information about calculation of the recoverable amount for the Company aircraft fleet as of
June 30, 2019, prepared by BDO Ziv Haft Consulting and Management. The purpose of this work is
to review and assess the need for the Company to recognize on the aforementioned financial
statements any impairment loss with respect to a cash-generating unit that includes the Company's
entire aircraft fleet and other attributable assets, including headquarters assets (hereinafter: "the
Cash-generating Unit"), in conformity with I1AS 36 "Impairmment of Assets” ("IAS 36").

In the Company's financial statements as of June 30, 2019, the Company estimated the value in use
of the Cash-generating Unit at USD 2,180 millien. It was noted that the methodology for assessing
the value of use and determining the composition and value of the cash-generating unit's books were
significantly affected by the application of IFRS 16 pursuant to which leases (on the lessor's side)
are accounted for in the same manner as the purchase of assets, such that the discounted value of
future lease fees is recorded in the statement of financial position as a right-of-use asset and
depreciated throughout the life of the lease. As a result, the said asset is added to the evaluated
assets while the value-in-use did not include the negative cash flow arising from those leases (since,
as stated, these are already included in the books of the measured cash generating unit, for future
leases, see below). Note that application of iIFRS 16 also impacted the determination of the discount
rate used in calculating the value in use.

Since the Company is in the advanced stages of executing its procurement plan, in calculating the
value-in-use the Company included the cash in respect of all the aircraft in the transaction, including
the projected investments and negative cash flow as a result of commissioning these aircraft. The
forecast period on which the value of use is calculated is approximately 25 years (from the average
date of entry into service in the 787 fleet — on Jume 30, 2018) until the scheduled date of
decommissioning of the Boeing 787-8 and 787-9 aircraft, which comprise the Company's main
aircraft fleet. Accordingly, we assumed for the purpose of calculation of the value in use, that after
de-commissioning of the other fleets (777-200, 737-800, 737-900), planned to be prior to the
aforementioned 25th anniversary, the Company would use leased aircraft in lieu of each aircraft thus
de-commissioned and accordingly, on said dates, the present value of the lease fee expected for
these leases was deducted, based on expected lease prices based on on the AVAC price list and
using a discount rate, for this matter, based on the discount rate inherent in the lease, in conformity
with provisions of IFRS 16.
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The calculation of the value in use would be revised if and when required, in conformity with |AS 36
"Impairment of Assets", on future financial statements of the Company, and should not be regarded
as an estimate of the economic value or market value of the Company.

The calculation of value in use js based on forecasts and estimates of future events, whose
materialization is uncertain and not under control of the Company, and should be regarded
as forward-looking information, as this termn is defined in Section 32a of the Securities Act,
1968. These forecasts and estimates, in whole or in part, may fail to materialize or may
materialize differently than anticipated in calculation of the value in use, hence operating
resuifts under different parameters may differ from those forecasted. Differences may occur
between actual results and forecast results should, inter alia, the major assumptions fail to
materialize or should they materialize differently than anticipated.

Below is a summary of details regarding works prepared to review impairment as of June 30, 2019,
September 30, 2018, December 31, 2017 and March 31, 2017 using the DCF (Discounted Cash
Flow) method, in conformity with IAS 36 "Impairment of Assets".

Remaining

Value in use depreciated
The work prepared . Valuation of the cash-  value of the
(composition of the cash- The appraiser date generating cash-
generating unit reviewed for unit (USD in generating unit
impairment) millions) {(USD in millions)
Review for impairment of BDO
entire Company aircraft fleet Ziv Haft
{owned and leased) and Consulting and 30.06.2019 2,180 1.832
attributable assets Management Ltd.

Testing for impairment of the

Company's aircraft fleet (27

owned aircrafts in addition to  of the Company  30.09.2018 1,436 1,227
10 leased aircrafts) and

attributable assets

Testing for impairment of the

Company's aircraft fleet (26

owned aircrafts in addition to  of the Company  31.12.2017 8§58 844
14 leased aircrafts) and

attributable assets

Testing for impairment of the

Company's aircraft fleet (28

owned aircrafts in additionto  of the Company 31.3.2017 1,048 936
10 leased aircrafts) and

attributable assets

Note that the value in use as of June 30, 2019 is significantly higher than the value calculated for the
cash-generating unit, as reported on the financial statements as of September 30, 2018 ("the
Previous Estimate”), based on assumptions and estimates available to the Company at that time
(September 2018). This is in view of the aforesaid with regard to application of IFRS 16, whereby
negative cash flow with respect to leases was not included in the value in use, as was the cast in the
Previous Estimate. Moreover, the present estimate includes the value in use of the Company's entire
aircraft fleet, over the entire forecast period, unlike the Previous Estimate, which only included aircraft
placed into service by the Company at that time and only through their anticipated de-commissioning
date, since upon preparing the Previous Estimate, the Company was at the outset of the procurement
plan, and due to the accounting restriction on recognition of cash flow with respect to future
investments in calculation of value in use, pursuant to AS 36,
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As of December 31, 2019, there were no indications of impairment and no change in the estimated
contribution, which could also be indicative of impairment, in relation to the contribution used for the
calculation that was conducted on the aforementioned date. However, due to the Corona Virus crisis,
the Company intends to review the recoverable amount for its financial statements for the first quarter
of 2020.

For the full valuation, see quarterly report as of June 30, 2019, issued on August 28, 2019 (reference
no. 2019-01-089314), included in this report by way of reference.

D3. MATTERS TO WHICH THE COMPANY'S AUDITORS CALLED ATTENTIGN IN
THEIR OPINION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. For significant doubt about the Company continuing as a going concern, see Note 1 to the
annual financial statements.,
2. For details on the exposure of class actions against the Company and the exposure of the
Company to these class actions, see note 15.B. of the Annual Financial Statements.

E. Additional information:

Disclosure regarding changes in the economic environment, repercussions of
the crisis in the capital markets and market risks and special events

1. The global aviation market is affected by the security and political situation, special events, such as
the outbreak of epidemics and natural disasters worldwide in general and in specific areas in
particular, and the economic situation in Israel and globally. For more information about the Corona
Virus pandemic, the global economic and aviation crisis and implications thereof on il prices and
interest rates, see Chapter A. of this report.

Below are changes in the prices of jet fuel and LIBCR interest rate from the end of the year
through close to the publication of the financial statements as of December 31, 2019:

2. As of the reporting date, the market prices of jet fuel (before fees and supplier margins), weighted
according to the markets in which the Company purchases jet fuel, was approx. 187 cents per gallon,
and as of the date close to the date of this report’'s approval, this price is about 48 cenlts a gallon, a
decrease of about 74%. The sharp changes in price have material impact on the Cempany's financial
results. At the same time, the fair value of the jet fuel hedging instruments is determined based on
the change in prices since the date of the report and the following the settlement of some of these
transactions. Soon prior to the report issue date, since Company business volume is significantly
lower than originally planned for 2020, as used to determine the hadging poelicy, in actual fact the
volume of jet fuel hedged is significantly higher than the volume of jet fue! consumed. Therefore, the
hedging transactions are not effective and the hedging results would be charged to profit & loss in
2020.

3. The Company applies the hedge accounting by designates derivatives financial instruments as

hedging instruments. Regarding accounting policy on this matter, see note 18 to the annual financial
statements.
Framework agreements applicabie to the hedging transactions stipufate, inter afia, the conditions
which would require the parties to provide collateral against the hedging transactions. Some of the
hedging entities require no collateral at all, and some require collateral (in the form of interest-bearing
mongtary deposit} when the negative fair value of transactions on a certain date exceeds the
threshold set forth in the agreement.
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Due to the sharp decline in prices of crude oil and jet fuel, the value of jet fuel hedging transactions
as of the report issue date is USD 143 million for the company's debt (hedging transactions are
expected to be part of consumption for 2020-2021). In total, the Company was required to provide
collateral against these transactions on said date amounting to USD 48 million. Collateral is
increased / decreased daily, based on fluctuations in fair value of the transactions with each of the
hedging entities.

As of the report date, the 3-month LIBOR interest rate was 1.91%, and as of soon pricr to the report
approval date it was at 0.43%, or 77% lower. The significant decrease in long-term interest rates due
to the Corona Virus crisis, resulted in the fair value of all hedging transactions conducted by the
Company close to this report issue date amounting to USD 49 million in debit for the Company.
According to framework agreements with hedging entities, the Company is required to provide
collateral (in the form of interest-bearing deposit) when the fair value exceeds the threshold specified
in each framework agreement. As of this date, the Company is required to provide collateral against
hedging transactions for interest rates and for JPY, amounting in total to USD 23 million. Collateral
is increased / decreased daily, based on fluctuations in fair value of the transactions with each of the
hedging entities.

Eli Defes - Chairman of the Gonen Usishkin - CEO
Board of Directors

13/05/2020
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Deloitte.

Auditors’ Report to the Sharcholders of
El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.
On the Matter of the Audit of Components of Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting In Accordance with Section 9.b.(c) of the Securities Regulations
(Periodic and Immediate Reports), 5730-1970

We have audited the components of internal control over the financial reporting of El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter together: the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019. These controls have been
determined as explained in the following paragraph. The Company's board of directors and management are
responsible for maintaining effective internal controls over financial reporting, and for evaluating the
effectiveness of the internal controls over financial reporting which is included in the periodic report as of the
above date. Our responsibility is to express our opinion on the internal control elements of the Company’s
financial reporting based on our audit.

Components of internal control over financial reporting that were audited were determined in accordance with
Audit Standard (lIsrael) 911 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Israel "Auditing of Internal
Control Over Financial Statements”, as amended (hereinafter: "Audit Standard (Israel) 911"). These controls
are: (1) Enterprise-level controls, including controls over the compilation and finalization process of financial
reporting and general controls over information systems; (2} Controls over passenger revenues from sales of
flight tickets; (3) Controls over the Matmid frequent flyer club; (4) Controls over fixed assets — airplanes,
engines and spare parts; (5) Controls over fuel expenses; (6) Controls over payroll expenses in Israel; (7)
Controls over employee benefits in Israel. All internal control components exclude subsidiaries (hereinafter
jointly: "Audited control components™).

We have conducted our audit in accordance with Audit Standard (Israel) 911. This standard requires us to
design and conduct the audit so as to identify the audited control elements, and to achieve a reasonable degree
of certainty as to whether these control elements have been effectively maintained in all material aspects Our
audit consisted of an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, identification of the audited
control elements, assessment of the risk of material weakness in the audited control elements, as well as review
and assessment of the effectiveness of design and operation of said control elements, based on the assessed
risk. Qur audit, with regard to the aforementioned control elements, also consisted of other procedures we
deemed necessary under the circumstances. Our audit is only in reference to the audited control elements,
unlike internal control of all material processes related to financial reperting, and therefore our opinicn only
refers to the audited control elements. Further, our audit did not refer to mutual influence among audited conirol
elements and non-audited ones, and therefore our opinion does not take into account such potential influence.
We believe that our audit provides an appropriate basis for our opinion within the aforementioned context.
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Due to inherent limitations, intemal control over financial reporting in general, and certain elements thereof in
particular, may not prevent or detect a misrepresentation. Also, drawing conclusions about the future on the
basis of any evaluation of current effectiveness is subject to the risk that controls may become inappropriate
due to changes in circumstances or due to negative change in the extent to which policies or procedures are
adhered to.

In our opinion, the Company has upheld in an effective manner, in all material respects, its audited centrol
components as of December 31, 2019.

We have also conducted an audit, in accordance with generally accepted Israeli auditing standards, of the
Company’s Consclidated Financial Statements for December 31, 2019 and 2018 and for each of the three years
of the period ending December 31, 2019 and our report, dated May 13, 2020, included an unqualified opinion
of those Financial Statements, as well as drawing attention to the significant doubt about the Company
continuing as a going concern and Company exposure to class action lawsuits, based on our audit.

Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co.
Certifted Public Accountants
A Firm in the Deloitte Global Network

Tel Aviv, May 13, 2020
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Deloitte.

Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of
El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

We have audited the enclosed consolidated statements of financial position of El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.
(hereinafter: "the Company") as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and the consolidated statements of income,
statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes to equity and statements of cash flow for each of
the three vears in the period ended December 31, 2019. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company Board of Directors and managenient. Our responsibility is to express an copinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit.

We have not audited the financial statements of consolidated companies whose assets included in consolidation
account for 0.4% and 0.4% of total consolidated assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and
whose revenues included in consolidation account for 1.1%, 0.9% and 1.1% of total consolidated revenues for
the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Moreover, we have not audited the financial
statements of an equity-accounted associate, the investment in which as of December 31, 2019 and 2018
amounted to USD 15,453 thousand and USD 15,492 thousand, respectively and whose share of results for the
years ended December 2019, 2018 and 2017 amounted to USD 1,268 thousand, USD 820 thousand and USD
944 thousand, tespectively. The financial statements of said companies have been audited by other independent
auditors whose reports have been provided to us and our opinion, inasmuch as it refers to amounts consclidated
for the aforementioned companies, is based on the reports by these other independent auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, including those
prescribed by the Auditors’ Regulations (Auditor's Mode of Perfermance) — 1973. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by the board of directors and management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statements presentation. We believe that our audit and the reports of the other independent auditors
provide an appropriate basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above - present fairly, in all material respects - the consolidated financial position of the Company
and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and their results of operations, changes in equity and
cash flows for each of the three vears in the period ended on December 31, 2019 in conformity with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Israeli Securities Regulations (Annual Financial
Statements) —2010.
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Without prejudice to our aforementioned opinion, we draw your attention to Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements with regard to implications of the Corona Virus (COVID-19) Pandemic, which resulted
in zero demand and full shut-down of the Company’s scheduled passenger flights, and the uncertainty with
regard to developments in Israel and world-wide with respect to this Pandemic, which has implications for the
date and pace of re-opening of the passenger aviation market. The Company's plans to address the material
implications of the Corona Virus include measures design to align cash flow expenditure with the material
decrease in Company revenues. Furthermore, the Company is in negotiations with lenders to obtain a USD
400 million loan, to be mostly backed by a State guarantee, and in negotiations with the Ministry of Finance
to obtain such guarantee.

As set forth in the Note, as of the approval date of these financial statements, negotiations with the State and
with lenders are on-going, and their completion is uncertain. Since obtaining the aforementioned loan is crucial
for allowing the Company to address the implications of this crisis, there is significant doubt as to whether the
Company may continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include adjustments for the value
of assets and liabilities and reclassification that may be necessary if the Company is unable to continue
operating as a going concern.

Also, we draw attention to Note 15.B of the financial statements regarding exposure to certification of class
actions against the Company and the Company”s exposure to these class actions.

We have also audited, in accordance with Audit Standard (Israel) 911 of the Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in Israel “Audit of Elements of Internal Control over Financial Reporting”, the Company’s
elements of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, and our report dated May 13,
2020 included an unqualified opinion regarding the effective existence of these components.

Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co.
Certified Public Accountants
A Firm in the Deloitte Global Network

Tel Aviv, May 13, 2020
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El Al Israel Airlines Litd.

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

As of December 31
Note 2019 2018
USD in USD in

thousands thousands

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3 229,260 193,097
Short term deposits 4 35,031 13,156
Trade and other receivables 5 184,931 170,332
Derivative financial instruments 18 4,706 803
Prepaid expenses 6 15913 22,896
Inventory 7 15,971 16,215
Total current assets 485,812 416,591
Non-current assets
Prepaid expenses’ 6 - 7,141
Derivative financial instruments 18 6,253 795
Long term deposits ! 4 76,455 26,781
Long term investments 8 23,230 21,483
Rights of use leased assets ' 2D 083,418 -
Fixed assetsand intangible assets 9 1,841,597 1,568,364
Assets in respect of employee benefits 14 79,171 67,865
Total non-current assets 3,010,124 1,692,429
Total assets 3,495,936 2,109,020
The notes to the consolidated financial statements constitute an integral part thereof.
' See Note 2(D) regarding the adoption of IFRS 16 "Leases".
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

As of December 31

Note 2019 2018

USD in USD in
thousands thousands

Liabilities and equity

Current liabilities

Short-term credit and current maturities 13 217,852 293,164
Current maturities in respect of leases! D2 93,408 -
Suppliers and service providers 172,296 159,089
Other Accounts payable 11 95,930 101,667
Unearned revenue 12 347,987 310,765
Provisions 15 23,741 18,553
Derivative financial instruments 18 3,735 22,030
Liabilities with respect to employee benefits 14 127,968 109,327
Total current liabilities 1,082,917 1,014,595

Non-current liabilities

Loans from banks and others 13 996,434 658,321
Liabilities in respect of leases ' 2D 927,875 -
Unearned revenue 12 98,604 32,296
Long-term credit balances ! 11 63,338 12,883
Liabilities with respect to employee benefits 14 83,746 78,994
Derivative financial instruments 18 9847 10,747
Deferred tax liability 16 54,523 71,746
Total non-current liabilities 2,244,367 864,987
Total liabilities 3,327,284 1,879,582
Equity 17

Share Capital 155,012 155,012
Premium and capital reserves 260,368 242,808
Accumulated deficit (247.643)  (169,220)
Total equity attributable to the Company's owners 167,737 228,600
Non-controlling interests 915 838
Total equity 168,652 229,438
Total liabilities and equity 3.495936 2,109,020

Dganit Palti - Chief Financial Gonen Usishkin - Chief Executive Eli Defes - Chairman of the
Officer Officer Board of Directors

Date of approval of the financial statements: Ben-Gurion Airport, May 13, 2020.
The notes to the consolidated financial statements constitute an integral part thereof.

1 See Note 2(D) regarding the adoption of IFRS 16 "Leases".
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Consolidated Statements of Profit and Loss

For the year ending on December 31

Note 2019 2018 2017
USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands

Operating revenues 19A 2,177,997 2,141,993 2,096,998
Operating expenses 19B (1,834,804)  (1,845,737)*  (1,735,268)*
Gross profit 343,193 296,256 361,730
Selling expenses 19C (213,802) (215,116)* (209,224)*
Administrative and general expenses 19D (139,290) (132,461)* (126,800)*
Other income, net 19E 12,498 14,001 3,271

(340,594) (333,576) (332,753)
Profit (loss) from ordinary activities 2,599 (37.320) 28,977
Financing expenses 16F (86,794) (31,954) (23,985)
Financing income 19G 5,789 3,201 3,483
Financing expenses, net (81,0035) (28,753) (20,502)
The Company's share of the profits (losses) of an
associate and revaluation of options in respect thereof 1,844 (1,675) 243
Profit (loss) before taxes on income (76,562) (67,748) 8,718
Tax benefit (taxes on income) 16 16,961 15,581 (3,048)
Net profit (loss) for the year (59,601) (52,167) 5,670
Earnings (loss) per ordinary share of NIS 1 par
value (in USD):
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.12) (0.11) 0.01
Weighted average number of shares (in
thousands)
used to calculate earnings per share:
Basic and diluted 495,719 495,7 19 495,7 19
* Re-classified - see Note 9.B.1.

The notes to the consolidated financial statements constitute an integral part thereof.
c7 . * 2019
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the year ending on December 31

2019 2018 2017
USD in USD in USD in

thousands  thousands thousands
Profit (loss) for the year (59,601) (52,167) 5,670
Other comprehensive income:
Amounts that will not be classified in the future to profit or loss:
Profit (loss) in respect of re-measurements of defined benefit plan,
net of tax (4,603) 2,888 (1,879)
Amounts that will be classified in the future to profit or loss:
Exchange rate differences due to translations of foreign operations 933 (1,146) 1,767
Profit (loss) in respect of cash flow hedges, net of tax 20,931 {37.235) (3,662)
Profit (loss) in respect of cash flow hedges - time value, net of tax 299 (1,109) 177
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year 17,560  {36,602) (3.597)
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year (42,041)  (88,769) 2,073

The notes to the consolidated financial statements constitute an integral part thereof.
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| El Al Israel Airlines Litd.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the year ending on December 31

2019 2018 2017

USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands  thousands

Cash flows from current operations

Profit (loss) for the year (59,601) (52,167) 5,670
Adjustments required to present cash flows from operating

activities - Appendix A 353,452 143,396 278,300
Cash arising from operating activities, net 293,851 91,229 283,970

Cash flows for investment activities
Acquisitions of fixed assets (including general engine repairs and payments

on account of aircraft) (429,234) (512,815) (179,264)
Proceeds from the disposal of fixed assets 23,127 10,548 5,271
Investment in intangible assets (12,571) (13,360) (16,461)
Change in deposits (14,947) 29,485 (17,731)
Investment in joint ventures measured at fair value - (830) ~
Cash used in investment activities, net (433,625) (486,972)  (208,185)

Cash flows from (for) financing activities

Payment for loan raising costs (21,474) (11,514) -
Receipt of loans from banking corporations and others 563,722 550,089 74,250
Repayment of loans from bank corporations and others (280,666) (185,037) (95,045)
Increase (decrease) in short term credit, net (5,299) 311 7,874
Repayment of liabilities in respect of leases (81,868 - -
Issuance of shares by a subsidiary - 2,500 2,000
Dividend paid - - (9.935)
Cash arising from (used) for/to financing activities, net 174,415 352,349 (20,856)

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash balances held in foreign

currency 1,522 (2,836) 3,662
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 36,163 (46.,250) 58,591
Balance of cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the vear 193,097 239,347 180,756
Balance of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 229,260 193,097 239,347

The notes to the consolidated financial statements constitute an integral part thereof.

C12 & + 2019



El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the year ending on December 31
2019 2018 2017

USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands

Appendix A- Adjustments required to present cash flow from
operating activities:

Income and expenses not invelving cash flows:
Depreciation and amortization {including disposal of accessories, out-of-

use components and consumption of consumables) 158,854 152,852 167,727
Depreciation in respect of rights to use leased assets 97,659 - -
Grants received from credit card companies 59,394 -

Deferred taxes, net (17,529) (15,967) 1,733
Increase (decrease) in employee benefit liabilities and in provisicns 20,226 (25,289) 39,797
Capital gain from the disposal of fixed assets, net (11,791) (7,664) (3,998)
Payment of premiums on derivatives less cost of cumulative changes in

time value reclassified to profit and loss (1,311) (523) (130)
Expenses (income) from exchange rate differences in respect of cash and (1,522)

cash equivalents 2,856 (3,662)
Other changes 2,236 2,198 1,708

Changes in the asset and liability items:

Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables (22,253) 10,627 (12,953)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 7,917 (1,098) (4,245)
Decrease (increase) in inventories 244 (1,553) 3,678
Increase in trade payables 17,192 33,573 46,813
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue 44,136 (6,616) 41,832

353,452 143,396 278,300

Appendix B - Payment of interest and receipt of interest, taxes paid
and dividends received and classified in cash flows from operating

activities '

Interest payments 2 77.105 25,079 19,139
Interest receipts 2,712 3,278 2,100
Tax payments — advance payments on surplus expenses 436 945 493
Dividend receipts 379 741 1,138

The notes to the consolidated financial statements constitute an integral part thereof.

1 The Company classifies cash flows from interest and dividends, and cash flows in respect of interest paid as cash flows used in or provided

by operating activities.
? See Note 2D regarding the application of IFRS 16 "Leases”
C13 » + 2019




Note 1

C.14

El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

General:

El Al Israel Airlines Ltd. is mainly engaged in the transport of passengers and cargo between Israel and
foreign countries. In addition, the Company provides maintenance and conveyance services at its home
airport, sale of duty-free products and - through investee companies - in related activities, mainly the
production and supply of airline meals and management of several travel agencies abroad.

At the end of 2019, a Corona Virus outbreak (Covid-19), initially in China, began to spread around the
world, including to various Asian, European countries and to the US. The outbreak of the virus was
declared at the end of January 2020 to be a global health emergency, when on March 11, 2020 it was
classified as a pandemic.

As from the end of January 2020, the Ministry of Health issued various announcements of restrictions
applicable to incoming and outgoing passengers from different world countries; eventually, in early
March 2020, the Ministry of Health announced a mandatory 14 day quarantine for all those entering
Israel from any other country. The announcements by the Ministry of Health and directives received
from various bodies in Israel and world-wide, resulted in lower demand and in significant flight
cancellations in February-March 2020.

Accordingly, during this time the Company made operational and commercial adjustments to its
operations and routes network, taking into consideration, inter alia, maintaining an air link to and from
Israel for transport of passengers and cargo, and providing solutions to Company customers in as much
as possible. At first, in late January 2020, the Company temporarily suspended its flights to Beijing,
China; as from February, the Company also adjusted its operations on routes to Hong Kong and Bangkok
and to various destinations in Europe and in North America, until full shut-down of its scheduled
passenger flights as from late March and through the report issue date.

Note that as of the report issue date, the Company continues to operate cargo flights to/from Israel,
including use of passenger aircraft for this purpose, as well as special passenger flights as required.

The Company uses derivative financia! instruments in management of exposures to fluctuations in jet
fuel prices, which have material direct effect on the Company's operating expenses. As of the date of
the statements of financial position, the market price for jet fuel was 187 cent/gallon; as of soon prior to
the approval date of these financial statements, this price dropped significantly, to 48 cent/gallon. Some
of the framework agreements with hedging providers, include terms and conditions that require the
Company to provide collateral (interest-bearing monetary deposit) when the fair value of hedging
transactions exceeds a threshold specified in the framework agreement. The sharp decline in prices of
crude oil and jet fuel resulted in the fair value of these hedging transactiens, soon prior to the report
approval date, being USD 143 million in debit for the Company (hedging transactions for part of the
expected consumption for 2020-2021); total collateral provided by the Company amounted to USD 438
million; see also Note 18.D.

In addition, the Company has transactions to fix interest rates with respect to some loan agreements used
to finance aircraft, that bear floating interest. The fair value of these hedging transactions as of soon
prior to the report approval date amounted to USD 49 million in debit for the Company; total collateral
provided by the Company amounted to USD 23 million.

The Company has a working capital shortfall, primarily due to advance sale of flight tickets, with a
balance of USD 321 million as of soon prior to the report issue date.

+ 2019



Free Translation of the Hebrew Language Financial Report - Hebrew Wording Binding

El Al Israel Airlines Lid.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 1 — General (continued):

Moreover, the crisis also resulted in lower valuations of aircraft world-wide. Therefore, the impairment
of aircraft values, used as collateral to secure loans obtained by the Company from Israeli banks for
purchase of aircraft (loans that do not constitute "reportable credit"), resulted in failure to comply with
financial covenants for LTV ratio. In conformity with the loan agreements, failure to comply with the
required ratio gives banks the right to receive deposits, estimated at USD 30 million as of the report
issue date. The Company has applied to these banks for waiver requests for compliance with the
aforementioned ratio for the duration of the crisis.

Due to lack of demand for passenger flights, the full shut-down of the Company's scheduled passenger
flights, and the uncertainty with regard to developments in Israel and world-wide with respect to this
Corona Pandemic, which has implications for the date and pace of re-opening of the passenger aviation
market the Company performs, among other things, the following actions to adjust its cash expenses to
the material decrease in its revenues from passenger flights:

1. Measures regarding human resources — In the second half of March, the Company placed the

great majority of employees of the Company and its subsidiaries on furlough, through June 30,
2020 {as of the report issue date: some 6,000 employees). The Company also reduced the work
hours for managers, stopped recruitment of new hires and terminated new employees in training,
all designed to immediately reduce payroll expenses of the Company. Company management
is also in negotiations with employee representatives and with the Labor Union regarding
termination of other employees, cuts to salary and benefits of highly-paid employees.
As from March 1, 2020, the base monthly salary of the CEO and VPs, and the management
monthly base fee payable to the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the remuneration
pavable to Board members (with respect to meeting attendance and with respect to annual
remuneration) were reduced by 20%, until such date when the Company Board of Directors
should resolve to eliminate the pay cut for all ofticers. The Company also reduced the salary of
other managers at the Company.

2. Operational and financial actions designed to reduce Company expenses and to mitigate the
cash flow decrease, including agreed delay of lease payments for some of the leased aircraft,
termination of leases for two 737-800 aircraft, which were scheduled to go into service in 2020,
and return of 3 wet leased aircraft.

3. Freezing and termination of projects involving investments in aircraft fleet and in other areas.

4. The Company operates a cargo aircraft and passenger aircraft for transportation of cargo by,
inter alia, operating the Company's Dreamliner 787 aircraft for transportation of cargo, and by
operating the Company's Boeing 777 aircraft adapted for transportation of cargo.

5. After the date of the statement of financial position, the Company applied for release of part of
the excess in central severance pay funds ("the Funds"), which were opened as part of the
privatization process of the Company (see Note 14.C.2). Pursuant to the interim verdict dated
May 3, 2020, given at the Company's request, the Labor Court approved release of NIS 105
million from the Funds to the Company. Note that as of April 30, 2020, prior to the
aforementioned release, excess in the Funds amounted to NIS 335 million. On May 11, 2020,
the National Labor Court issued a verdict, after the employee representation filed an appeal of
the aforementioned interim verdict. According to the verdict issued by the Naticnal Labor Court,
an order was issued io the ceniral severance pay fund, to transfer to the Company the
aforementioned NIS 105 million.

C15 + 2019




Free Translation of the Hebrew Language Financial Report - Hebrew Wording Binding

El Al Israel Airlines L.td.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 1 — General (continued):

6. On April 23, 2020, after the date of the statement of financial position, the Company signed an
MOU with a foreign company, for sale and lease-back of three Boeing 737-800 aircraft
manufactured in 2009 and six engines thereof. According to this transaction, the aircraft would
be sold to the foreign company for total consideration amounting to USD 76 million, and would
be leased back by the Company for a term of 8 years, after which they would be retumned to the
foreign company. Closing of this transaction is subject, inter alia, to receiving financial or other
support from the State of Israel. For more information see Note 24.1.

As of the report issue date, the Company is in negotiations with lenders to obtain a USD 400
million loan, to be mostly backed by a State guarantee, and in negotiations with the professional
team at the Ministry of Finance on this matter. As part of negotiations with the lenders and with
the State, the Company has prepared a draft business plan, based on multiple scenarios with
regard to the date and manner of return of passenger flight operations and gradually emerging
from this crisis. The draft plan includes, inter alia, a streamlining program with regard to labor
costs at the Company, as well as other fixed and variable costs. The scenarios assume limited,
gradual operation of the Company's aircraft fleet, compared to their planned scope of operation
prior to the Corona Virus crisis, in conformity with various demand scenarios. Naturally, this is
arolling event which is not under Company control, and factors such as further spread or halting
of the Corona Virus pandemic, decisions by countries and relevant authorities in Israel and
world-wide regarding renewal of flights and removal of restrictions on entry of tourists from /
to certain countries, may impact the Company accordingly.

Note that as of close to the report approval date, the MOU has yet to be signed and it is uncertain
whether negotiations would result in a binding agreement and/or whether State guarantees for
the loan would be provided. The loan outline has yet to be agreed by the Company, the lenders
and the State, and is contingent on suspensive conditions, primarily the following: (1} Signing
a new collective bargaining agreement with Company employees, to reflect the required
streamlining; (2) Closing of the aforementioned sale & lease-back transaction; (3) Release of
full excess in central severance pay funds yet to be released.

As of the report issue date, negotiations with the State and lenders are on-going, hence the
uncertainty with regard to closing of this loan. Since obtaining this lean is crucial for allowing
the Company to address the implications of the Corona Virus crisis, at this stage there is
significant doubt as to whether the Company may continue as a going concern. The financial
statements do not include adjustments for the value of assets and liabilities and their
reclassification, that may be necessary if the Company is unable to continue operating as a going
concern.

C16
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Note 2
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Free Translation of the Hebrew Language Financial Report - Hebrew Wording Binding

EI Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

— Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements

Al

Statement regarding the implementation of International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and Securities Regulations:

The Company's financial statements were prepared in conformity with International Financial
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and their interpretations which were published by the International
Accounting Standards Board ("IASB™), and in conformity with Securities Regulations (Annual
financial statements), 2010 ("Financial Statements Regulations").

In accordance with Article 4 of the Periodic and Immediate Reporting Regulations, the Company
did not attach separate financial information to these Interim Financial Statements pursuant to
Article 9C. of these regulations, due to the negligible effect of the financial statements of
subsidiaries on the Company's consolidated financial statements. The criteria used by the
Company in this decision are the scope of data of subsidiaries from the total assets, income, profit
and cash flows of the Company from current operations (less than 5%).

Functional currency and reporting currency of the Company:

The financial statements of the Company and of each of its subsidiaries are prepared in the
currency of the primary economic environment in which they operate ("Functional Currency™),
whereas the Group's consolidated financial statements are presented in USD — the Company's
Functional Currency, as most of the Company’s revenues and expenses are denominated in this
currency, including aircraft procurement and financing.

Transactions executed in currencies other than the Company's functional currency are recorded at
the exchange rates effective as of the transactions date. At the end of every reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated according to the exchange rates
prevailing on that date. Exchange rate differences are recognized in the income statement in the
period in which they occurred (except for exchange rate differences with respect to investees —
see Note 21.B).

Accounting Considerations and Critical Estimates:

(1) General:

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, the Company’s management, in
certain cases, was required to exercise broad accounting discretion regarding the estimates
and assumptions that were used in determining the value of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements. The related estimates and assumptions are based on past experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. Below are details of critical estimates and judgment exercised by Company
management in preparing these financial statements.

* 2019
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Free Translation of the Hebrew Language Financial Report - Hebrew Wording Binding

El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

— Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements (continued):

C. Accounting Considerations and Critical Estimates (continued)

(2)

(3

)

(3)

Contingent liabilities and provisions:

In order to examine the exposures arising from claims filed against the Company, and to
determine the probability that they will be realized to the Company's detriment, the
Company’s management relies on the opinion of legal and professional advisors after the

Company's advisors form their legal opinion and the Company's probabilities with regard

to the subject of the claim, whether the Company would have to bear its outcome or may
postpone it, the Company’s management estimates the amount to be included in the
financial statements, if any, based on the Company management’s best estimate regarding
the sum needed to clear the obligation. The results of the proceedings may be different
from the estimates of the Company’s management, and thus materially impact its financial
state and the results of the Company’s operations.

For details regarding the contingent liabilities and provisions as of December 31, 2019, see
Note 15.

Employee benefits

The present value of the Company's severance pay liability for some of its Israeli
employees, for vacation payment for all Israeli employees, sick-days payout for some of
the Israeli employees, as well as for other benefits including pension plans for some local
Company employees in the U.S. and UK, is based on large amounts of data measured based
on actuarial estimate, using actuary assumptions. Changes in actuarial assumptions may
impact the estimated amount of the Company's aforementioned liabilities. For more
information about actuarial assumptions and sensitivity analysis thereof, see Note 14.

Useful life and residual values of aircraft and engines:

Company aircraft and engines are amortized throughout their useful lives, taking their
residual value into account. As stated in note 9 below, the estimated useful life of the
Company’s aircraft and engines, as well as their residual values, is determined in
accordance with management's plans and estimates regarding the manner of use of the
aircraft fleet as well as in accordance with market estimates regarding the amounts of sale
of equipment upon removal from service, among others, based on aircraft price lists
published from time to time.

Actual changes in the useful life and/or the residual value may lead to material changes in
the Company’s depreciation rates and depreciation expenses. See note 9.B(1).

Review for impairment:

As set forth in Note 9 below, when the Company is required to assess the value in use, the
Cempany estimates the future cash flows that are expected from continued use of the
Company aircraft and their disposal at the end of the period, and discounts them to their
present value, using a discount rate that reflects the operational risk associated with the
aircraft fleets, based on the Company’s weighted discount rate.

*
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Free Translation of the Hebrew Language Financial Report - Hebrew Wording Binding

El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to_the consolidated financial statements

— Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements (continued):

C.  Accounting Censiderations and Critical Estimates (continued)

(6)

In conformity with the Company's accounting policy, vatue in use is assessed for Company
aircraft, including aircraft included in the procurement plan and have yet to be put into
service as of the assessment date.

Regarding the key assumptions used in assessment of the value in use, see Note 9.B(3).
Material changes to these assumptions, or part thercof, may impact the aforementioned
value in use.

Frequent flyer clubs:

In order to calculate the balance of uneared revenues for the Matmid frequent flyer points
accumulated as of the report date and unused as of yet, the Company relies on the selling
prices of the products to which these points can be converted, while taking into account the
number of points that need to be converted in order to purchase these products in exchange
for points, and the Company’s experience regarding the use of these points.

Changes in management’s assessments regarding the value of a point and the rate of non-
exercise of these points, may affect the timing of revenue recognition.

D. IFRS 16 - “Leases™ (hereinafter — "the Standard™):

(1)

General:

The Standard was adopted by the Company as of 2019, and it supersedes 1AS 17 "Leases”
and its interpretations and provides that leases (on the part of the lessee) will be treated
similarly to the purchase of an asset, such that the discounted value of future lease fees will
be recorded as a “right-of-use asset under "non-current assets” and amortized to profit and
loss over the lease term, while recognizing a financial liability which reflects a theoretical
loan from the lessor. This will exclude short-term leases for periods of less than 12 months
(see below for the transitional provisions in this regard), as well as leases which, in the
Company's assessment, have a low financial value and an immaierial impact on the
Company's statement of financial position. In respect of these leases, the Company
recognizes a current expense over the lease term.

The Standard has a material impact on the Company's financial statements.  The
Company's aircraft leases as well as certain additional leases such as structures, including
the campus area in Ben Gurion Airport, which is leased by the Company from the Airport
Authority, facilities and vehicles, which are leased by the Company and were treated prior
to the implementation of the standard as operating leases (rental expenses by the straight
line method over the term of the lease), are now recognized as assets and liabilities in the
Company’s statement of financial position.
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

— Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements (continued):

D.

IFRS 16 - “Leases” (hereinafter — "the Standard") (continued):

(2}

Acceunting policy:

The lease period is a non-cancellable period by the lessee, along with periods that are
covered by options to extend the lease, if it is highly likely that the Company will exercise
the option, as well as periods covered by options to cancel the lease, if it is highly likely
that the Company will not exercise the option to cancel the lease. In determining the lease
term, the Company takes into account the economic characteristics of the property and the
lease including, among others, the relation between the lease payments and the expected
market prices upon the exercise of the option, the importance of the leased asset to the
Company's operations, the cost of replacing the asset or the cost of leasehold improvements
that have been or are expected to be undertaken, and past experience relating to the exercise
of such options. It is noted that assets for which the lease has expired, but which are
continued to be used by the Company against current payments to the owner of the asset,
are recoghized as a short-term lease, since a non-cancellable lease period does not exist.

Liabilities in respect of leases are presented separately in the statement of financial position
(divided to non-current liabilities and current liabilities - current maturities), and are
measured upon initial recognition at the present value of the fixed lease payments during
the lease term, with the addition of expected payments in the periods covered by options
which are highly likely to be exercised. Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability is
measured either by increasing the carrying amount, to reflect the interest expenses, by using
the effective interest method, or by decreasing the carrying amount, to reflect the payments
attributed to the principal ("Spitzer"). Exchange rate difference in respect of liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the US dollar, are recognized in financing expenses,
in the statement of income, as incurred.

The discount rate used to calculate the present value of lease fees, as mentioned above, is,
generally, the interest rate implicit in the lease (the rate of return on the transaction, from
the lessor's point of view). Whenever such rate may not be easily obtained, the Company
uses its incremental discount rate (notional cost of financing for acquiring the right to use
an asset from the lessor, fully financed) upon contracting the lease, depending on the leased
amount, its average duration and the nature of the leased asset. The range of discount rates
for leased aircraft is 4% to 9.5% and the range of discount rates for leased property is 6.65%
to 8.25% (the discount rates used during the transition period as permitted by the reliefs in
the transitional provisions are set forth below).

The asset recognized [or the leases is also presented separately in the statement of financial
position under "rights of use in leased assets”. These assets are measured at cost and
depreciated by the straight line method over the term of the lease, and are initially
recognized at the amount of the lease liability, with the addition of advances paid and direct
costs incurred by the Company under the lease contract (the transitional provisions
regarding recognition of assets as of the transition date, see below).

* 2019



Note 2

c.21

Free Translation of the Hebrew Language Financial Report - Hebrew Wording Binding

El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

— Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements (continued):

D. IFRS 16 - “Leases” (hereinafter — ""the Standard'’) (continued):

(2)

3)

Accounting policy (continued):

Rights of use are amortized on average over a three-year period for leased Boeing 737-800
aircraft and over a 12-year period for leased Boeing 787-900 aircrafi, whereas rights of use
in respect of real estate are amortized over an average period of 1.5-19 years.

With respect to leased vehicles, the Company chose to apply the Standard's provisions as
one "portfolio”, since in the Company's opinion, these leases have similar features.

The Company's liabilities towards the lessors in respect of the leased aircraft maintenance,
are recognized as provisions over the lease term (and presented under long-term and short-
term payables, as relevant), with a corresponding recognition of current maintenance
expenses, according to the pattern of use of the component which requires maintenance,
and in accordance with the contractual conditions of each lease, based on the amount
payable by the Company for the maintenance. In contracts where the Company is required
to make maintenance reserve payments (i.e. payments made to the lessor to secure the
performance of maintenance works), these payments are recognized as a deposit (either
long term or short term deposits, as relevant), which would be refunded to the Company
upon the performance of the maintenance works.

When a lease is extended (other than by exercising an option that was highly probable as
of the lease initial recognition date), on the date of signing the extension agreement (even
before the original lease term expires) the Company updates the lease expiration date and
the discount rate and accordingly, remeasures the amount of the lease liability, while
recognizing the amount as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

In the statement of cash flow, the Company classifies under "cash flow used in financing
activities" the portion of the lease payments that constitutes a repayment of the theoretical
principal of the Company's lease liability. The portion that represents interest payments is
classified, under the Company's policy, as "cash flow used in operating activities”. In
addition, the cash flows paid to aircraft lessors to secure future maintenance treatments
("maintenance reserves") are classified as cash flows for investment activities. When the
maintenance treatment is carried out, the cash paid by the Company in respect thereof is
classified under cash flows from operating activities, while refunds from the collateral
(reserve) is classified as positive cash flows from investment activities.

Items in the statement of financial position that were affected by the adoption of the
Standard:

The following table presents the impact of retrospective application of the Standard on the
assets, liabilities and equity in the statement of financial pesition, by recognizing the
cumulative effect of applying IFRS 16 as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings, without restating comparative information, in accordance with the transitional
provisions elected by the Company, as of January 1, 2019.

*
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 2 — Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements (continued):
D. IFRS 16 - “Leases” (hereinafter — ""the Standard") (continued):

(3) Ttems in the statement of financial position that were affected by the adoption
of the Standard: (continued)

Cumulative
effect of
Pursuant to retrospective  pursuant to
IAS 17 application IFRS 16

The affected item USD in thousands
Assets
Accounts and trade receivable 117,287 (10.819) 106,468
Prepaid expenses (non-current) 7.141 (6,207) 934
Long-term deposits 26,781 60,210 86,991
Long term investments 21,483 (1,626) 19,857
Total rights to use leased assets:
Aircraft and engines - 493,892 493,892
Real estate (including the El Al campus) — 111,177 111,177
Vehicles — 238 238
Total rights to use leased assets — 605,307 605,307
Total impact on assets 646,865
Liabilities:
Other Accounts payable (101,667) 6,269 (95,398)
Long-term payables and credit balances (12,883) {(51,765) (64,648)
Liabilities in respect of leases:
Aircraft and engines — (500,490) (500,490)
Real estate (including the El Al campus) — (124,456) (124,456)
Vehicles - (238) (238)
Total liabilities in respect of leases — (625,184) (625,184)
Deferred tax liabilities (71,746) 5,052 (66,694)
Total impact on liabilities (665,628)
Accumulated deficit (169,220) (18,763) (187.983)
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 2 — Significant Accounting Policies (continued):
D. IFRS 16 - “Leases” (hereinafter — "the Standard'') (continued):

(4) The influence on the Company's income statement and statement of cash flow for
the year ending on December 31, 2019:

Aircraft Real estate and vehicles Total
USD, million

Decrease in lease expenses under 105.0 20.7 125.7
[AS 17
Increase in depreciation expenses (82.1) (15.6) (97.7)
under IFRS 16
Total increase in the operating 229 5.1 28.0
income T
Increase in financing expenses (35.DH) (8.6) (43.7)
under IFRS 16
Increase in financing in respect of - 2.5 2.5
exchange rate differences
Total increase in financing (35.1) (11.1) (46.2)
expenses, net
Total decrease in pre-tax profit (12.2) (6.0) (18.2)
Increase in cash flow from 69.9 12.0 81.9

operating activities *

* The amounts set forth above, which led to an increase in cash flow from operating
activities, were recorded as a decrease in cash flow from financing activities.

(5) Transitional provistons and additional implications:
» Inaccordance with the transitional provisions, for leases in effect as of January 1, 2019,
the Company determined the discount rate based on the theoretical incremental cost of
debt in respect of that lease as of the initial application date.

* The company partially applied the standard retrospectively, with the balance of the
liability measured at the current date at the present value of the expected cash flows,
while the right of use is measured at the reduced value, assuming, for the measurement
of the asset, that the standard is applied to the lease from the beginning. The cumulative
effect of the retrospective application as stated was recorded on the transition date to
the Company's retained earnings, as set forth above.

» |n accordance with the reliefs provided by the Standard, the Company chose not to
recognize assets and liabilities in respect of leases with a period (or remaining period)
as of January 1, 2019, of less than one year. Furthermore, leases with a low financial
value, in line with the Company's policy in this matter, were also not taken into account,
according to the outstanding amounts on the date of the transition and thereafter.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note2 — Significant Accounting Policies (continued):
D.  IFRS 16 - “Leases” (hereinafter — ""the Standard''} (continued):
(5) Transitional provisions and additional implications (continued):

= The Company does not have financial covenants the compliance with which may be
affected by the adoption of the Standard, and likewise, the adopting of the Standard
is not expected to have any impact on the Company's commitments.

. Regarding the Standard's impact on compensation to officers - according to the
Company's compensation policy, the Company's annual pre-tax profit is a significant
parameter in determining the annual bonus to officers; a minimum amount of pre-
tax profit constitutes a threshold condition for awarding an annual bonus as well as
long-term deferred payments to the Company's officers; the annual bonus for the
CEO and Chairman was determined as a percentage of the profit as stated. (see note
22 of the annual financial statements.) Since, as described above, the adoption of
the new Standard has led to a decrease in the pre-tax profit compared to the pre-profit
had it not been implemented, this could lead to a reduction in the annual bonus to
the Company's officers and/or failure to meet the threshold conditions for bonuses.
In this context, it is noted that according to the Company's compensation policy for
2019, the Audit and Compensation Committee is permitted to offset the implications
of accounting changes on the Company's financial results; in accordance with the
provisions of the this section, a discussion on this matter will take place at the end
of the relevant year.

Note3 — Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include bank deposits available for immediate withdrawal as well as limited-
term deposits the use of which is unrestricted and/or lacks defined designation, and whose term to
maturity, at the time of investment, is no greater than three months. Deposits, whose redemption date
on the investment date, exceeds three months and is no greater than one year are classified under short-
term deposits.

As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands
Cash and bank balances 48,126 45,936
Cash equivalents 181,134 147,161
Total cash and cash equivalents 229,260 193,097
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 4 — Deposits

Composed as follows:
As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands
Deposit due to surplus in a credit fund (1) 9,517 8,740
Deposits provided by the Company as security for
aircraft lease agreements 25,514 4,287
Other - 129
Total short term deposits 35,031 13,156
Long-term deposits 2,288 1,860
Deposits with service providers 4,887 4,122
Deposits provided by the Company as security for aircraft
lease agreements 69,280 20,799
76,455 26,781

Total long-term deposits

(1) A NIS-denominated deposit deriving from the proceeds of option exercises (Series 1) received by
the Company as part of a public offering, as described in Note 14.C.(2).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

— Trade and other receivables

A.

Accounting policy:

Company trade receivables are reviewed at the end of each reporting period in order to identify
any sign of impairment. Such impairment occurs when there is objective evidence that due to one
or more events, the likelihood of collection of trade receivables has been negatively impacted.
Such evidence may include, inter alia, significant financial challenges for the debtor, or failure to
make current payments.

In case of impairment, the Company recognizes a provision for doubtful debt. The provision is
calculated specifically (the Company does not recognize a general provision for reasens of
materiality. Therefore, application on January 1, 2018 of the final part of IFRS 9 "Financial
Instruments", concerning impairment of financial assets, had no material effect). When the
Company believes that debt is definitely not collectible, the debt is written off against the
provision.

Composed as follows:
As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands
Customers:
Open accounts (see (3) below) 102,567 85,109
Credit card companies 42,420 37,540
144,987 122,649
Less — provision for doubtful debts (mostly over 90 days) (5,092) (5,362)
139,895 117,287
Other accounts receivable (see section E. below) 45,036 53,045
184,931 170,332

Total trade and other receivables

(1) The average credit period for provision of services by the Company is 25 days (in 2018: 25
days).

(2) The average debt period for trade receivables past due as of December 31, 2019 is 60 days
(as of December 31, 2018: 66 days).

(3) The Group's receivables, includes several types of customers in Israel and abroad: IATA
agents (agents that pay through the JATA bank clearance system) and business customers
(private customers that purchase tickets through payments in cash or credit cards). The credit
rating of IATA agents is established in accordance with the parameters of IATA's bank
clearance system (BSP for passenger agents and CASS for cargo agents abroad). The entities
in question require bank guarantees for these agents in accordance with IATA rules. In
addition, the Company purchased insurance policies against the credit risk of IATA agents
in Israel. These insurance policies do not cover the Company's entire exposure to credit risk.
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 5

— Trade and other receivables {(continued}):
B. Composed as follows (continued):

In determining the reasonability of repayment of trade receivables, the Group examines
changes in the quality of the customer’s credit from the date of granting the credit and until
the reporting date. The total credit risk is limited due to the large customer base, and its
division into varicus sectors and geographical areas, as well the relatively short credit period.

C. Ageing of trade receivables:
As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands
Not overdue 123,029 107,605
Overdue up to 90 days 12,702 7,227
Overdue above 90 days 9,256 7.817
Total 144,987 122,649
Less — provision for doubtful debt (mostly over 90 days) (5,092) (5,362)
Total trade receivables 139,895 117,287

D.  Changes in provision to doubtful debts
As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands
Balance as of beginning of year 5,362 5,654
Loss from impairment of receivables, net 515 295
Amounts of doubtful debts written off (785) (587)
Balance of provision for doubtful debt 5,092 5,362

E. Other Receivables:
As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in

thousands thousands
Government institutions 13,513 13,678
Accounts receivable with respect to overhaul of leased 8.048 15,908
engines
Advances with respect to excess expenses tax 9,907 8,679
Other Receivables 13,568 14,780
Total balance of other accounts receivable 45,036 53,045
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 6 — Prepaid expenses
Prepaid expenses include, inter alia, commissions to agents and commissions with respect to credit cards

attributable to un-earned revenues, which are charged as selling expenses on the income statement,
concurrently with recognition of revenues from flights for which such commissions have been paid.

As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands
Current expenses:
Agent commissions 5,905 11,981
Credit card fees 3,492 2,671
Others 6,516 8,244
15,913 22,896
Non-Current expenses:
Aircraft leasing - 7.141
- 7,141

Note 7 - Inventory

Composed as follows:
As of December 31

2019 2018

USD in USD in
thousands thousands

Jet fuel consumption 6,191 6,763
Materials and food items 6,337 5,813
Chemicals 1,567 1,216
Duty free goods 1,876 2,423
15,971 16,215

Note 8 - Long term investments

A. Composed as follows:
As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands
Associated companies (see Section B. below) 20,111 19,575
Investments at fair value (see Section C. below) 3,119 1,908
Total 23,230 21,483
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 8 — Long term investments (continued)

B.

C29

Investments in associates:

An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence, but no control.
Significant influence is the right to participate in decision making with regard to financial and
operational policies of the associated company. In testing the existence of significant influence,
potential voting rights, which can be realized or immediately converted to the shares of the
investee, are taken into account. The Company holds 15% of the shares of “Cargo and Handling
Terminals Ltd.” {Maman). Since the Company has options for Maman shares which, if exercised,
may lead to holdings of 25% of Maman’s shares, and the Company is entitled to exercise them
immediately and gain material influence, the Company recognizes Maman as an associated
company.

The Group reviews the existence of indications of impairment of this investment, based on
existence of objective evidence that future cash flows expected from this investment have been
negatively impacted, and since Maman's shares are traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, such
review is based on changes to the share price.

Component of the investments accounted for by the equity method:

As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands
Maman in respect of shares 15,452 15,492
Maman in respect of options 4,642 4,066
Others 17 17
Total 20,111 19,575

Fair value investments:

As of December 31, 2019, investments include capital ventures, operating in co-operation with
the subsidiary Cockpit Innovation Ltd. (for more information see Note 21.A(6)) and in return, this
subsidiary holds equity instruments in said ventures (mostly Start-Up companies).

+ 2019



Free Transtation of the Hebrew Language Financial Report - Hebrew Wording Binding

El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 9 — Aircraft, flight equipment, other fixed assets and intangible assets
A.  Composition of fixed assets:

The Company’s fixed assets largely consist of the Company's aircraft and flight equipment (such
as engines, including spare engines, spare parts and accessories, etc.) as detailed below. In
addition to these, the fixed assets include the Company's buildings and facilities, transportation
equipment, furniture and computers. Fixed asset items are presented in the balance sheet at cost,
net of accumulated amortization.

(1) Composition of depreciated cost on the statement of financial position:

As of December 31
2019 2018

USD in USD in
thousands thousands

Amortized cost:

Aircrafts and Flight Equipment 1,747,154 1,473,728

Other fixed assets and intangible assets (see Note 9.H) 94,443 94,636
1,841,597 1,568,364

(2) Balances of cost, accumulated depreciation of Company aircrafts and flight

equipment:
Payments
On account  Accessories
Passenger Aircraft and spare
planes Engines And engines parts Total
USD in thousands

Cost:

Balance to January 1, 2018 1,682,167 208,370 185,004 238,906 2,314,447
Classification 83,325 10,000 (93,325) — -
Additions 319,539 31,319 105,709 39,773 496,340

(33,53D)

DE recognition (4,035) {17.408) - * (54.974)
As of December 31, 2018 2,080,996 232281 197,388 245,148 2,755,813
Classification 115,496 20,238 (135,734) - -
Additions 293,080 54,209 35,065 28,558 415912
DE recognition (445,083)  (18,390) (45,729)  (509,202)
As of December 31, 2019 2,049,489 288,338 96,719 (227,977) 2,662,523

¢
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 9 — Aircraft, flight equipment, other fixed assets and intangible assets (continued)

A. Composition of fixed assets: (continued)

Payments
On account Accessories
Passenger Aircraft and spare
planes Engines and engines parts Total

USD in thousands

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance to January 1, 2018 976,526 89,025 — 142,619 1,208,170
Depreciation during

the year 83,738 16,380 - 11,312 111,430
DE recognition (4,035)  (14,545) —  (18935)* (37.515)
As of December 31, 2018 1,056,229 90,860 - 134,996 1,282,085
Depreciation during the year 82,443 11,190 - 20,235 113,868
DE recognition (443,928)  (12,770) - (23.886) (480,584)
As of December 31,2019 694,744 89,280 - (131,345) 915,369

Amortized cost:
As of December 31, 2019 1,354,745 199,058 96,719 96,632 1,747,154

As of December 31, 2018 1,024,767 141,421 197,388 110,152 1,473,728

* Including issuance.

In general, Company aircraft and engines are pledged in favor of lenders by a first-ranked
fixed specific lien; in some cases, the aircraft were purchased by loans obiained by special
purpose companies ("SPC") established in conjunction with the financing transactions;
thus, the legal position is that the aircraft are owned by the SPC, which then leases the
aircraft to the Company for the duration of

the financing term; after the lease term, the aircraft is transferred to the Company (either
for payment or for no further consideration), including any potential associated rights, such
as insurance. The Company may not transfer these assets, nor record any further liens there
upon, without prior consent of the lenders. See also Note 13(C) below.

*
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

— Aircraft, flight equipment, other fixed assets and intangible assets (continued)

B. Accounting policy for amortization and review for impairment of Company aircraft and
flight equipment:

(1)

Amortization of Company aircraft and engines thereof:

The cost of aircraft includes the costs necessary for the acquisition of the aircraft, including
commissioning costs. Additional expenses incurred by the Company following the
commissioning of new aircraft are included in "Cost of Company Aircraft”, if they
constitute an asset that will be used by the Company over several periods (significant
addition or upgrade in the performance or shape of the aircraft). Current maintenance costs
are recognized in the statement of income as incurred.

The Company’s aircraft are depreciated while being separated into components with
significant cost — mainly the fuselage and the general renovation cost component
(“overhaul”) of the aircraft engine, called “potential.” The fuselage, is depreciated on a
straight line over its anticipated useful life while taking into account the expected residual
value at the end of the period, in accordance with the residual value of the expected date
in which the management expects the Company’s use of the same aircraft to end. The
engine potential is depreciated based on the actual engine hours compared to the expected
engine hours until the date of the next overhaul (or the date on which the engine is
decommissioned, as applicable).

In cases where the Company has entered into engine overhaul agreements of an insurance
nature, the Company records expenses (other than depreciation) as specified in the
insurance agreements, and the cost of general overhaul is incurred by the insurer. In these
cases, the potential component is not amortized, so that the separate component is its
expected residual value at the end of the engine's projected use.

The Company's aircraft are depreciated over a period of 20 to 29 years. The residual values,
depreciation methods and useful life are reviewed by the Company’s management on an
ongoing basis. Changes in these estimates are accounted for “prospectively”. Regarding
the decommissioning of the Company's Boeing 747-400 and 767-300 aircraft, see notes 9F
and 9G below

In the fourth quarter of 2019, in view of current management plans, the Company extended
the useful life of its Boeing 777 aircraft. Given this change in estimate, depreciation
expenses decreased by USD 3.2 million per quarter as from the fouth quarter of 2019.

Depreciation expenses classified under Operating Expenses, amounting to USD 14.1
million and USD 13.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31,
2017, respectively, were mainly reclassified under General and Administrative Expenses,
consistently with amortization expenses in respect of right to use leased assets, following
the adoption of IFRS 16 "Leases”.
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

— Aircraft, flight equipment, other fixed assets and intangible assets (continued)

L 4

B. Accounting policy for amortization and review for impairment of Company aircraft and
flight equipment (continued):

(2

(3)

Accessories and spare parts:

The cost of spare parts and consumables is determined using the weighted moving average
method and is expensed upon issuance. In addition, the Company recognizes a current
provision for impairment of spare parts, in conformity with Company policy on this matter.

Spare parts, Rotables and Consumables are recognized at actual cost, and are depreciated
over the useful life of the fleet to which they are assigned. Accessories and spare parts not
attributable to any specific fleet are depreciated over the remaining average useful life of
all Company aircraft.

Impairment testing and estimation of the recoverable amount:

At the end of each reporting period, the Company examines whether there are any
indications of impairment in the Company’s aircraft fleet constituting, as a whole, a single
cash-generating unit. The Company’s management believes that the positive cash flows
generated by the Company’s aircraft fleet are not independent of the cash flows of other
fleets, since the Company’s aircraft fleet fly, in many cases, to the same destinations to
which aircraft from other fleets travel, and therefore are largely alternatives and in any case
all constitute part of the Company’s network of routes that it manages as a whole.

The impairment testing primarily consists, among others, of a review of updated
contributing data in relation to the data used in previous calculations of the recoverable
amount, as reflected in the Company's updated. If such indications exist, the recoverable
amount for the entire fleet is calculated, in order to determine whether impairment should
be recognized and the amount thereof.

The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value of the fleet and the value in use
thereof In assessing the value in use, the Company estimates the future cash flows that are
expected from continued use of the aircraft (forecast contribution) and their disposal at the
end of the period, and discounts them to their present value, using a discount rate that
reflects the operational risk associated with the aircraft fleet, based on the Company's
weighted discount rate.

As of June 30, 2019, indications of impairment were identified due to the decline in
contribution relative to the data used to calculate the recoverable amount as of September
30, 2018, Therefore, the Company estimated the value-in-use of the aircraft fleet as of
the date of its assessment in accordance with [AS 36.

*
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— Aircraft, flight equipment, other fixed assets and intangible assets (continued)

B. Accounting policy for amortization and review for impairment of Company aircraft and
flight equipment (continued)

(3)

Impairment testing and estimation of the recoverable amount (continued):

In assessing the value-in-use, the Company estimates the expected future cash flow from
the continued use of its aircraft and discounts them to their current value, by using a
discount rate that reflects the operating risk of its aircraft fleet, which is based on the
Company's average weight discount rate. The value-in-use, including the discount rate,
was calculated by an external appraiser.

It is noted that the methodology to assess the value-in-use and the relevant assets was
significantly affected by the application of [FRS 16 pursuant to which leases (on the lessor's
side) are accounted for in the same manner as the purchase of assets, such that the
discounted value of future lease fees is recorded in the statement of financial position as a
right-of-use asset and depreciated throughout the life of the lease. As aresult, the said asset
is added to the evaluated assets while the value-in-use did not include the negative cash
flow arising from those leases (since, as stated, they are already included in the carrying
amount of the assessed cash-generating unit). It is further noted that the application of
IFRS 16 also affected the method of caleulating the discount rate, mainly due to its impact
on the rate of leverage.

Since the Company was, as of June 30, 2019, in the advanced stages of executing its
procurement plan, in calculating the value-in-use the Company included the cash in respect
of all the aircraft in the transaction, including the projected investments and negative cash
flow as a result of commissioning these aircraft. The forecast period is approx. 25 years
(from the average date of entry into service of the 787 fleet — on June 30, 2018} until the
scheduled date of decommissioning of the Boeing 787-8 and 787-9 aircraft, which
comprise the Company's main aircraft fleet. Accordingly, it was assumed, for the purpose
of estimating the value-in-use, that from the date of decommissioning of the other fleets
(737-900, 737-800 and 777-200) the Company would use leased aircraft of these models
in order to maintain the continuity of operation of these aircraft fleet throughout the forecast
period and accordingly, on those dates, the current value of the projected lease fees in
respect of those leases was discounted, in line with AVAC's published list of leasing fees.

In addition, it was assumed that in each of the renewed leases, the Company will lease an
aircraft such that the average age of the aircraft would not exceed 14 years, which is the
average age of aircraft in the industry.

*
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 9 — Aircraft, flight equipment, other fixed assets and intangible assets {(continued)

B. Accounting policy for amortizaticn and review for impairment of Company aircraft and
flight equipment (continued)

(3) Impairment testing and estimation of the recoverable amount (continued):
The following are the main assumptions used in the valuation:

*  The expected contribution from the aircraft fleet is based on the Company's forecasts
for the second half of 2019 and for 2020 (net of theoretical tax, taking intc account
depreciation for tax purposes), and the Company's assessments regarding the
development of its expected revenues and expenses in subsequent years, in line with
the economic parameters during the forecast period.

e  The operating income is based on the projected flight hours of these aircraft, taking
into account the growth in revenue per hour in the years 2020 and 2021. The expected
growth in revenue during these years will mainly result from an increase in the supply
of seats, among others, due to the entry of new aircraft into service, the launch of new
destinations and a higher number of seats in the Boeing 777-200 and 737-800 fleets.

®»  The residual value at the end of the aircrafts' useful life was calculated based on
AVAC's forecasts, among other things, depending on the condition of the aircraft and
engines when they are retired from service, amounts to USD 104 million (discounted
values).

»  The variable expenses taken into account in the forecast include fuel costs, aircrew
wages, fees, catering, cargo expenses and other direct operating expenses. The fuel
price was determined based on the fuel curve as of June 30, 2019, for the years 2019
and 2020, while fuel prices for 2020 were assumed for the entire forecast period,
taking into account the Company's hedge policy, according to the Company's
projected flight schedule in 2019 and 2020 and projected increases in some of these
expenses.

e [t was assumed that agreements with the government in connection with the financing
of flight security, including the rate of participation in expenses and crew flight
agreements would be renewed throughout the forecast period and their terms and
conditions would remain unchanged.

¢ Indirect expenses include the Company's overhead costs, among others the wages of
ground crews and operating staff.

s Discount rate: [n order to discount the projected cash flows from the aircraft fleet and
their residual values, a post-tax discount rate of 6.75% was used, which reflects a pre-
tax discount rate of 8.25%. The discount rate reflects the operating risk of the aircraft
fleet, based on the weighted average cost of capital of the Company.
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Notes to the conseolidated financial statements

— Aircraft, flight equipment, other fixed assets and intangible assets (continued)

B.

Accounting policy for amortization and review for impairment of Company aircraft and
flight equipment: (continued)

(3) Review for impairment and estimation of recoverable amount: (continued)
*  The NIS-USD exchange rate is based on the representative rate as of June 30, 2019.

It was determined that the recoverable amount of the aircraft fleet exceeds its depreciated cost in
the Company’s financial statements. Accordingly, the Company did not recognize a provision for
impairment,

As of December 31, 2019, there were no indications of impairment and no change in the estimated
contribution, which could also be indicative of impairment, in relation to the contribution used
for the calculation that was conducted on the aforementioned date. However, due to the Corona
Virus crisis, the Company intends to review the recoverable amount for its financial statements
for the first quarter of 2020.

Procurement plan for the acquisition and lease of 787 wide-body aircraft:

As of the issue date of the statement of financial position, the Company has completed the
procurement of 15 new Dreamliner aircraft, of which 8 leased 787-9 aircraft and 7 owned aircraft
(four 787-9 aircraft and three 787-8 aircraft, of which the Company took delivery of one aircraft
in February 2020, afier the date of the statement of financial position). With regard to the leased
aircraft, note that all lease terms are for 12 years; for some of these aircraft, the Company has an
early exit point after 10 years, subject to giving advance notice and to payment of an exit fee, in
conformity with terms and conditions set forth in each agreement.

Below are details of delivery dates of the aircraft received as of the issue date of the
statement of financial position:

First
Ownership/ quarter
Model leasing 2017 2018 2019 2020 Total
T787-9 Leases 2 2 4 - 8
787-9 Owned - 3 1 - 4
787-8 Owned — — 2 1 3
2 5 7 1 15

The delivery date of the final 787-8 aircraft has been postponed due to the Corona Virus crisis.
For more information see Note 13.B.10.
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— Aircraft, flight equipment, other fixed assets and intangible assets (continued)

C.

Procurement plan for the acquisition and lease of 787 wide-body aircraft: {continued)

The total estimated cost of the procurement plan is USD 1.3 billion. Payment for each aircraft is
made upon delivery to the Company, except for an advance payment at 30% of the estimated cost
of each aircraft, which is paid earlier, in conformity with terms and conditions of the purchase
agreement.

In the reported period, the Company paid, with respect to owned aircraft that are part of the
procurement plan, a total of USD 337 million. For loans taken to finance the procurement plan,
see Note 13 below.

Furthermore, the Company recognized an increase by USD 456.2 million in the right to use
asset with respect to four new leased aircraft put into service in 2019,

The original procurement planand changes therein:
(1) Aircraft acquisition:

On October 29, 2015, the Company and Boeing signed an agreement for purchase of 4 new
Drearliner 787-9 aircraft and 5 new Dreamliner 787-8 aircraft ("the purchase agreement");
when in November 2018, the Company informed Boeing that it was cancelling the
acquisition of one Boeing 787-8 aircraft, as set forth in section 3 below, in conformity with
the purchase agreement. The Company was also granted options to purchase up to 13
Boeing 787 aircraft ("the optional aircraft”), which may be converted into other aircraft in
the 787 series. As of the date of publication of the report, the Company has two options to
exercise. It should be noted that, if the Company decides to exercise any of the optional
aircraft, upon each exercise date, the Company would be entitled to purchase another option
to purchase a 787-10 aircraft ("the additional optional aircraft").

{(2)  Aircraft leasing:

In addition, close to the date of the purchase agreement, the Company signed agreements
for the leasing of five new 787-9 and two 787-8 Dreamliner aircraft (which, in November
2018, were converted into Boeing 787-9 aircraft). In addition, the Company was granted
an option for the leasing of two additional Boeing 787-9 aircraft pursuant to the terms
stipulated in the agreement.

Also, in January 2018, ("the date of the additional agreement"), the Company entered into
an agreement with a foreign company to lease an additional Boeing 787-9 Dreamliner
aircraft (although according to the procurement plan, the Company had no intention of
purchasing more than 16 aircraft) for a 12-year period, with an extension option pursuant
to the terms stipulated in the agreement, whose planned delivery date is during the third
quarter of 2019.
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Note 9 — Aircraft, flight equipment, other fixed assets and intangible assets (continued)
C. Procurement plan for the acquisition and lease of 787 wide-body aircraft: (continued)

(3) Sale and lease-back:

In September 2016, the Company signed agreements with a foreign company pursuant to
which two of the five 787-8 aircraft purchased by the Company as stated in section 1 above,
will be sold to the foreign company upon their delivery from Boeing and leased back by El
Al (Sale and Lease Back). It is noted that E1 Al has the right to terminate the Sale and
Lease Back transactions upon the occurrence of certain conditions, as stipulated in the
Agreement and subject to prior notice to the lessor.

As noted above, in November 2018, the Company informed Boeing of termination
cancelation of the purchase of one Boeing 787-8 aircraft purchased in conjunction with the
procurement plan, and accordingly, the Company gave notice to the foreign company
which is party to the sale and lease back transaction, of termination of the transaction with
regard to said aircraft.

In addition, on August 13, 2019, the Company informed the lessor of termination of the
aforementioned agreement with regard to the second aircraft.

It is emphasized that the Company's agreement with Boeing in connection with the
purchase of the Aircraft, as part of the procurement plan, remains in effect, and the
Cancellation Notice was given to the lessor only, so that the Company is expected to
purchase the aircraft from Boeing, with no Sale & Lease Back to the lessor.

D. Reception of Boeing 787 Aircraft Engines:

(1) InFebruary 2019, the Company completed the purchase of a second reserve engine from
Rolls Royce for its Boeing 787-9 aircraft fleet.

{2) InFebruary 2016, the Company and engine manufacturer Rolls Royce signed an agreement
for purchase of substitute engines;
An agreement regarding benefits with respect to purchase of TRENT-1000 TEN engines
(hereinafter: "TEN engines") (to be installed on
aircraft owned or leased by the Company), as well as an agreement for engine maintenance.
In the fourth quarter of 2017, Rolls Royce informed the Company of restrictions created in
the manufacturing process of TEN engines. These are primarily regulatory restrictions with
regard to engine parts, which may be subject to replacement sconer than planned. Note that
in 2018, Rolls Royce informed the Company that some of these restrictions have been
reduced. Rolls Royce, according to the notice provided, is considering potential solutions
to eliminate and reduce the remaining restrictions, and would inform the Company of such
solutions.
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— Aircraft, flight equipment, other fixed assets and intangible assets (continued)

D.

Reception of Boeing 787 Aircraft Engines: (continued)

Furthermore, with regard to two Dreamliner 787-9 aircraft delivered to the Company in 2017,
which came equipped with Rolls Royce TRENT-1000 PACK C engines, rather than the newer
TEN engines (due to failure to obtain regulatory approvals for the TEN engines upon delivery of
the first two aircraft), in February 2019 Rolls Royce completed the replacement of these engines
by TEN engines.

According to information provided to the Company by Rolls Royce and Boeing, due to the
aforementioned regulatory restrictions, there are world-wide delays in delivery of TEN engines
for new Dreamliner 787 aircraft. Note, in this regard, the the Company took delivery of 15
Dreamliner 787 aircraft as scheduled.

In February 2019, the purchase of a second spare engine for the Dreamliner fleet from Rolls
Rovce- was completed. For more information about the financing agreement signed by the
Company and a foreign bank, see Note 13.

In April 2019, Rolls Royce informed the Company that certain parts of the TEN engines installed
on the Dreamliner 787 aircraft, which were received by the Company, would have to be replaced
earlier than expected, in accordance with the restrictions published by the European Aviation
Safety Authority (EASA) regarding the maximum operational utility of those parts. In addition,
until their actual replacement, the frequency of inspection of these parts was increased, in
accordance with the instructions of Rolls Royce and the EASA. Following the aforementioned
inspections, in July 2019, findings have been detected in two of the TEN engines, which were
subsequently replaced by two reserve engines of the Company and were then sent to Rolls Royce
for spare part replacement. In view of these findings, in July 2019 Rolls Royce instructed the
Company to advance the dates of replacement of the remaining spare parts, regardless of the
restrictions published by EASA.

In view of the foregoing, the Company decided to bring forward the purchase of two additional
reserve TEN engines, which were scheduled to be delivered in 2023 and 2024. These were
delivered to the Company in August 2019,

Following the findings discovered in the TEN engines, Rolls Royce and the Company agreed on
a plan for replacement of parts by Rolls Royce at its facilities; this plan was launched and is being
adjusted from time to time; it is expected to be completed by end of 2021. The plan is expected
to provide an adequate solution to the parts replacement, in line with the Company's use of its 787
aircraft and insofar as the EASA requirements remain unchanged and no additional findings are
detected in these inspections. Note that the Company has four reserve TEN engines installed on
its aircraft and used to support the aforementioned replacement plan. It should be noted that the
Company is acting in accordance with the guidelines and directives of the EASA as well as the
manufacturer's instructions.

In March 2020, the Company and Rolls Royce agreed that Rolls Royce would indemnify the
Company for part of the expense incurred by the Company due to findings discovered in the
engines and subsequent steps taken by the Company.

Note that since the Corona Virus crisis and its implications for Company operations resulted in a
significant decrease in ilights operated by the Company using its Dreamliner aircraft with TEN
engines installed, and due to the Corona Virus crisis implications for current operations of Rolls
Royce, changes may be made to the aforementioned replacement plan and dates thereof.
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Note 9 — Aircraft, flight equipment, other fixed assets and intangible assets (continued)

E. Lease agreements for the NG 737-800 fleet:

In November 2019, the Company and a foreign company signed agreements for lease of three
Boeing 737-800 passenger aircraft, for a term of six years as from the delivery date thereof; one
of these aircraft was delivered to the Company in February 2020.

In March 2020, due to implications of the Corona Virus crisis for Company operations, the
Company informed the lessor of termination of the lease agreements for the two remaining aircraft
yet to be delivered to the Company. Consequently, the lessor informed the Company that it would
not reimburse the advance payment made for these aircraft, whose amount is not material.

F. Decommissioning of the Boeing 767 aircraft fleet:

(1) In February 2019, the Company decommissioned the last aircraft from this fleet and
recognized an additional provision of USD 4 million (pre tax) in respect of an onerous
contract.

(2) During the second quarter of 2019, the Company recognized a USD 3.3 million capital loss
{pre tax) on the sale of surplus spare parts, mainly for decommissioned aircraft fleets, which
was classified under "Other income {(expenses)”.

(3) InJune 2019, the Company signed with a foreign company ("the Buyer") an agreement for
the sale of a Boeing 767-300ER aircraft together with the aircraft's two Pratt & Whitney
4056-3 engines (hereinafter — "the Aircraft" and "Agreement”, respectively). On September
27, 2019, the technical inspection of the aircraft was completed to the buyer's satisfaction,
the Company received a consideration in respect thereof and recorded a capital gain of
USD 4.9 million, which was classified under "Other Income (Expenses)” (in lieu of the
estimated capital gain of USD 4.4 million).

G. Decommissioning of the Boeing 747 aircraft fleet:

(1) InJune 2019, prior to the expiry of the lease term in July 2019, the 747-400 aircraft dry lease
by the Company - was decommissioned. Consequently, the Company decided that in addition
to the transport of cargo on passenger aircraft (belly freight) cargo will be transported on a
wet leased 747-400 cargo aircraft. Accordingly, the Company signed an agreement with a
foreign company for the period from July 2019 to December 2019. In November, the
Company signed an agreement with another foreign company, for the period from January
2020 through December 2020
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— Aireraft, flight equipment, other fixed assets and intangible assets (continued)

G.

Decommissioning of the Boeing 747 aircraft fleet: (continued)

(2) In August 2019, the Company signed with a foreign company ("the Buyer") an agreement
for the sale of four Pratt & Whitney 4056-3 engines that were originally purchased by the
Company as part of the acquisition of Boeing 747-400 aircrafts (hereinafter — "the Engines”
and "Agreement”, respectively). In December 2019, the technical inspection of the engines
was completed to the buyer's satisfaction, the Company received the consideration in
respect thereof and recorded capital gain amounting to USD 6.6 million (before tax).

{(3) InNovember 2019, the Company and a foreign company ("the buyer") signed an agreement
for sale of twelve Pratt & Whitney 4056-3 engines ("the engines" and "the agreement",
respectively); According to the agreement, the sale is subject to completion of technical
inspection of the engines and documentation thereof, to the buyer's satisfaction. Through
the report date, inspection of one engine has been completed, and the Company has
recognized capital gain of USD 1.9 million (before tax) with respect to the sale thereof.
Through the report date, delivery of four more engines has been completed and the
consideration for these received; with respect to this sale, the Company should recognize,
in the first quarter of 2020, capital gain amounting to USD 11 million (before tax). In view
of the Corona Virus crisis, the buyer has informed the Company of its wish to re-negotiate
the actual sale of the remaining seven engines, which has yet to be completed as of the
report issue date; concurrently, the Company has started negotiations with other potential
buyers for some of these engines.

Depreciation of other fixed assets and intangible assets:

Other fixed assets of the Company are depreciated using the straight line method over the
expected useful life for these assets or, in case of leasehold improvements, over the shorter of

their useful life and the remaining lease term for the asset.
As of December 31, 2019

Accumulated
Cost depreciation Balance
USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands

Buildings and facilities at Ben Gurion Airport 103,993 69,389 34,604
Computers and office furniture 32,068 24,178 7,890
Machinery and ground equipment 64,081 49,411 14,670
Renovations of leased offices 27,094 25,462 1,632
Vehicles and garage equipment 8,325 6,057 2,268
Owned offices 3,237 2,964 273
Intangible assets (1) 76,912 43,806 33,106
315,710 221,267 94,443
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— Aircraft, flight equipment, other fixed assets and intangible assets (continued)

H.

(1)

Depreciation of other fixed assets and intangible assets: (continued)

As of December 31, 2018
Accumulated

Cost depreciation Balance

USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands
Buildings and facilities at Ben Gurion Airport 100,538 65,984 34,553
Computers and office furniture 30,483 22,084 8.399
Machinery and ground equipment 62,570 46,913 15,657
Renovations of leased offices 25,735 24,424 1,311
Vehicles and garage equipment 7,893 5,645 2,248
Owned offices 3,237 2,946 291
Intangible assets (1) 64,589 32412 32,177
295,045 200,408 94,636

This balance primarily includes software purchased by the Company and their development cost.

Leases
General background and accounting policy:

As of December 31, 2019, the Company leased 17 aircraft. The remaining lease terms range
between 1-12 years. Pursuant to agreement for the leasing of Boeing 737-800 aircraft, the
Company pays the lessors a fixed monthly sum, with an additional amount paid for maintenance
reserves, which are mainly derived from the extent of using the aircraft, which will be used by
the lessor to finance any future repair of the aircraft. Pursuant to agreements for the leasing of
Boeing 787-900 aircraft, the Company is not required to pay for a maintenance reserve. The
Company makes provisions for the future repair of aircraft based on the estimated costs of works
and spare parts under contractual obligations to the lessors with regard to aircraft maintenance.
In addition, the Company’s lease agreements also include leases for additional structures and
facilities, including contracts with the Airport Authority, and vehicles that are leased by the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Regarding IFRS 16 "leases”, see note 2.1) above.

Undertaking to pay future minimum lease fees for non-revocable operating leases:
Regarding details of payments for future minimum leasing fees in respect of the Company's
operating leases, including leasing of Boeing 787 aircraft, see note 13.E  below, as part of the

Liquidity Risk Note.

In February 2019, the Company and a foreign company signed an extension for the lease of a
Boeing 737-800 passenger aircraft, for an additional 47 months, as from March 2019.

In May 2019, the Company and two foreign companies signed extensions for leases of two Boeing
737-800 passenger aircraft, for an additional 29 months, as from May 2020.
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Note 10 - Leases (continued)

The following is the composition of assets and liabilities in respect of leases as of December 31, 2019:

Aircraft Real estate Total
and vehicles

USD, million

Cost

Balance as of January 1, 2019 493.9 111.4 605.3
Additions during the period with respect to 456.2 7.2 463.4
new agreements

Changes to contracts during the period 7.8 4.4 12.2
Changes due to linkage - 0.3 0.3
De-recognition with respect to expired - (0.9 (0.9
leases

Exchange rate differentials — (0.2) 0.2)
Balance as of December 31, 2019 957.9 122.2 1,080.1

Amortization and impairment losses
Balance as of January 1, 2019 - - -

Depreciation during the year 82.1 15.6 97.7
Changes to agreements and others - (0.1 0.1)
De-recognition with respect to expired — (0.9) 0.9
leases

Balance as of December 31, 2019 82.1 14.6 96.7
Carrving amount

Balance as of January 1, 2019 493.9 111.4 605.3
As of December 31, 2019 875.8 107.6 983.4
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Note 10 - Leases (continued)

The following is the composition of the lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019:

Aircraft Real estate Total
and vehicles

USD, million
Lease liability
Balance as of January 1, 2019 500.5 124.7 625.2
Additions during the period with respect to 456.2 7.2 463.4
new agreemernts
Changes to contracts during the period 7.8 4.1 11.9
Changes due to linkage - 0.3 03
Current financing expenses 351 8.6 43.7
Payments during the period (105.0} (20.7y (1257
De-recognition with respect to expired - - -
leases
Exchange rate differentials — 2.5 2.5
Balance as of December 31, 2019 894.6 126.7 1.021.3
Current lease liabilities 83.5 9.9 934
Long-term lease liabilities 811.1 116.8 927.9

Maturities of lease liabilities (principal and interest payments):

USD, million

Year 2020 142.1
Year 2021 136.7
Year 2022 132.3
Year 2023 123.5
Year 2024 119.2
The vear 2025 onwards 6068.7
Total 1322.5

Short-term lease expenses and leases of non-material amounts, for
the year ended December 31, 2019

UsSD
in thousands
Short-term leases (up to 12 months) 45,168
Leases of non-material amounts 7,412
Variable lease payments 1,627
Total 54,207
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Note 11 — Other Accounts payable

Current Liabilities:
As of December 31
2019 2018

USD in USD in
thousands thousands

Alirport tax payable 46,474 38,449

Payables in respect of foreign companies’ unrealized

flight segments (1) 13,613 14,082

Government institutions 232 12,773

Interest payable 4,436 4,324

Deposits received with respect to passenger groups 7,384 6,557

Provisions for future refurbishment of leased aircraft

(see Note 10.A) 16,097 13,934

Other payables 7,694 11,548*
95,930 101,667

(1)  This balance reflects the amounts of flight tickets sold by the Company, payable to foreign
companies that would carry out these flights.

Non-Current Liabilities:
As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands
Credit balances due to leasing fee averaging - 3,348
Provisions for future refurbishment of leased aircraft* 62,247 7,539
Other 1,091 1,996
63,338 12,883

*For application of IFRS 16 "Leases", see Note 2.D.
Note 12 — Unearned revenue from flight tickets and Frequent Flyer Club points

(1) Background and accounting policy

Flight ticket sales are included as unearned revenue until the flight date, when they are charged to
the statement of income. Air passenger revenues also include revenues where the service is
provided by the Company, whereas flight tickets are sold by other airlines. Furthermore, air
passenger revenues also include revenues due to collaboration agreements with other airlines. In
these cases, when the service is provided by the other airlines while the sale is made by the
Company, revenue is stated on a net basis, meaning that the Company collects the proceeds from
the transportation of passengers, transfer to the other airline its share of the proceeds, and
recognizes revenue for the difference between them. However, revenue from cargo transport will
be recognized on a gross basis, meaning the sale to the customer will be recognized as full income,
while payment to the other airline will be recognized as an expense, since in cargo transactions (in
contrast to passenger flights) the Company is also the main supplier for the flight segments carried
our by other airline companies.
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Note 12 — Unearned revenue from flight tickets and Frequent Flyer Club points (continued)

C.46

Sale of airline tickets, whereby the Company awards customers with flight points in the Matmid
frequent flyer club, which may later be converted into flights (or other products), are separated
into performance obligations, with payment received from the customer allocated to the flight
component and to the points component, based on the theoretical separate sale price per flight
point, as estimated by the Company. The consideration attributed to club points would be
recognized as revenues upon performance of the service provided by the Company in exchange
for conversion of the points. Until such revenues are recognized, the Company recognizes a
liability with respect to club points as unearned revenues.

The proceeds from the sale of the frequent flyer to business partners is recognized as unearned
revenue and stated as income upon the execution of the service provided by the Company in
consideration for conversion of the points.

Regarding critical accounting considerations and key sources for uncertainty estimates used in

determining the value of the liability in the Financial Statements, see Note 2(c)(6).

Current Liabilities:
As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands

From sale of airline tickets 247967 225,641
In respect of frequent flyer club points 78,886 85,124
Grants from credit card companies 16,189 -
(see section 12.D below)
Others 4,945 -

347,987 310,765

Non-Current Liabilities:

As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands
In respect of frequent flyer club points 58,096 32,296
Grants from credit card companies (see section 40,508 -
12.D below)
98,604 32,296

+ 2018



......

El Al Israel Airlines Lid.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 12 — Unearned revenue from flight tickets and Frequent Flyer Club points (continued)

Composition of liabilities with respect to Matmid frequent flyer club points

As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in

thousands thousands
Opening balance — lability in respect of
current and non-current club points 117,420 103,632
Accruals 102,769 02,988
Realizatiens and expirations (83,207) {79,200)
Closing balance 136,982 117,420

D. Matmid frequent flyer club — new agreements contracted with credit card companies:

Further to note 12(D) of the annual financial statements for the year 2018, regarding a new agreement
with Diners Club Israel Ltd and Israel Credit Cards Ltd. (the two jointly - "the ICC Group") for the
issuance and operation of branded credit cards to members of the Frequent Flyer Club ("the FlyCard
Agreement"), on September 2019, the Company signed a triple agreement with Mastercard Europe SA
("Mastercard") and the ICC Group ("the Triple Agreement"), which was approved by the board of
directors. The Triple Agreement regulates the cooperation with mastercard in the implementation of the
FlyCard Agreement: the issuance of Mastercard branded Flycard tickets (Premium and Bronze) and
integrated tickets under the Mastercard and Diners brands; adds partial exclusivity to Mastercard in
relation to different types of premium cards; Mastercard's support of marketing budgets as well as
financial support and professional advise, the scope of which depends on compliance with certain goals
throughout the term of the Agreement. The agreement is effective for a 10-year period commencing
from September 1, 2019, where each party is entitled to terminate the agreement after a period of 7
years,

During the first quarter of 2019, the Company received grants from credit card companies in an
aggregate amount of NIS 160 million (approx. USD 44 million) and in the fourth quarter of 2019, the
Company received a signing grant of USD 15 million, which constitutes the unpaid balance of the grants.

The grants are recorded as unearned income and are expected to be recognized as income over a period
of seven years once the agreement enters into force (in September 2019), representing the period of the
agreement to which the grants are attributed (the period in which the agreement cannot be cancelled by
any of the parties without a significant penalty).

Due to the theoretical financing component {pursuant to accounting rules) in some of the received grants,
the Company recognizes theoretical interest expenses against an increase in the amount of unearned
income which, in the future, will increase the amount to be recorded as income in the financial
statements.
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Note 12 — Unearned revenue from flight tickets and Frequent Flyer Club points (continued)

D. Matmid frequent flyer club — new agreements contracted with credit card companies: (continued)

Furthermore, as stated in the same note, the Company was awarded a "Phantom" option, which gives
the Company economic rights in Visa Cal (equivalent to 8.75% of the increase in the value of Visa Cal)
or in Diners (equivalent to 35% of the increase in the value of Diners). The option may only be exercised
if one of these companies is sold or issued, pursuant to the conditions stipulated in the agreement with
respect thereto, and shall be settled in cash. Since there is material uncertainty regarding the likelihood
that these conditions will be met, the value of the option was assessed at an immaterial amount.

Note 13 — Loans from banking corporations and others

Loans obtained by the Company to finance aircraft purchases are initially recognized at the amount
raised, net of transaction costs and fees paid, primarily with respect to guarantees provided to the
Company by third parties, such as guarantees from the US Export Import bank (EXIM), he UK Export
Finance Govermment agency (UKEF), and the Aircraft Finance Insurance Consortium (AFIC) (sce
below). Subsequent to initial recognition, loans are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method.

A. Transactions and balances:

Loans to
Variable finance advance
Fixed- rate loans payments on Overdrawn

rate loans (LIBOR) aircraft (PDP) accounts Total

USD in thousands

Fer the year ending on
December 31, 2019:
Annual percentage rate 1.79-5.56  2.54-6.09 4.69-4.81 - -

Balance as of January 1, 2019:

Current maturities 27,654 135,975 102,230 27,306 293,165
Long-term loans 189,272 ¥ 426,132 * 42,917 — 658,321
Total loans 216,926 562,107 145,147 27,306 951,486

Transactions during 2019:
Receipt of long-term loans and

Repayment of PDP loans B.(1)(3)(5X7) 104,650 439,965 (102,230) - 442 385
Receipt of PDP loans B(2)}(4)(6) - - 19,107 - 19,107
Current repayments and changes in

overdrawn accounts (33,982) (144,454} - (5,299) (183,735)
Other changes 2,680 (17.637) - - (14,957)
Total loans at December 31, 2019 290,274 839,081 62,024 22,007 1,214,286
Of which: current maturities 35,613 98,208 62,024** 22,007 217,852
Total long-term loans 254,661 741,773 - - 996,434
*Reclassified

** The loan will be repaid upon receipt of the aircraft by taking a long-term loan
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Note 13 — Loans from banking corporations and others (continued)

For the year ending on December 31, 2018:

Annual pgrcentage rate 2.44-4 .90 2.37-6.79 4.78-5.31 - —

Balance to January 1, 2018

Current maturities 33,649 50,304 85,000 26,971 195,924
Long-term loans 188,153 213,906 - - 402,059
Totalloans 221,802 264,210 85,000 26,971 597,983

Transactions during 2018:
Receipt of long-term loans and repayment

of PDP loans B.()(3X5X7) - 404,942 (85,000) — 319,942
Receipt of PDP loans B(2)(4)(6) - - 145,147 - 145,147
Current repayments and changes in

overdrawn accounts {38,583) (65,431) - 335 (103,679)
Other changes 4,338 (12,245) - - (7.907)
Total loans at December 31, 2018 187,557 591,476 145,147 27,306 951,486
Of which: current maturities 27,654 135,975 * 102,230 27,306 293,165
Total long-term loans 159,903 455,501 42,917 - 658,321

*  Includes an outstanding loan {("balloon™) of USD 59 million to finance 777-200 aircraft, which were re-
financed in 2019.

(2) Changes to Company loans in the reported period and after the date of the statement of financial position:

(1) In January 2019, the Company received financing from a foreign bank totaling USD 19 million, to make
advance payments for a Boeing 787-8 aircraft. The loan bears a variable LIBOR-based interest rate plus
a spread, payable on a quarterly basis. Each loan will be paid off on the date of delivery of the aircraft
through the receipt of long-term financing. As collateral for repayment of the loan, the Company has
assigned to the foreign bank, inter alia, its rights to the aircraft pursuant to the purchase agreement with
Boeing, and rights entitled to it pursuant to the agreement with Rolls Royce.

(2) InMarch 2019, the Company signed an agreement with a foreign bank to finance a reserve engine for the
Boeing 787-9 aircraft. The loan, amounting to USD 18 million, was provided to the Company for a peried
of 10 years. The loan bears a variable LIBOR-based interest rate plus a margin, and is payable (principal
and interest) in quarterly installments,
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Note 13— Loans from banking corporations and others (continued)

B. Changes to Company leans in the reported period and after the date of the statement of financial
position: (continued)

(3) In June 2019 , the Company signed agreements to obtain financing in the amount of USD 145
million plus a commission (hereinafter — "the financing transaction") for the purchase of a Boeing
787-9 aircraft, which is the fourth aircraft purchased from Boeing by the Company, and the tenth
of this model, was delivered to the Company in June 2019 as part of the procurement transaction.

The financing transaction was conducted through a legal structure called "Japanese Operating
Lease with a Call Option"(JOLCO Lease with a Call Option) pursuant to which the aircraft is
held by a special purpose company (SPC) in Japan, and after 10 years will be formally transferred
to the Company's ownership subject to the payment of the outstanding debt at that time at an
agreed and predetermined price of USD 68 million (including a Japanese yen hedge transaction,
see below).

The financing consists of a loan totaling USD 116 million from the Japanese bank for a period of
12 years (hereinafier - "the Loan")}, which was backed by an insurance policy AFIC Non-Payment
Insurance ("insurance policy") , given by the AFIC Consortium (Aircraft Finance Insurance
Consortium) which is Consortium of insurance companies that provides insurance policies to
banks that purchase aircraft for a commission, and from an additional sum of USD 29 million that
was provided to the SPC in Japanese yen ("the Additional Amount") by a Japanese company (see
section 4 below, with respect to hedging the exposure to the Japanese yen).

The loan bears 3-month LIBOR-based interest rate plus a margin of 0.5-1.5%. In addition, the
Company paid a commission as stated of USD 5 million on the loan origination date.

The financing transaction was secured, inter alia, through an insurance policy, a lien on the
aircraft, an assignment of the Company’s rights in connection with the aircraft insurance policies,
the Company's rights in the lease agreement with the Japanese SPC, Boeing's warranty for the
aircraft, and Rolls Royce's warranty for the aircraft's engines.

The agreements include customary clauses in these types of transactions, such as: an option for
the financers to pre-payment of the loan in the event of a breach specified in the agreements or
in case the Company breached its obligations pursuant to other agreements in which an insurance
policy is provided, or in case of a breach of other agreements above a certain amount, as agreed
between the parties (cross-default). The agreements do not include an undertaking to comply
with financial covenants.

The Company will not have a pre-payment option, except in cases that are customary in this type
of transactions, such as: increased financing costs paid to the bank, changes in the tax imposed
pursuant to the financing transaction, or breach by the Japanese SPC, subject to an agreed payment
under the financing transaction.

Upon receipt of the said financing, the Company repaid a loan that was used as advance payment
for the purchased aircraft, in the amount of USD 37 million.
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B.

C.51

Changes to Company loans in the reported period and after the date of the statement of financial
position: (continued)

4)

(%)

(6)

()

Upon the receipt of financing as stated in section (3) above, the Company entered into a SWAP
agreement to swap the repayment in Japanese yen with a fixed dollar amount. This hedge
transaction will cancel the Company's exposure to changes in the Japanese yen-US dollar
exchange rate. The Company has designated the derivative as a cash flow hedge, such that the
interest rate differences between the currencies are recognized as interest expenses, while the
exchange rate differences in respect of Spot prices on the transaction report date will be
recognized in profit and loss (and offset the price differences recognized in profit and loss in
respect of the loan). Each period, a dollar interest expense in respect of the loan is recorded in the
statement of income. The remaining revaluation of the hedge transaction is recognized in the
other comprehensive income.

In May 2019, the Company took out a USD 30 million loan from a foreign bank, to pay for the
continued upgrade of the aircraft fleet. The loan was provided to the Company at a variable
LIBOR rate plus a margin. The loan and the interest thereon will be paid in quarterly installments
over a period of 5 years.

In July 2019, the Company repaid, from its own resources, an outstanding loan ("balloon") in the
amount of USD 60 million, which was originally taken to finance the purchase two Boeing 777-
200 aircraft. In August 2019, the Company signed refinancing agreements with foreign lenders
with respect to the two aircraft.

The total amount of the new loans is USD 50 million (USD 25 million each} while each loan
consists of a senior debt for 6-year and 7-year periods and a subordinate debt for a 4-year period.
The loans were taken at a fixed interest rate, except for the senior debt in one of the loans which
bears a variable LIBOR interest rate plus a margin. During the loan repayment periods the aircraft
will be held through Special Purpose Companies (SPC). The loans will be secured, inter alia, by
means of a lien on the aircraft, assignment of Company's rights in connection with the aircrafts'
insurance policies, assignment of the SPCs' rights in the lease agreements, and assignment of
Boeing's warranty for the aircraft and Rolls Royce's warranty for the aircraft engines.

In November 2019, the Company signed an agreement with a foreign bank to finance two reserve
engines for 787 aircraft, which were purchased as detailed in Note 9.F.(3). The amount of the loan
is USD 38 million and it was provided to the Company for a pericd of 10 years. The loan bears a
variable LIBOR-based interest rate plus a margin, and will be repaid (principal and interest) in
quarterly installments.
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Changes to Company loans in the reported period and after the date of the statement of financial
position: (continued)

t)

)

In November 2019, the Company signed agreements to receive financing in the amount of USD
125 million plus a commission ("the Agreements” and "the Financing”, respectively) for the
purchase of a Dreamliner 787-8 aircraft, which is the fifth aircraft purchased from Boeing and the
first of this model, which the Company will receive as part of the procurement of 16 Dreamliner
aircraft and which is scheduled to be delivered during November 2019 ("the Aircraft”).

The financing transaction will be conducted through a legal structure called "Japanese Operating
Lease with a Call Option" (JOLCO) pursuant to which the aircraft is held by a special purpose
company (SPC) in Japan, and after 10 years will be formally transferred to the Company’s
ownership, subject to payment of the cutstanding debt at that time at a price agreed to and known
in advance, which consists of a dollar component and a Japanese yen component, and which as
of the transaction date, in the amount of USD 45 million. The financing will consist of a loan in
the amount of USD 106 million from a foreign bank plus a commission of USD 8 million payable
to United Kingdom Export Finance ("UKEF"- Governmental agency to promote export from
England) for a period of 12 years ("the Loan") and an additional amount of USD 19 million in
Japanese ven, which will be provided to the SPC by the Japanese company. The loan bears 3-
month LIBOR-based interest rate plus a margin of 0% to 1% to be repaid in quarterly installments
for a 12-year period from the loan origination date which, subject to the repayment of the
outstanding debt, as stated, will mature after a period of 10 years. The loan will be secured by a
UKEF guarantee and by a lien on the aircraft, assignment of the Company's rights in connection
with the aircraft insurance, the Company’s rights under the lease with the SPC and the warranty
provided by Boeing for the aircraft and by Roll Royce for the engines. The loan does not include
a commitment to meet financial criteria. The agreements include customary clauses in these types
of transactions, such as: an option for the financers to prepay the loan in the event of a breach
specified in the agreements or in case the Company breached its obligations pursuant to other
agreements (cross-default).

The Company will not have a pre-payment option, except in cases that are customary in this type
of transactions, such as: increased financing costs paid to the bank, changes in the tax imposed
pursuant to the financing transaction, or breach by the Japanese SPC, subject to an agreed payment
under the financing transaction.

In December 2019, the Company signed agreements to receive financing in the amount of USD
122 million plus a commission ("the Agreements" and "the Financing”, respectively) for the
purchase of a Dreamliner 787-8 aircraft, which is the sixth aircraft purchased from Boeing and
the second of this model, which the Company received as part of the procurement of 16
Dreamliner aircraft and which was delivered during December 2019 ("the Aircraft”).

The financing transaction will be conducted through a JOLCO legal structure pursuant to which
the aircraft is held by a special purpose company (SPC) in Japan, and after 10 years will be
formally transferred to the Company's ownership, subject to payment of the outstanding debt at
that time at a price agreed to and known in advance, which consists of a doliar component and a
Japanese yen component, and which as of the transaction date, in the amount of USD 40 million.
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B.

(19)

Changes to Company loans in the reported period and after the date of the statement of
financtal position: (continued)

The financing consists of a loan amounting to USD 98 million from a foreign bank, backed by an
insurance policy, AFIC Non-Payment Insurance ("the insurance policy") from Aircraft Finance
Insurance Consortium (AFIC), a consortium of insurers that provides insurance policies to banks
that finance the purchase of aircraft, plus a fee of USD 4 millien to the insurance policy issuer,
for as term of 12 years ("the loan"), and an additional USD 24 million, provided to the SPC in
JPY by a Japanese company.

The loan bears 3-month LIBOR-based interest rate plus a margin of 0.5%-1.5% to be repaid in
quarterly installments for a 12-year period from the loan origination date which, subject to the
repayment of the outstanding debt, as stated, will mature after a period of 10 years.

The financing transaction will be secured, inter alia, through an insurance policy, a lien on the
aircraft, an assignment of the Company's rights in connection with the aircraft insurance policies,
the Company's rights in the lease agreement with the Japanese SPC, Boeing's warranty for the
aircraft, and Rolls Royce's warranty for the aircraft's engines.

The agreements include customary clauses in these types of transactions, such as: an option for
the financers to pre-payment of the loan in the event of a breach specified in the agreements or
in case the Company breached its obligations pursuant to other agreements in which an insurance
policy is provided, or in case of a breach of other agreements above a certain amount, as agreed
between the parties (cross-default). The loan does not include an undertaking to comply with
financial covenants.

The Company will not have a pre-payment option, except in cases that are customary in this type
of transactions, such as: increased financing costs paid te the bank, changes in the fax imposed
pursuant to the financing transaction, or breach by the Japanese SPC, subject to an agreed payment
under the financing transaction.

In February 2020, subsequent to the financial position statement date, the Company signed
agreements to receive financing in the amount of USD 122 million plus a commission ("the
Agreements” and "the Financing", respectively) for the purchase of a Dreamliner 787-8 aircraft,
which is the eighth aircraft purchased from Boeing (the fourth of this model), and is the sixteenth
and final aircraft expected to be delivered to the Company as part of the procurement plan in
March 2020 ("the Aircraft"). Due to the Corona Virus crisis, by the report issue date, the Company
has not taken delivery of the Aircrafi.

The financing transaction will be conducted through a JOLCO legal structure, pursuant to which
the aircraft is held by a special purpose company (SPC) in Japan, and after 10 years will be
formally transferred to the Company's ownership, subject to payment of the outstanding debt at
that time at a price agreed to and known in advance, which consists of a dollar component and a
Japanese yen component, and which as of the transaction date, in the amount of USD 40 million.
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B.

(a1

Changes to Company loans in the reported period and after the date of the statement of
financial position: (continued)

The financing will consist of a loan amounting to USD 98 million from a foreign bank, backed
by an insurance policy, AFIC Non-Payment Insurance("the insurance policy") from Aircraft
Finance Insurance Consortium (AFIC), a consortium of insurers that provides insurance policies
to banks that finance the purchase of aircraft, plus a fee of USD 4 million to the insurance policy
issuer, for a term of 12 years ("the loan™), and an additional USD 24 million, to be provided to
the SPC in JPY by a Japanese company.

The loan bears 3-month LIBOR-based interest rate plus a margin of 0.5%-1.5% to be repaid in
quarterly installments for a 12-year period from the loan origination date which, subject to the
repayment of the outstanding debt, as stated, will mature after a period of 10 years.

The financing transaction will be secured, inter alia, through an insurance policy, a lien on the
aircraft, an assignment of the Company's rights in connection with the aircraft insurance policies,
the Company's rights in the lease agreement with the Japanese SPC, Boeing's warranty for the
aircraft, and Rolls Royce's warranty for the aircrafi's engines.

The agreements include customary clauses in these types of transactions, such as: an option for
the financers to pre-payment of the loan in the event of a breach specified in the agreements or
in case the Company breached its obligations pursuant to other agreements in which an insurance
policy is provided, or in case of a breach of other agreements above a certain amount, as agreed
between the parties (cross-default).

The loan does not include an undertaking to comply with financial covenants.

The Company will not have a pre-payment option, except in cases that are customary in this type
of transactions, such as: increased financing costs paid to the bank, changes in the tax imposed
pursuant to the financing transaction, or breach by the Japanese SPC, subject to an agreed payment
under the financing transaction.

The original aircraft delivery date was in March 2020. Due to the Corona Virus crisis, by the
report issue date, the Company has not received this aircraft nor the loan for it, as of the report
issue date, the Company is in negotiations with the lenders on this matter. The loan to finance
advance payments paid by the Company for this aircraft was extended through June 30, 2020,

In February 2020, subsequent to the financial position statement date, the Company signed
agreements to receive financing in the amount of USD 125 million plus a commission ("the
Agreements” and "the Financing", respectively) for the purchase of a Dreamliner 787-8 aircraft,
which is the seventh aircraft purchased from Boeing (the third of this model), and is the fifteenth
aircraft that the Company received as part of the procurement of 16 Dreamliner airceraft and which
was delivered during February 2020 ("the Aircraft").
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C.55

B.

Changes to Company loans in the reported period and after the date of the statement of
financial position: (continued)

The financing transaction will be conducted through a legal structure called "Japanese Operating
Lease with a Call Option" (JOLCO) pursuant to which the aircraft is held by a special purpose
company (SPC) in Japan, and after 10 years will be formally transferred to the Company's
ownership, subject to payment of the outstanding debt at that time at a price agreed to and known
in advance, which consists of a dollar component and a Japanese yen component, and which as
of the transaction date, in the amount of USD 44 million.

The financing will consist of a loan in the amount of USD} 106 million from a foreign bank plus
a commission of USD 8 million payable to United Kingdom Export Finance ("UKEF"-
Government agency to promeote exports from England) for a period of 12 years ("the Loan") and
an additional amount of USD 19 million in Japanese yven, which will be provided to the SPC by
the Japanese company.

The loan bears 3-month LIBOR-based interest rate plus a margin of 0% to 1% to be repaid in
quarterly installments for a 12-year period from the loan origination date which, subject to the
repayment of the outstanding debt, as stated, will mature after a period of 10 years.

The loan will be secured by a UKEF guarantee and by a lien on the aircraft, assignment of the
Company's rights in connection with the aircraft insurance, the Company's rights under the lease
with the SPC and the warranty provided by Boeing for the aircraft and by Roll Royce for the
engines.

The agreements include customary clauses in these types of transactions, such as: an option for
the financers to prepay the loan in the event of a breach specified in the agreements or in case the
Company breached its obligations pursuant to other agreements (cross-default). The loan does
not include an undertaking to comply with financial covenants.

The Company will not have a pre-payment option, except in cases that are customary in this type
of transactions, such as: increased financing costs paid to the bank, changes in the tax imposed
pursuant to the financing transaction, or breach by the Japanese SPC, subject to an agreed payment
under the financing transaction.

Credit features, collateral and loan to collateral ratio:

Some of the credit agreements (which are not included under "reportable borrowing” pursuant to
ISA directives) stipulate that the ratio of outstanding debt balance to the bank to the market value
of the pledged aircraft may not exceed 80% (see table below). Compliance with this ratio shall be
measured annually {for some of the agreements — semi-annually), based on certain internaticnal
professional publications agreed with regard to market value of the aircraft. It was further
stipulated that should the actual collateral ratio will be lower than the aforementioned, the
Company would provide additional collateral or would repay early the liabilities to banking
corporations, in order to meet the requisite ratio. As of December 31, 2019, the Company is in
compliance with the required ratio of loans to collateral.
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Note 13 — Loans from banking corporations and others (continued)

.56

C.

Credit features, collateral and loan to collateral ratio: (continued)

The Corona Virus crisis also resulted in lower valuations of aircraft world-wide. Therefore, the
impairment of aircraft values, used as collateral to secure loans obtained by the Company from
Israeli banks for purchase of aircraft (loans that do not constitute "reportable credit”), resulted in
failure to comply with financial covenants for LTV ratio. In conformity with the loan agreements,
failure to comply with the required ratio gives banks the right to receive deposits, estimated at
USD 30 million as of the report issue date. The Company has applied to these banks for waiver
requests for compliance with the aforementioned ratio for the duration of the crisis.

Below are details of the Company's financing sources, collateral provided against loans and, as
applicable, required ratio of outstanding balance to collateral value:

Requirement
for a ratio of
Qutstanding outstanding
balance as of Aircraft and reserve balance to the
Financing source December 31, 2019 engines as collateral value of collatera}
USD in thousands
Three 777-200 aircraft
Three 737-800 aircraft
Local bank (1) 60,363 One 737-900 aircraft 80%
Lacal banks 56,375 Two 737-900 aircraft 80%

Three 777-200 aircraft

Four spare engines

Two 787-9 aircraft

One upgrade to aircraft

Foreign banks 395,426 fleet —

One 737-900 aircraft

Three 737-800 aircraft

One 787-9 aircraft

Foreign banks (2) 289,400 One 787-8 aircraft -
One 787-9 aircraft

Foreign banks (3) 272,558 One 787-8 aircraft -

Bonds issued by SPC (4) 93,470 Four 737-900 aircraft -

1) A cross-default mechanism exists between the various loans of the same banking institution.
2) A cross-default mechanism exists between the loans provided by the different lenders and
secured by EXIM or UKEF guarantees.
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Note 13 — Loans from banking corporations and others (continued)

C. Credit features, collateral and loan to collateral ratio: (continued)

3) A cross-default mechanism exists between the loans secured by AFIC insurance policy from a
consortium of insurers that provides insurance policies to banks that finance the purchase of
aircraft.

4) Loans taken to finance aircraft and were financed by bonds issued by SPCs that are not owned
by the Company, and are secured by EXIM, which is a bank owned by the US government, with
the source of the liability being principal and interest payments made to the SPC by the
Company. If the bonds are not adequately repaid by the Company, and the EXIM collateral is
realized, EXIM shall dispose of the pledged aircraft and repay the outstanding balance of the
bonds.

To the extent that the proceeds from the sale of the aircraft will be insufficient to cover the
amount of the collateral, the Company will be required to repay the outstanding debt to EXiM.
It is noted that there is a cross-default between these loans and the loans specified in comment
(2) above.

It should be noted that some of the existing loans as of December 31, may be pre-paid by the
Company, as is customary. Moreover, some of the loan agreements signed by the Company
confer on the bank the right to call for immediate repayment of the outstanding balances of loans
provided by said bank, upon occurrence of certain events such as a merger or transfer of control
conducted without prior written consent of the banking corporation, or upon occurrence of other,
standard events customary for financing transactions.

D.  Fair value of long-term loans from baoking corporations bearing fixed interest:
Carrying value Fair value (1)
As of December 31 As of December 31
2019 2018 2019 2018
USD in USD in USD in USD in

thousands thousands thousands thousands

Long-term dollar loans with

fixed interest 297,767 225,716 * 302,050 217,935 *

(a) The fair value of these loans is calculated as the present value of cash flows discounted
using an interest rate of 3.26% as of December 31, 2019 (as of December 31, 2018: 3.21%),
which are the market rates for loans with similar characteristics (level 2 —based on observed

data).

* Reclassified
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E. Liquidity risk:

The table below lists the contractual maturities of Company obligations for purchasing fixed
assets, principal and interest payments for loans and minimum leasing fees for aircraft leases and
other leases. The table has been compiled based on non-discounted cash flows, based on the
contractual date on which the Company is required to settle its obligations. For derivative
financial instruments, see Note 18 below. For more information about the Company's capacity to

repay its obligations, see Note 1.
Year
Year Year Year Year Year 2025
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 onwards Total

USD, million

Future liabilities for aircraft

and engines not yet delivered

as of the report date

Future payments 186 - - — — — 186
Repayment of loans for

financing advance payments for

aircraft ("PDP") 62 — — — — — 62
Long-term loans received (1) (259) — — — - — (259)
Total an - - - - - (a1

Current principal payments for
existing loans as of the report

date 136 126 111 112 106 574 1,165
Loans yet to be received as of
the report date, see above 9 17 17 17 18 181 259

Total principal payments of
outstanding loans taken to

finance aircraft 145 143 128 129 124 755 1,424
Total principal payments
with respect to lease liabilities 95% 94 94 90 80 570 1,033

Payments that will be

included in the statement of

income and therefore included

in cash flow from operating:

Interest payments on

outstanding loans as of the

report date 37 29 25 21 17 72 201
Interest payments on loans not

vet received as of the report

date 6 5 5 4 4 19 43
Interest payments with respect

to lease liabilities 47 42 38 34 29 98 288
Total 90 76 68 59 50 189 532

(1) Long-term loans received for financing of the procurement plan, as set forth in Note 9 above.
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C.59

A.  Accounting policy:

(1)

2

Post-employment benefits:

Post-employment benefits include severance pay liabilities, including retirement bonus for
senior pilots, redemption of sick leave, adjustment bonus for senior employees and certain
benefits for Company retirees. These benefits also include pension payments for certain
local employees in the USA and in the UK. Some of the Company's post-employment
benefits are defined contribution plans and some — defined benefit plans.

Expenses in respect of Company liability to deposit funds to a defined contribution plan
are recognized on the income statement upon provision of employment services for which
the Company is liable to make said deposit.

Expenses in respect of defined benefit plans are recognized on the income statement based
on the projected unit credit method, using actuarial estimates. The present value of
Company obligations in respect of defined benefit plans is determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows from the plan by market yield of investment grade corporate
debentures denominated in the currency in which the plan benefits would be paid, with a
term to maturity approximately equal to the anticipated plan settlement dates.

In conformity with the Company's accounting policy, the net interest cost (after offsetting
the return on plan assets) is recognized on the income statement under Payroll Expenses.
Actuarial pain and loss are charged to other comprehensive income when incurred would
not be re-classified to the income statement at a later date.

Assets of the various plans (such as the central severance pay fund) are measured at fair
value. Interest income for plans' assets is determined based on the discount rate for the
appropriate liabilities and is charged to the income statement under Net Interest Cost. The
difference between interest income on plans' assets and the actual return on plans' assets is
charged to other comprehensive income and would not be re-classified to the income
statemnent at a later date.

Other long-term employee benefits:

Other long-term employee benefits are benefits that are payable in over 12 months from
the end of the period in which the qualifying service was provided.

Other employee benefits include utilization and redemption of paid leave and rest days,
study bonus for employees’ children and jubilee bonus. These benefits are recognized and
measured in the same way as post-employment benefits, with actuarial gain and loss with
respect thereto charged to the income statement when incurred, rather than to other
comprehensive income.

*
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Note 14 — Liabilities with respect to employee benefits (continued)

ceo0

(3)

)

(3)

Short-term employee benefits:

Short-term employee benefits that are expected to be fully settled within 12 months after
the end of the year in which the employee rendered the qualifying service.

Short-term employee benefits at the Company include Company liability in respect of
current wages. These benefits are charged to the income statement when incurred.

Benefits with respect to early retirement programs:

Benefits with respect to early retirement programs are recognized when the Company is
practically obligated to provide such benefits to employees, other than against material
future service by said employees. The liability amount is determined based on the present
value of cash flows expected with respect to said liability.

Regarding critical accounting considerations and key sources for uncertainty estimates
used in determining the value of the liability in the Financial Statements, see Note 2(c)(3).
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E]l Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 14 — Liabilities with respect to employee benefits (continued)
C. Severance pay benefits to employees in Israel:

(1) The Company’s obligations in respect of severance pay in Israel (for permanent
employees under the collective agreement):
The Company's work agreements, Israeli labor law and the Severance Pay Law, 1963
require that the Company pay severance pay to employees upon retirement or dismissal.

Regulation of retirement payments and severance pay of Company employees:
Beginning in September 1992, the social benefits of part of the Company’s employees have
been regulated within the context of a designated pension agreement. The agreement
stipulates that the Company's payments to the pension fund and an approved fund
(executive insurance or provident fund) for an employee joining the pension arrangement
will come in lieu of its severance pay obligation to that employee, pursuant to Section 14
of the Severance Pay Law, 1963, for that part of the salary and for that period as to which
the payments were made. Usually, employees who subsequently received permanent status
in the Company were then obligated to join the plan. It is also noted that workers joining
the Company starting September 1992 have signed Section 14 as noted above (whether
they are regular employees, temporary or senior executives).

Defined deposit plan:

Accordingly, the current deposits in the pension funds and in policies in insurance
companies exempt the Company from any additional obligations to employees, and
regarding senior employees who joined the pension agreement in 1992 — the exemption in
question is for periods for which deposits only were made.

Defined benefit plan:

Regarding the period between the start of the employee’s work at the Company and the
employee joining the pension plan, the employees are entitled to severance pay in
accordance with their salary upon retiring from the Company for the number of years in
the relevant period. Employees who had not joined the pension agreement as stated are
entitled to severance pay to the level of their salaries upon retirement from the Company
for all their years of employment at the Company.

(2) Arrangements and plans to secure retirement benefits and severance pay (plan’s
assets):

Pursuant to the provisions of the collective agreement, since January 1983, the Company
deposits 8.33% of'the current salary of employees in provident funds for severance at Israeli
banks. The deposit is in the Company’s name.

Since the Company did not make provisions for severance pay with a provident fund until
January 1983, and as of January 1983 severance benefits were paid to retired employees
(also for periods prior to the start of said provisions) from the money accrued in the
provident funds for severance pay, prior to the date of the Company’s privatization (in
2003), no balances remained in the severance provident funds as well as balances to secure
payment of severance benefits to the Company’s employees.
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El Al Israel Airlines Litd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Liabilities with respect to employee benefits (continued)
Severance pay benefits to employees in Israel: (continued)

2) Arrangements and plans to secure retirement benefits and severance pay (plan’s assets):
(continued)

Eligible population and settlement with the State of Israel:

In June 2003, as part of the process of privatizing the Company, an agreement was signed between
the State, the Company and the employees’ association, in which the State and the Company
agreed to take measures to cover the deficit created until that date (NIS 516 million) in addition
to interest and linkage as of this date and until the date of deposit with the funds, and which is
connected to the eligibility of workers who were employed by the Company in 1982 and who
continued to be employed in June 2003 ("the Eligible Employees"). Under this agreement, the
Company opened central compensation funds to which the State and the Company transferred the
immediate proceeds that they received from the sale of securities in the pursuant to the 2003
Prospectus, including consideration of the exercise of the options issued by the State and the
Company within the prospectus.

Following the deposits made by the State and the Company, the deficit in the fund for eligible
employees, as defined in the agreement between the Company and the State that was signed on
the eve of the Company's privatization, was covered in full.

After making the above deposits and fully covering the deficit in the severance pay fund, as
required by the agreement, the Company deposited NIS 32.9 million (as of December 31 2019,
including interest accrued up to the reporting date), which represents the difference between the
proceeds of the issuance from the sale of the State’s shares together with the proceeds frem the
issuance of the Company’s shares and the deficit created in the central compensation funds for
the aforementioned group of “cligible employees”, in a separate account included in short-term
deposits. On the other hand, the Company recognizes the provision for the obligation to the State
of Israel at the same sum, due to the fact that the Company is studying the existence of limitations
regarding its ability to make use of the above balance of the consideration according to the
agreement with the State and with the workers' representatives.

On May 3, 2020, after the date of the statement of financial position, the Tel Aviv District Court
for Labor Affairs issued a partial verdict, whereby the Court approved the Company's request to
release part of the excess in the aforementioned central severance pay funds. In conformity with
this partial verdict, the Court approved the release of NIS 105 million to the Company. Note that
as of April 30, 2020, the excess in the central severance pay funds amounted to NIS 335 million,
afier completion of transfer of NIS 59 million from the central severance pay fund to individual
severance pay funds of the eligible employees, to secure full payment of severance pay to which
they would be entitled by law through termination of their employment (subject to keeping a non-
material amount in the central funds, to make up the severance pay by law, should it be required,
based on actuarial calculation, through termination of their employment). The eligible employees
with respect to these funds are those employees who were employed by the Company in 1982 and
remained thus employed in June 2003,
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 14 — Liabilities with respect to employee benefits (continued)
C. Severance pay benefits to employees in Israel: {continued)

2) Arrangements and plans to secure retirement benefits and severance pay {plan’s assets):
{continued)

Today, the Company employs 250 eligible employees among all Company employees. On
May 11, 2020, after the date of the statement of financial position, the National Labor Court
issued a verdict, after the employee representation filed an appeal of the aforementioned
interim verdict.

According to the verdict issued by the National Labor Court, an order was issued to the central
severance pay fund, to transfer to the Company the aforementioned NIS 105 million. The fund
withdrawal was approved by the Tax Assessor. Note that in 2014 and 2015, the State brought
claims against the Company with regard to funds in these severance pay funds, as set forth in
Note 15.B(24) below. The aforementioned release of NIS 105 million was made with consent
of the State.

(2) Arrangements and programs to secure retirement and severance pay (plan assets):
(continued)

Special collective agreement for long-term employees for the deposit of severance pay
in a fund in the employee’s name:

In accordance with the agreement signed on December 22, 2011, following a legislative
arrangement that came into effect on January 1, 2011, and which no longer permits the
deposit of severance pay in the main compensation fund, for long-term employees who had
severance pay money deposited for them in a central fund as of December 31, 2010, money
shall be deposited for them as of January 1, 2011 to the severance component in the
provident fund in the employee’s name

(3) Retirement bonus to veteran pilots:

Senior pilots reaching the age of 65, when they can no longer continue to serve as active
pilots pursuant to the Aviation Regulations, and who do not serve as instructors and
supervisors, conclude their employment with the Company and are entitled to a retirement
bonus (in addition to the severance pay to which they are entitled by law), at the amounts
specified in the agreement.

{4) Managers and senior officers:

Senior employees, including senior officers are employed under personal labor agreements,
while long-term employees are entitled to additional severance pay on top of the severance
benefits paid by law (" secondary severance") for the period of their employment, in excess
of the severance pay required by law, equal to one month per year for the duration of their
employment, based on their last wages. It is clarified that new senior officers joining the
Company are not entitled to such additional compensation. This liability is funded by
designated personal funds.
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 14 - Liabilities with respect to employee benefits (continued)
C. Severance pay benefits to employees in Israel: (continued)

2) Arrangements and plans to secure retirement benefits and severance pay (plan’s assets):
continued

(5) The financing policy:

The Company’s severance benefits are primarily paid from the plan’s assets, i.e. from the
central funds and the employees’ personal funds. The Company’s central funds as well as
the personal funds of employees are managed by leading investment houses.

D. Redemption of sick leave:
Permanent employees (except for employees under personal contracts), upon their mandatory
retirement from the Company, or retiring above the age of 45 under conditions that entitle them
to compensation, are also entitled to redemption of sick days according to a conversion formula
provided by the collective agreement. [t is noted that the maximum permitted accrual of sick days
for permanent employees is higher than that stipulated by the Law, and depends on the date they
commence employment with the Company. This obligation is paid from the Company’s resources.

E.  Pension funds of some local Company employees in the USA and in the UK;

Some local employees of the Company in the USA and in the UK are enrolled in pension plans
("the plans”) whereby the Company pays the pension cost of employees in those offices. The
pension cost is calculated as the product of "eligibility years" for pension and a percentage of the
effective salary for pension calculation. Typically, employees who retire aged 65 or higher are
entitled to full benefits. The pension fund assets are managed by a special entity and are mostly
invested in negotiable securities. The Company has committed to cover any potential shortfall in
the value of fund assets compared to actuarial obligations.

As for the pension in the UK, as from 2005 this fund no longer accepts new employee enroliments,
and no longer allows any additional accrual of rights in this fund. The pension fund in the USA
is also closed for new enrollments, but rights may still be accrued for employees already enrolled.

Obligations are mostly financed by plans’ assets, but in view of the current shortfall in the pension
plans, the Company makes up certain amounts with respect to its obligations out of its own
resources.

F. Benefits for pensioners:
Company employees are entitled, after retirement and subject to seniority, to airline tickets in
conformity with Company policy and to holiday gifts.

G.  Other post-employment benefits:
Other benefits include an adjustment bonus, to which some senior Company employees are
entitled. Moreover, in some overseas Company offices, local Company employees are entitled to
severance pay pursuant to local laws and pursuant to agreements with the Company. Other
benefits also include liabilities with respect to severance pay for subsidiaries.
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E1 Al Israel Airlines Lid.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 14 - Liabilities with respect to employee benefits (continued)

D.  Redemption of sick leave:
H. Multi-employer plan at subsidiary:

The subsidiary Bornstein Caterers Inc, (USA) participates in a multi-employer pension plan for some of
its employees, to which the subsidiary contributed USD 425 thousand in 2019. The subsidiary's share
of un-funded plan obligations amounts to USD 5.7 million, such that should the subsidiary cease to
make current contributions, or should it retire from the plan, it would be liable for said amount. The
subsidiary intends to continue making contributions to the plan, hence no liability with respect thereto
was recognized on these financial statements.

I Details of quantitative effect with respect to defined benefit plans on the financial statements:
Severance
pay in Unused sick Pension Benefits to Other
Israel leave funds retirees benefits Total
USD in USD in USD in UUSD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands

Amounts recognized on the
income statement with respect
to defined benefit plans:

For the vear ending on December 31, 2019:

Current service cost 6,647 1,762 423 221 1,147 10,200
[nterest cost 2,545 1,118 2,428 522 209 6,912
Return on plan assets based on

discount rate (4,430) - (2,113) — (145) (6,688)
Real returns transferred from

severance pay to benefits 113 - - — — 113
Exchange rate differentials (4,887) 2,837 397 835 265 (553)
Other changes - 34 - — (35 ()
Total (12) 5,751 1,135 1,578 1,531 9,983

For the year ending on December 31, 2018:

Current service cost 7,272 1,786 570 221 806 10,655
Interest cost 1,997 891 2,323 453 228 5,892
Return on the plan’s assets

based on discount rate (3,368) - (1,859) — (134) (5,361
Real retumns transferred from

severance pay to benefits 23 — - — - 23
Exchange rate differentials 4,837 (2,901) (459) (819) (236) 422
Other changes - (14) - (2) 19 3
Total 10,761 (238) 575 (147) 683 11,634
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 14 - Liabilities with respect to employee benefits {(continued}

I. Details of quantitative effect with respect to defined benefit plans on the financial
statements: (continued)

For the year ending on December 31, 2017:

Current service cost 8,600 1,997 550 325 721 12,193
Interest cost 2,785 1,046 2,544 375 247 6,997
Return on the plan’s assets

based on discount rate (4,664) — (1,882) - (153) (6,699)
Real returns transferred from

severance pay to benefits 22 — - — - 22
Exchange rate differentials {6,420) 3,830 699 726 198 (967)
Other changes (108) - - - 276 168
Total 215 6,873 1,911 1,426 1,289 11,714

Expenses with respect to defined benefit plans are included under the following income statement items:

For the year ending on December 31

2019 2018 2017
USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands
Operating expenses (see also section C(3) above) 9,093 10,481 10,665
Selling expenses 253 328 298
Administrative and general expenses 637 825 751
Total 9,983 11,634 11,714
C67 » - 2019
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El Al Israel Airlines Litd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 14 — Liabilities with respect to employee benefits (continued)

c.70

I. Details of quantitative effect with respect to defined benefit plans on the financial
statements: (continued)

Other actuarial assumptions:

The principal actuarial assumptions (in addition to the interest rates applied to quantitative data
as detailed above) used by the Company in order to estimate the commitments and quantitative
impacts below as set forth above, are as follows:

The projected rate of increase in wages is between 3%-5.5%.

Should the forecast wages increase rate be higher by one percentage point than the rate
accounted for in calculating the obligation, post-employment benefit liabilities {other then
pension) would increase by USD 16.7 million.

The aforementioned sensitivity analysis is based on reasonably potential changes to
actuarial assumptions as of the end of the reported period.

The sensitivity analysis does not take into account any co-dependency between the
assumptions.

The turnover rate is estimated at between 1.1%-4.4%, depending on the age of the
population (with no change from 2018).

3. Other long-term employee benefits:

(1)

@

Paid vacation days:

In accordance with the Annual Vacation Law, 1951 and pursuant to the Company’s
employment agreements, Company employees are entitled to a number of paid vacation
days for each work year. Employees who have left the Company prior to making use of the
balance of his accrued vacation days are entitled to payment for the balance of these
vacation days upon leaving. In addition, certain Company employees are entitled to days
of rest they accunulate and that can also be accumulated and redeemed upon retirement.
The Company’s vacation commitments also include its commitments for these days.

Other long-term benefits:

These benefits primarily include a benus for academic studies of employees' children and
jubilee bonus payable to employees who reach 20, 30 and 40 years of service with the
Company, who are entitled to a gift presented at the annual "Decades Ceremony” held by
the Company.

*
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El Al Israel Airlines Litd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 14 — Liabilities with respect to employee benefits (continued)
J. Other long-term employee benefits: (continued)

(3) Details of quantitative effect with respect to other long-term employee benefits on the

financial statements:

For the year ending on December 31, 2019:
Opening balance

Amounts recognized on the income statement with respect
to defined benefit plans:

Current service cost

Interest cost

Exchange rate differentials

Actuarial loss (gains)*

Total

Benefits paid

Closing balance

Average duration of liabilities (in years)

For the year ending on December 31, 2018:
Opening balance

Vacation and Other long-

rest term benefits
USD in USD in

thousands thousands

44,733 3,990
46,369 188
1.417 142
3,856 3137
5,387 2599
57,029 966
(42,250) (367)
59,512 4,589
8.5 11.3
48,799 4,429

Amounts recognized on the income statement with respect to defined benefit plans:

Current service cost
Interest cost

Exchange rate differentials
Actuarial loss {gains)

Total

Benefits paid

Closing balance

Average duration of liabilities (in years)

For the year ended on December 31, 2017:
Opening balance

Amounts recognized on the income statement with respect to defined benefit plans:

Current service cost
Interest cost
Exchange rate differentials

Actuarial loss {gain)

Total

Benefits paid

Closing balance

Average duration of liabilities {in years)

39,093 186
1,208 128
(3,491) (306)
(2,322) 2
34,488 10
(38,554) (449)
44,733 3,990
8.5 11.7
42,682 4,116
32,368 202
1,352 166
4,615 400
5,443 (51)
43,778 717
(37,661) (404
48,799 4,429
8.7 12.3

* The actuarial loss is primarily due to decrease in discount rates.

4
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 14 — Liabilities with respect to employee benefits (continued)

J.

c72

Other long-term employee benefits: (continued)

)

Expenses with respect to paid leave and rest days are included under the following income
statement items:

For the year ending on December 31

2019 2018 2017
USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands
Operating expenses 45,794 27,694 35,154
Selling expenses 3,194 1,931 2,452
Administrative and general expenses 8,041 4,863 6,173
Total 57,029 34,488 43,779

Early retirement plans:

As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands
Obligation with respect to retirement plans 2,981 3,502
Plan assets for financing of obligation (2,909) (4,071)
Net liability (asset) 72 (569)

Additional information:

)

Agreement with the pilots

On October 29, 2018, the Company, the employee representation and the New Histadrut
HaOvdim Haclalit signed an agreement, reflecting the agreements reached by the Company
and the pilots, effective as from November 1, 2018 through October 31, 2024 ("the
agreement” and "the agreement term", respectively). These negotiations were due to the
need for improved efficiency and adjustments to pilot operations, in view of the amendment
of the Aviation Regulations (Aircraft operation and flying rules), 1981 ("the regulations™),
issued on May 10, 2016, which became effective on October 29, 2018 ("the amendment to
the regulations"). The amendment to the regulations adopts in Israeli Law the current
stipulations existing in US regulations with regard to Flight and Duty Time Limitations
(FTL), such as minimum rest periods between flights and so forth. The agreement stipulates
measures that would allow for more efficient commercial operations in the new era of
aviation regulation and for benefits — for both the Company and the pilots, and should allow
Company operations to grow, Company operations to be more efficient, with adaptation to
the requirements set forth in the regulations, as well as improvement to pilots’ quality of
living.

-+ 2019
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 14 — Liabilities with respect to employee benefits (continued)

L. Additional information: (continued)
(1) Agreement with the pilots (continued)

The agreement also stipulates arrangements with regard to pilot remuneration, including
measures to hedge the budget framework for cost of pilots’ wages, arrangements with
regard to discontinuation of certain variable pay components (such as various
compensation for flight operations), in exchange for increase in fixed pay, arrangements
with regard to gross-up, establishment of incentives for pilots with respect to achievement
of their personal flight plan and setting up measures for bonus and pay increase contingent
on earnings. The agreement also stipulates a quota for wet leased aircraft, agreed by the
pilots, mechanism for settlement of disputes, commitment by the pilots not to take any
industrial action during the term of the agreement and so forth. The agreement was
approved by the Company Board of Directors, the employee representation and the New
Histadrut HaOvdim Haclalit after being approved by a majority of Company pilots.

Note that this agreement has no material effect on balances of liabilities with respect to
employee benefits, primarily due to adjustment provisicons in place in the agreement, that
exclude the fixed pay raise, subject of this agreement, with regard to calculation of these
liabilities.

(2) For more information about current liabilities with respect to employee benefits provided
to key managers, see Note 22.E.

Note 15 — Provisions and contingent liabilities

Cc73

In accordance with IAS 37, provisions are included with respect to lawsuits and legal proceedings,
expected to be subject to negative cash flow (with a likelihood of 50% or higher) which Company
management believes based, inter alia, on the opinion of legal counsel, to be appropriate under the
circumstances.

Therefore, the financial statements include appropriate provisions with respect to such lawsuits and legal
proceedings brought against the Company, which Company management believes are more likely than
not to be upheld, even though the Company denies such claims.

Regarding critical accounting considerations and key sources for uncertainty estimates used in
determining the value of the liability in the Financial Statements, see Note 2.C(2).

As of December 31, 2019, legal claims were filed against the Company in the total amount of USD
1,182 million, as well as unquantified legal claims in monetary amounts. For these claims, the Company
recognized a provision in the financial statements in the amount of USD 23.7 million. In management's
opinion, based on the opinion of its legal counsel, it is not expected that the Company will have exposure
to additional loss in respect of the aforesaid claims above the amounts of provisions included in the
financial statements.

+ 2019



-------

) DOODAG
Jetesresreisyetslels L
- ‘."A.!.:.:’t’:‘:°:‘:': . : ‘ . LT

El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 15 — Provisions and contingent liabilities {continued)

A.  Changes in provisions:

State of Israel with
respect to dispute
over excess in
severance pay fund

for eligible Other
employees™ provisions Total
USD in USD in
USD in thousands thousands thousands

Balance as of January 1, 2018 9,426 29,580 39,006
Additional provisions recognized
(including adjustment of existing
provisions) - 3,213 3,213
Amounts used and de-recognized
during the year — (22,671) (22,671)
Effect of exchange rates (686) (309) (995)
Balance as of December 31, 2018 8,740 9,813 18,553
Other provisions recognized
(including updates to existing
provisions) 7,659 7,659
Amounts used and de-recognized
during the year (3.569) (3,569)
Effect of exchange rates 777 321 1,098
Balance as of December 31, 2019 9,517 14,224 23,741

*  See Note 14.C.(2) with regard to liabilities in respect of employee benefits.

’
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Free Translation of the Hebrew Language Financial Report - Hebrew Wording Binding

El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 15 — Contingent liabilities and provisions (continued)

B.

Details of major legal proceedings: (continued)

Class action cases that have been concluded:

as)

(16)

(17}

(18)

c.83

In February 2019, the Court issued a verdict confirming the motion to withdraw and denying
the claim fited by the Israeli Consumer Affairs Council, amounting to USD 40.5 million,
which alleged that the Company operated in contravention of the Airport Licensing
Regulations (Transfer, assignment and redemption of transport document in scheduled
flights), 1983, by setting restrictive conditions for some tickets with regard to ticket
redemption, transfer or assignment. It is noted that in respect of this lawsuit, the Company
did not recognize a provision in its financial statements and did not compensate the
applicants or their attorneys for their withdrawal from the class action.

Further to Note 15.B.(3) to the 2018 financial statements, regarding a motion for class action
status, amounting to NIS 83.5 million, alleging a breach of obligation pursuant to the
Disabled Persons® Equality Act, to operate a hearing accessory system in the Ben Gurion
Airport, in March 2019 a verdict was issued approving the settlement agreement filed by the
parties, in a negligible amount.

Further to note 15(b)(14) of annual financial statements for 2018, in connection with a
motion to certify a class action, in the amount of NIS 300 million, which claimed that the
Company and Diners, in their advertisements, are deliberately misleading the holders of
Diners Play Card, and do not specify that there is a limit on the monthly number of points
that may be accumulated when using the Card to make payments to government ministries,
in May 2019, subsequent to the financial position statement date, the court issued a verdict
approving the motion to dismiss the certification motion in limine, which was filed by the
Company and Diners and ordered that the motion be stricken and required the applicant to
pay expenses.

Further to Note 15.B.(2) to the 2018 financial statements, regarding a motion for class action
status, filed with and accepted by the district Court in Jerusalem, with respect to information
on the Company's website regarding the conditions for changing and canceling airline
tickets, in June 2019, the Court issued a verdict approving and validating the settlement
agreement reached by the parties. As part of the settiement agreement approved by the court,
it was agreed that the Company would make several changes in the process of purchasing
airline tickets on its website, and the transmission of information to its customers at the end
of the process. In addition, it was agreed that the Company would pay compensation to its
customers, offer a discount on flight ticket changes and pay compensation to the plaintiff
and attorney's fees to his lawyers, in the total amount of NIS 7 million ("the Total Settlement
Amount™). It is noted that an appropriate provision in respect of the Total Settlement
Amount was recognized in the Company's financial statements in previous years. The
verdict does not have a significant impact on the Company's financial results.
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 15 — Contingent liabilities and provisions (continued)

B. Details of major legal proceedings: (continued)

Class action cases that have been concluded:

(19)

(20)

1)

Further to Note 15.B.(18} to the annual financial statements , regarding a motion for class
action status, which was filed against the Company with the Tel Aviv-Jaffa Labor Court,
amounting to NIS 131,609 for the personal claim and NIS 205 million for the class claim,
which alleged that the Company's payment to its aircrew and flight attendants, in foreign
currency, which is defined by the Company as reimbursement of meals and lodging
expenses ("per-diem payments”), constitutes wages rather than reimbursement of costs, and
the provisions of collective agreements defining per-diem payments as reimbursement of
expenses which are not part of the wages, are unlawful and should be canceled, in September
2019 the Court issued a verdict granting the motion to withdraw, which was filed by the
applicants and dismissed the lawsuit. It is noted that in respect of this lawsuit, the Company
did not recognize a provision in its financial statements and did not compensate the
applicants or their attorneys for their withdrawal from the class action.

Further to Note 15.B.(9) to the 2018 annual financial statements, regarding a motion for class

action status, which was filed against the Company with the Tel Aviv District Court ("the
Motion"), according to which the Company and/or its employees are deliberately delaying
flights, while hurting consumers that are forced to waste time waiting on the aircraft or on
the ground, and which claimed personal damages in the amount of NIS 3,000 and class
damages estimated at dozens of million of shekels, in November 2019, subsequent to the
financial position statement date, a verdict was issued in which the Court granted the motion
to withdraw that was filed by the applicants (among others, due to the regulator’s positicn,
which was filed during the proceedings), dismissed the Motion and denied the personal
damages claimed by the plaintiffs. Note that in respect of this lawsuit, the Company did not
recognize a provision on its financial statements and did not compensate the applicants or
their attorneys for their withdrawal from the class action.

Further to Note 15.B.(6) to the 2018 financial statements, regarding El Al flights which, due
to various constraints, were conducted by wet lease (leasing an aircraft with its crew) from a
foreign Company. In September 2019, a signed settlement agreement was filed for approval
by the Court, whereby the parties agreed that for three years, details of flights that use a wet
lease would be listed online, the Company would allow its customers, subject to certain
conditions, to cancel with no fee payable flights announced that they would be conducted
by wet lease, and agreed to allow class members to join the Matmid frequent flyer club at
no cost, or to credit number of club points to class members who are already members of the
Matmid frequent flyer club, at a negligable amount.

CcB84
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 15 — Contingent liabilities and provisions (continued)
B. Details of major legal proceedings: (continued)

Class action cases that have been concluded: (continued)

(22)  In October 2019, a motion for class action status was filed against the Company, amounting
to NIS 150 million, alleging that one or more Company aircraft, including the aircrafi named
"Rishon LeZion", are allegedly old and un-maintained, used by the Company to transport
paying passengers to several destinations, and that flight conditions in these aircraft materially
differ from reasonable conditions and by comparison to other Company aircraft. In January
2020, after the date of the statement of financial position, the Court issued a verdict confirming
the plaintiffs’ withdrawal from the motion and rejected their personal claims. Note that in
respect of this lawsuit, the Company did not recognize a provision on its financial statements.

Details of other major legal proceedings:

(23) InFebruary 2013, the Company received a statement of claim in the amount of NIS 56 million,
which was filed against it with the Tel Aviv District Labor Court by 130 security workers who,
as alleged in the statement of claim, were/are employed by the Company as assistant security
officers sent to various destinations as needed, for flight security duties. The plaintiffs asked
the Court to issue a declaratory relief which will determine that the collective work agreement
regulating the rights of workers at the Company applies to the plaintiffs and to order monetary
remedies for the various salary components. In April 2016 the Company received an amended
statement of claim pursuant to which, inter alia, the amount of the claim was quantified as NIS
86 million, the components of the ¢claim were updated and the number of plaintiffs was now
126. In July 2017, the court issued a verdict dismissing most of the plaintiifs’ allegations,
including their demand to issue a declaratory relief to determine that the collective work
agreement regulating the rights of workers at the Company applies to the plaintiffs, and
approved their entitlement for the payment of several wage components. In May 2019, a
supplementary verdict was issued, determining the amount of wage differences to which the
plaintiffs are entitled in connection with the arguments that were accepted by the Court. In
May 2019, the Company filed an appeal against the verdict with the national court, with respect
to the components imputed to the Company, and at the same time the plaintiffs filed an appeal
with the national court concerning the dismissal of the declaratory relief, as stated, and
regarding the components that were dismissed by the court. In respect of this claim, the
Company recognized a provision based on management's estimate and the opinion of its legal
counsels.

C.85 + 2019
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El Al Israel Airlines Litd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 15 — Contingent liabilities and provisions (continued)
B. Details of major legal proceedings: (continued)
Details of other major legal proceedings: (continued)

(24) In August 2014 a lawsuit was filed against the Company by the State of [srael — Ministry of
Finance with the Central District Court, in the amount of NIS 58 million. The lawsuit deals
with the State’s demand for the restitution of funds transferred as consideration from the
Company’s securities to cover a deficit in the severance pay fund of the Company’s employees
as part of the Company's privatization in 2003. It is noted that the deficit, as defined in the
Agreement, was fully covered in 2007 and there remained a surplus amount between the
proceeds of issuances carried out by the Company and the State and the amount deposited in
the central severance fund for “entitled employees,” as described in the Company’s financial
statements (see Note 14¢.(2)). It was further claimed that the Company received additional
proceeds from the issue of options to Company employees, which was to be transferred to the
aforesaid severance pay fund. Furthermore, the lawsuit includes an injunction for the provision
of accounts regarding the severance pay fund and the claimed deficit.

Regarding a provision made regarding the surplus in the proceeds of the issuance, see note
14(c)(2) above. In line with management's estimates, based on the opinion of its legal
counsels, no additional provision was included in the financial statements.

In March 2015, the Ministry of Finance filed an additional claim against the Company with
the Central District Court in Lod in the amount of NIS 77 million, regarding profits from the
investment of money in the severance pay fund, plus surpluses deriving from accounting
regulations (for a non-quantified amount).

In its lawsuit, the Ministry of Finance claimed that some of the surplus in the severance pay
fund was created prior to the date on which the State was supposed to cover the deficit in the
severance fund; consequently, the amount required by the State to cover the deficit should
have been significantly lower than the amount paid in practice, due to reasons related to profits
from investments in the fund and a change in IFRS. Therefore, a claim was filed for the
reimbursement of these sums,

In March 2016, the Ministry of Finance filed an amended statement of claim against the
Company with the Lod Central District Court in the amount of NIS 125 million. The amended
statement of claim alleges excess deposits as a result of profits from investments in the
severance pay fund and not (as contended in the second original claim from March 2015)
excess deposits as a result of changes in the accounting standards. Regarding the additional
claim, management estimates, based on the opinion of its legal counsels, that it is more likely
than not that the claim will be dismissed.

C86 o + 2019
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El Al Israel Airlines Etd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 15 — Contingent liabilities and provisions (continued)

B.

23)

Cc.87

Details of major legal proceedings: (continued)
Details of other major legal proceedings (continued)

Furthermore, regarding the request of an entity known as the “El Al Workers® Action Committee”
to join the Ministry of Finance's lawsuit as a defendant and the request made by the workers’
union and General Labor Federation in July 2016, the Court decided, with the parties' consent, to
dismiss the Action Committee's motion to join and to grant the motion to join of the workers’
union and the General Labor Federation as formal defendants. The Court ruled that the workers’
union and the General Labor Federation will not be able to make claims regarding their
entitlement to the funds vis-a-vis the Company

[n May 2019, the Ministry of Finance filed an amended statement of claim against the Company
with regard to the second claim, whereby the amount of the second claim was increased, from
NIS 125 million to NIS 133 million, and adding as formal defendants the El Al employee
representation and by the New Histadrut HaOvdim Haclalit as ruled by the Court in July 2016
with regard to adding these as formal defendants and further to the parties’ consent on this matter,
without allowing the formal defendants to make any claims against the Company with regard to
employee eligibility to funds. In August 2019, the Company filed an amended statement of claim.
For a partial verdict dated May 3, 2020, after the date of the statement of financial position,
approving the Company request to release part of the excess in central severance pay funds opened
in conjunction with the privatization of the Company, see Note 14C.(2} above,

In November 2015, a lawsuit was filed against the Company with the Central District Court in
the amount of USD 20 million. The main allegations in the lawsuit concern breach of contract,
damages and unjust enrichment as part of a credit card joint venture in the United States between
the Company’s frequent flyer club and Heritage Affinity Services Ltd., a company registered in
the State of New York, with a wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated in Israel. The Company has
submitted a statement of defense as well as a statement of claim in the amount of USD 1.9 million,
in respect of HAS' debts to the Company, in addition to temperary motions to deposit collateral
and forfeiture. The evidentiary state of this proceeding has been completed, and it is now in the
summation stage. The Company's management believes, based on the opinion of its legal counsel,
that it is more likely than not that the motion will be dismissed.

-— * 2019
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Income tax

Deferred taxes are recognized in respect of temporary differences between the value of assets and
liabilities for tax purposes and their carrying amount in the financial statements. The deferred tax
balances (assets or liabilities) are calculated using the tax rate expected to be in effect upon their
realization, in accordance with tax laws substantively enacted as of December 31, 2019, as set forth
below.

The calculation of deferred taxes does not take into account taxes that would apply in case of realization
of investments in investees, since these temporary differences are under the Company’s control and are
not expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

A. Deferred tax balances:

The composition of deferred tax assets (liabilities) are set forth below:

Balance Recognized on Balance
as of Recognized other as of
January in profit comprehensive December
1, 2019 and loss income 31,2019
USD in USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands thousands
Timing differences:
Fixed Assets (181,038) (24,129) (205,167)
Derivative Financial Instruments 7,274 256 (6,498) 1,032
Provisions, doubtful debt and
liabilities with respect to employee
benefits 12,932 4,284 1,006 18,222
Total (160,832) (19,589) (5,492) (185,913)
Unatilized tax losses and benefits:
Losses for tax purposes * 94,138 ** 37,252 - 131,390
(66,694)
Total ok 17,663 (5,492) (54,523)

c.g8
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Notel6

Income tax (continued)

A. Deferred tax balances: (continued)

Recognized Balance
Balance as of Recognized on other as of
January 1, in profit comprehensive December
2018 and loss income 31,2018
USD in USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands thousands
Timing differences:
Fixed Assets (174.256) (6,782) - (181,038)
Derivative Financial Instruments (4,203) - 11,477 7,274
Provisions, doubtful debt and liabilities
with respect to employee benefits 19,321 (5,624) (765) 12,932
Total (159,138) (12,406) 10,712 (160,832)
Unutilized tax losses and benefits:
Losses for tax purposes 60,698** 28,388 - 89,086
Total (98,440)** 15,982 10,712 {(71,746)

*  The balance of the Company’s carryforward tax losses at the end of 2019 was USD 571.1 million
For the entire amount, the Company recognized a tax asset in its financial statements {at the end of
2018: approx. USD 387.3 million).

#*  See Note 2.D. regarding the effect of adopting IFRS 16 on the balance of deferred tax balances.

C.89 + 2019

IS
4



Free Translation of the Hebrew Language Financial Report - Hebrew Wording Binding

El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Notelée — Income tax (continued)

B. Effective tax:
For the year ending on

December 31
2019 2018 2017
USD in USD in USD in

thousands thousands thousands

Profit (loss) before income tax and before the
Company's share
of associated companies' profits (but incl. revaluation

of Maman options) (77.830) (68,568) 7,774
Statutory tax rate 23% 23% 24%
Tax expense (tax benefit) at statutory tax rates (17,901) (15,77D) 1,866

Additional tax in respect of:

Non-deductible expenses (see Note [5.B.(24) above) 636 271 1,049
Adjustments for changes in tax rates - - {(347)
Other provisions 304 (8hH 480
Total income tax (tax benefit) presented in the

statement of income (16.961) (15,581) 3,048

C. Tax laws applicable to the Company:

(1) Pursuant to the Income Tax Regulations (Rules for Accounting for Foreign Investors
Companies and Certain Partnerships and Setting their Taxable Income), 1986, the results of
the Company and some of its subsidiaries are measured on a dollar basis for tax purposes.
Some of the subsidiaries are assessed jointly with the Company.

(2) The Company is deemed an industrial company under the Law for the Encouragement of
Industry (Taxes), 1969 and, accordingly, is entitled to accelerated depreciation rates on
aircraft and equipment. Pursuant to the Income Tax Regulations - Depreciation, 1941, the
Company is entitled to depreciate the cost of these assets at an annual rate of 30% and for
engines, to depreciate at an annual rate of 40%.

D. Final assessments:
The Company has received tax assessments considered final up to and including the 2002 tax

year. In addition, the Company has tax assessments which are considered final up to and
including the 2014 tax year.

C.90
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 17 — Capital and surplus

A. The Company’s share capital:

Registered Issued and paid up
Ordinary Ordinary
Special share shares Special share shares
NIS 1 par NIS 1 par NIS 1 par NIS 1 par
value value value value
NIS NIS NIS NIS
Balance as of
December 31, 2019
and 2018 1 1,000,000,000 1 495,719,135

B.  The State’s Special Share and the rights related thereto:

On May 18, 2003, the Company allocated a special share to the Government of Israel that cannot
be sold or transferred. This share was designed to protect the State’s vital interests, in accordance
with the following Government resolutions:

«  Maintaining the Company’s existence as an Israeli company, subject to Israeli law;

s Maintaining the operating capability and the flight capability of carrying passengers, and
cargo, above a minimum established level;

s Preventing any hostile interests or entities from harming the vital interests of the State, from
being an interested party in the Company or having any impact in any other way on its
management;

s Maintaining security and safety arrangements as determined by State bodies on behalf of the
State.

In addition, the Government Companies Order (Declaration of Vital Interest to the State in E1 Al
Israel Airlines Ltd.), 5765-2004, provides that the State has a vita! interest in connection with the
Company, to allow the effective use of essential assets (aircraft with a minimum flight capacity,
as defined in the Company’s articles of association), in emergency times or for safety purposes to
secure the continued existence of activity that is essential to the security of the State and the
Company will employ, at all times, Israeli air personnel, and in Israel, Israeli land personnel, that
are trained and licensed as required for the operation of the essential assets - all in the number
that is at least the number required for the continuous and simultaneous operation of all of the
essential assets during an emergency or for security needs As of the signing date of these
consolidated financial statements, the provisions of the Order do not require the Company to make
any change in the manner of operation or any change in the composition of its employees.

C.91 + 2019
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 17 — Capital and surplus (continued)
C. Dividends:

Pursuant to the Company’s dividend distribution policy, the Company distributes dividends from
time to time, at the discretion of the Board of Directors and subject to the Company's needs.

The implementation of this policy is subject to the provisions of any relevant law as well as
assessments made by the Company's board of directors regarding the Company’s ability to meet
its existing and future liabilities and taking into account the Company's existing and future
liquidity, business plans and activities. The adoption of this policy does not derogate from the
authority of the Company's board of directors to decide on a change, amendment and/or abolition
of the dividend policy that established in said resolution, and/or to approve additional distributions
as permitted by the law and/or to decide on a reduction in distributions or to preclude them
altogether, taking into account the Company’s liquidity, activities and changing business
condition from time to time.

Note 18 — Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
A.  Management of financial risks and their origin:

The Company uses a range of derivative financial instruments to manage exposure to changes in
the price of jet fuel, which has a direct impact on the Company’s operating expenses, as well as
exposure to exchange rates, largely arising from the Company’s salary expenses, which are mostly
in Israeli currency. The Company also has certain exposure, limited in scope, to other currencies,
mainly due to the surplus of receipts over payments in these currencies.

The Company’s board of directors is responsible for approving a market risk management policy
and supervises the implementation of the policy through the Market Risk Management
Committee. The Board of Directors is responsible for setting and revising policy. The Committee
is responsible for defining and updating the policy, supervising the policy’s implementation and
issuing instructions/approvals for Company management to deviate from implementing the policy
according to various developments (this Committee receives monthly reports from the CFO). The
Company’s CEOQO is responsible for making decisions regarding implementing hedging
agreements in practice in accordance with the Committee’s policy and guidelines.

The Company's finance division provides services to its business activities, provides access 1o
local and international financial markets, supervises and manages the financial risks involved in
the Company's activities by way of internal reports that analyze levels of exposure to risk
according to their degree and strength.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s derivative instruments are designated as cash flow
hedges for accounting purposes. The hedging ratios are documented by the Company on the date
of entry into the hedge transaction. The documentation identifies the hedging instrument, the
hedged item, the hedged risk and the applied hedge strategy, and examines to what extent the
strategy is consistent with the Company’s hedging policy.
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 18 — Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)
B.  Accounting policy:

The Company has made an early adoption of IFRS 9, and therefore the entry into effect of the
standard in its entirety has no impact on the Company's accounting policy with respect to hedges.
Accordingly, changes in the value of derivative financial instruments intended to hedge cash flows
are first recognized in the statement of other comprehensive profit (and in the Company’s equity)
and are then charged to the profit and loss statement, with the projected hedged transaction listed
in the profit and loss statement (for instance, the purchase of jet fuel). In particular, on the date
of recognizing the results of the hedging transaction in the staterment of income, the results of the
jet fuel hedging transactions are recognized in operating expenses, while forward contracts for
hedging against changes in the NIS/USD exchange rate are recognized in payroll expenses, which
constitute the projected hedged transaction for these purposes.

When the hedging by options is made using their internal value only, the component of time in
respect of these options will also be recognized in other comprehensive income (and presented in
the statement of changes in equity in a separate capital reserve) and will be classified to profit and
loss upon the occurrence of the hedged transaction or, under certain conditions, on prior dates.

Pursuant to the provisions of IFRS 9, the Company is permitted to hedge the changes in the prices
of jet fuel also for the specific risk of changes in the raw material price (crude oil), for example.
Furthermore, assessing the effectiveness of hedges is performed prospectively by means of a test
based on “economic ratios”. Note 18 — Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting (continued)

C. Composition of derivative financial instruments on the statement of financial position:

As of December 31, 2019

Contractual
payment Non-
(receipt) Nominal Current current
date amount assets assets
USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands
Derivative financial instruments
designated as hedging items:
Jet fuel hedging transactions 1/20-12/21 137,974 3,572 2,229
Interest hedging transactions * 8/20-8/30 469,066 3 4,024
Exchange rate hedging transactions 1/20-8/29 85,309 1,131 -
Total assets for derivative financial
instruments 4,706 6,253
C93 + 2019
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 18 — Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

C. Composition of derivative financial instruments on the statement of financial position;
(continued)

As of December 31, 2019

Contractual Non- Total
payment Nominal Current current fair
(receipt) date amount liabilities liabilities value

USD in thousands

Derivative financial
instruments designated as
hedging items:

Jet fuel hedging

transactions 1/20-12/21 137,974 (3,735) — 2,066
Interest hedging
transactions® 8/20-8/30 469,066 - (7,158) (3,131)
Exchange rate hedging
transactions 1/20-8/29 85,309 - (2,689)  (1,558)
Total assets for derivative
financial instruments (3,735) (9.847) (2,623)
As of December 31, 2018
Contractual
payment Nominal Current Non-current
(receipt) date amount assets assels

USD in thousands

Derivative financial
instruments designated as
hedging items:

Interest hedging transactions * 7/19-1/30 342,373 895 795

Total assets for derivative

financial instruments 895 795
C84 e + 2019
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.
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Note 18 — Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

C. Composition of derivative financial instruments on the statement of financial position:
(continued)

As of December 31, 2018
Contractual
payment Non-
(receipt) Nominal Current current Total fair
date amount liabilities liabilities value
USD in USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands thousands

Derivative financial
instruments designated as
hedging items:
Jet fuel hedging
transactions 1/19-12/20 146,987 (21,404) (8,378) (29,782)
Interest hedging
transactions* 7/19-1/30 342,373 - (2,369) (679)
Exchange rate hedging
transactions 2/19-8/19 167,045 (626) - (626)
Total assets for derivative
financial instruments (22,030)  (10,747) (31,087)
* Reflects the nominal amount

D. Jet fuel derivatives:

The financial hedging of jet fuel prices is designed to guarantee a range of jet fuel purchase prices,
in order to hedge the Company's exposure against changes in global jet fuel prices.

According to Company policy in this regard, jet fuel hedging will be carried out for a period of
12-24 months forward, on a monthly basis and at decreasing rates, as follows:

. For the coming month the Company shall hedge no less than 60% and no more than 80%
of its jet fuel consumption.
" These percentages will decrease by 5% each month until the 12th month.

= For the 13-18th months, management will be given the option of hedging up to 25% of the
Company’s expected jet fuel consumption (with no minimum hedging obligation).

- For the 19-24th months, management will be given the option of hedging up to 15% of the
Company’s expected jet fuel consumption {with no minimum hedging obligation).

C.95 —& 2019
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Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)
Jet fuel derivatives: (continued)

Hedging is carried out using various financial instruments as decided by management (price
fixing, options and various option structures), using appropriate base assets such as jet fuel, crude
oil or refined oil, at the sole discretion of the Company's management.

When hedging jet fuel prices, the Company hedges the refining component only from the
Company’s engagements in jet fuel purchases, which also include other components such as
refining and transportation margins. Since the refining component constitutes the most significant
and primary component of these engagements, the hedging agreements are expected to be
effective. On occasion, the Company chooses to hedge these transactions by hedging the crude
oil component only (by entering into derivatives in which the base asset is crude oil). The crude
oil price constitutes the primary component in setting the market price of the jet fuel (80%-85%),
while the coefficient between the price of crude oil and the price of jet fuel is examined by the
Company from time to time, in order to ensure that hedging the oil component in question
constitutes and is expected to constitute effective hedging.

The Risk Management Committee is authorized to exceed the policy set forth above, including
with respect to hedging. As of December 31, 2019, the volume of the Company's hedging
transactions, as approved by the committee, exceeded the maximum levels defined in the
aforementioned policy, for the period of December 2019 — November 2020. As of the reporting
date, the Company had commitments for the hedging of jet fuel prices at about 43% of the
consumption expected in 2020 and 18% of the consumption expected for 2021.

The following table presents the effect of jet fuel derivatives on the profit and loss, other
comprehensive income, equity and cash flows of the Company.

In addition, the table also includes a sensitivity analysis explaining the changes in the Company’s
results and equity as a result of changes in the value of jet fuel derivatives. The fair value of jet
fuel hedging transactions as of the date of the statement of financial position was determined by
using of standard forward pricing curves (level 2- quoted prices and observable prices).

As of the report date, the market price for jet fuel was 187 cents per gallon, while as of soon prior
to the approval date of this report, the price dropped significantly, to 48 cents per gallon;
moreover, some framework agreements with hedging entities alsc require the Company to provide
collateral (interest-bearing monetary deposit) when the fair value exceeds the threshold specified
in each framework agreement. The sharp decline in prices of crude oil and jet fuel resulted in the
fair value of these hedging transactions, soon prior to the report approval date, being USD 143
miillion in debit for the Company (hedging transactions for part of the expected consumption for
2020-2021); total collateral the Company was required to provide amounted to USD 48 million.
Collateral is increased / decreased daily, based on fluctuations in fair value of the transactions
with each of the hedging entities.

Changes to values of derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges are initially
recognized on the statement of other comprehensive income, and are later charged to the income
statement, when the anticipated hedged transaction (purchase of jet fuel) is charged to the income
statement . Since Company business volume is significantly lower than originally planned for
2020, the jet fuel hedge is not effective. Therefore, the outcome of such hedge would be charged
to the income statement in 2020.
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D. Jet fuel derivatives: (continued)

Effect on other Total effect

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

Free Translation of the Hebrew Language Financial Report - Hebrew Wording Binding

Increase in asset/

decrease in liability

For the year ending on December 31, 2019

Jet fuel derivatives:
Balance of jet fuel derivatives
as of January 1, 2019

Revaluation of transactions designated
as hedging instruments for accounting
purposes

Proceeds in respect of transactions
designated as hedging instruments for
accounting purposes

Loss on premiums due to expiry of
derivatives designated as hedging
instruments

Payment of premiums for hedging
instruments

Total changes in jet fuel derivatives

Balance of jet fuel derivatives as
of December 31, 2019

Potential effect of a 15% increase
{decrease) in jet fuel price on fair
value of derivatives as of the end of
the year (USD in million)

For the year ending on December 31,2018

Jet fuel derivatives:
Balance of jet fuel derivatives
as of January 1, 2018

Revaluation of transactions designated
as hedging instruments for accounting
purposes

Proceeds in respect of transactions
designated as hedging instruments for
accounting purposes

Loss on premiums due to expiry of
derivatives designated as hedging
instruments

Payment of premiums for hedging
instruments

Total changes in jet fuel derivatives
Balance of jet fuel derivatives
as of December 31, 2018

Potential effect of a 15% increase
(decrease) in jet fuel price on fair
value of derivatives as of the end of
the year (USD in million)

C97 o

Effect on profit  comprehensive on the Cash flows in {decrease
and loss for the income for the Company’'s respect of  in asset/increase in
year year equity derivatives liability)
USD in USD in USD in USP in
thousands thousands thousands thousands USD in thousands
(29,782)
- 32,363 32,363 - 32,363
2,919 (2,919} - 2,919 (2,919)
(1,195) 1,195 - — -
- - - (2,404) 2,404
1,724 30,639 32,363 515 31,848
2,066
- (30.7)/33.5) (30.7)/33.5 — (30.7¥/33.5
16,640
- (23,884) (23.884) - (23,884)
24,751 (24,751) - 24,751 (24,751)
(1,661) 1,661 - - -
- - - (2,213) 2,213
23,090 (46,974) (23,884) 22,538 (46,422)
(29,782)
- (3L.4)/31.4 (31.4)Y/31.4 - {(31.4¥31.4
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 18 — Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)
E.  Currency risk:

Maest of the Company’s income and expenses are in dollars, which is its functional currency. The
Company is exposed to changes in the US dollar's rate compared to other currencies in which it
has revenues and expenses, primarily in respect of payroll expenses paid in NIS in Israel.
Accordingly, a change in the NIS /USD exchange rate affects the Company's NIS expenses in
USD terms.

The Company also has balance sheet exposure to the weakening of the USD compared to the NIS
and other currencies, due to excess of financial liabilities over financial assets (mainly due to
employee benefit liabilities, see Note 14), denominated in currencies other than the dollar
(primarily the NIS). Thus, a 10% decline in the exchange rate would lead to an expense of USD
8.8 million, due to the revaluation of balances in the statement of financial position. From time
to time the Company reviews the need to use derivative instruments to reduce currency risk
exposure.

According to its policy, the Company hedges up to 75% of its estimated cash flow exposure to
the NIS for the 12 months ahead. As from 2019, the Company revised its hedging policy, by
determining minimum hedging ratios for the estimated cash flow exposure to the NIS as follows:
40% for the next 3 months, 30% for months 4-6 and 15% for the months 7-9, on a monthly basis.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company hedged on average 7% of the anticipated cash flow
exposure to NIS in 2020. This deviation from the minimum requirement was approved by the
Risk Committee.

The fair value of jet fuel hedging transactions as of the date of the statement of financial position
was determined based on commonly used forward price curves (level 2 — quoted prices and
observable prices).

C.o8 + 2019
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El Al Israel Airlines Ltd.
Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 18 — Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)
E. Currency risk: (continued)

Below is the effect of the Company’s NIS-USD derivatives on the profit and loss, other comprehensive
profit, equity and cash flows for 2018.

Effect on Increase in
other asset/decrease
Effect on comprehe  Total effect in liability
profit and nsive on the Cash flows in (decrease in
loss for income for Company's respect of asset/increase
the year the year equity derivatives  in liability)
USD in USD in USD in USD in USD in
thousands  thousands thousands  thousands thousands

For the year ending

on December 31,2019

Exchange rate derivatives:

USTY/NIS derivatives balance

as of January 1, 2019 e L626)

Revaluation of transactions

designated as hedging instruments for

accounting purposes — 6,574 6,574 - 6,574
Payment of transactions designated

as hedging instruments for

accounting purposes 5,361 {5,361) - 5,361 (5,361)
Revaluation of loan hedging

transactions in Japanese yen (see note

13(b)3)) (95) (2,143) (2,238) - (2,238)
Interest rate in respect of loan

hedging transactions in Japanese yen

{see note 13(b)3) (451) - “s5h
Cost of premiums in respect of the

expiry of derivatives designated as

hedges, which was recognized in

profit and loss upon the expiry

thereof (441) 441 - - -
Payment of premiums for hedging

instruments - - - (544) 544

Total changes in foreign exchange
derivatives 4,374 (489) 3,885 4,817 (932)

USD/NIS derivatives bhalance
as of December 31, 2019 (1,558)

(451)

Potential effect of 10% decrease/
(increase) in the interest rate on the

fair value of derivatives at the end of
the year (in USD million) - (94117 (9.4)11.7 - (9.4)/11.7
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Note 18 — Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

E. Curreney risk: (continued)

For the year ending

on December 31, 2018
Exchange rate derivatives:
USD/NIS derivatives balance
as of January 1, 2018

Revaluation of transactions designated
as hedging instruments for accounting

purposes — (3,978) (3,978) - (3,978)
Payment of transactions designated as

hedging instruments for accounting

purposes (3,352) 3,352 — (3,352) 3,352
Total changes in foreign exchange

derivatives (3,352) (626) (3,978) (3,352) (626)
USD/NIS derivatives balance

as of December 31,2018 ..._—(626)
Potential effect of 10% decrease/

(increase) in the interest rate on the fair

value of derivatives at the end of the

year (in USD million) — (10.5)/12.8  (10.5)/12.8 - (10.5/12.8

F. Interest risk:

The Company is exposed to interest risk deriving from loans at variable interest rates. The risk is
managed by the Company which maintains a proper ratio between floating interest loans and fixed
interest loans, and uses interest rate derivatives. Hedges are assessed regularly in order to match them
to forecasts regarding interest rates and the desired hedged risk. An optimal hedging strategy is ensured
by adapting the Company's loan mix and performing back-to- back hedging vis-a-vis the amortization
schedules of existing loans.

In accordance with the Company’s policy, the Company hedges its cash flow exposure to the LIBOR
interest rate {exposure arising from Company loans), at a rate of up to 50% of its total exposure for a
period of up to five years. As of 2019 the hedging policy was revised so that the hedging period will
correspond to the duration of the loan.
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Note 18 — Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

F. Interest risk: (continued)

Below is the impact of the Company's interest rate derivatives on the profit and loss, other
comprehensive profit, equity and cash flows for 2019.
The fair value of interest rate hedges as of the financial position statement date was determined using

standard interest curves (Level 2).
Increase in
Effect on Effect on other Total effect Cash flows  asset/decrease in

profitand comprehensive on the in respect of liability (decrease
loss for income for the  Company's  derivatives in asset/increase
the year year equity in liability)
USD in USD in USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
For the year ending
on December 31, 2019:
Interest rate derivatives:
Balance of interest rate
derivatives
as of January 1, 2019 L (679)

Revaluation of transactions

designated as hedging

instruments for accounting

purposes - (1,259) (1,259) - (1.259)
Proceeds in respect of

transactions designated as

hedging instruments for

accounting purposes 1,193 (1,193) - 1,193 (1,193)
Total changes in interest rate

derivatives 1,193 (2.452) (1,259) 1,193 (2,452)
Balance of interest rate

derivatives

as of December 31,2019 . Ga3h

Potential effect of a 50%
increase (decrease) in interest
rate on fair value of

derivatives as of the end of
the year (USD in million) - (22.4)21.0  (22.4)21.0 - (22.4)/21.0
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Note 18 — Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)
F. Interest risk: (continued)

For the year ending on

December 31, 2018:

Interest rate derivatives:

Balance of interest rate

derivatives as of January 1, 2018 1645

Revaluation of transactions

designated as hedging

instruments for accounting

purposes - (1,494) (1,494) — (1,494)
Proceeds in respect of

transactions designated as

hedging instruments for

accounting purposes 830 (830) - 830 (830)
Total changes in interest rate

derivatives 830 (2,324) (1.494) 330 (2,324)
Balance of interest rate

derivatives

as of December 31, 2018 (679)

Potential effect of a 50% increase
(decrease) in interest rate on fair

value of derivatives as of the end
of the year (USD in million) - (9.2)9.2 9292 - (9.2)/9.2

The effect of the Corona Virus crisis on the global economy resulted in significant decrease in long-term
interest rates after the date of the statement of financial position, hence the fair value of hedging
transactions conducted by the Company prior to the issue date of this report amounted to USD 49 million
in debit for the Company. According to framework agreements with hedging entities, the Company is
required to provide collateral (in the form of interest-bearing deposit) when the fair value exceeds the
threshold specified in each framework agreement. As of the date of the report's approval, the Company
was required to provide collateral against hedging transactions for interest rates and for JPY, amounting
in total to USD 23 million. Collateral is increased / decreased daily, based on fluctuations in fair value
of the transactions with each of the hedging entities,
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Note 19 — Supplementary information on the statement of income

A,  Operating income:
For the year ending on December 31
2019 2018 2017

USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands

Revenue from passenger aircraft:

Revenue from passengers in regular 1,887,773 1,784,688
Company flights 1,835,361

Revenue from cargo transport in the belly 97,520 102,461 88.352
of passenger planes

Revenue from Sun D'or flights 93,225 97,161 94,189
Total revenue from passenger aircraft 2,078,518 2,034,983 1,967,229
Revenue from cargo transport in cargoe 35,018 42,774 64,454
planes

Total revenue from passenger and 2,113,536 2,071,757 2,031,683
cargo transport (1)

Otherrevenue  (2) 64,461 64,236 65,315

2,177,997 2,141,993 2,096,998

(1) Below is a breakdown of Company revenues from passenger and cargo fransport by
geographic regions:

For the vear ending on December 31
2019 2018 2017

USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands

America 790,418 770,586 702,138
Europe 1,035,675 1,006,942 1,012,430
Asia and Africa 287,443 300,229 317,115
Total revenue from passenger and cargo 2,113,536 2,077,757 2,031,683
transport (1)

(2)  Other revenue mainly include income from the sale of Duty Free products, flight food
services, maintenance services for other entities, passenger club membership fees, loading
and unloading services, among others.
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Note 19 — Supplementary information on the statement of income (continued)

B. Operating expenses:
For the year ending on December 31
2019 2018 2017

USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands

Fuel 479,803 523,400 426,842
Payroll and related expenses 489,579 454,860 440,184
Alrport fees and services 212,523 223,745 212,132
Aircraft maintenance, flight equipment and ground

equipment 127,166 109,810 112,415
Air passage and aerial communications 85,284 90,255 89,782
Depreciation — owned equipment 119,309 117,459 * 129,794 *
Right-of-use asset 92,685 - -
Leasing fees for planes and engines 45,399 144,818 116,499
Food and provisions 61,764 596,464 537,225
Alr crew expenses 64,447 68,329 64,188
Security expenses less State participation (1) 4,303 4,434 4,028
Other operating expenses 52,542 49,063 82,179
Total 1,834,804 1,845,737 1,735,268

(1) Participation in security expenses - the percentage of the State's participation in the
Company’s security expenses in 2019, 2018 and 2017 was 97.5%.

* Re-classified - see Note 9.B.1.

C.  Selling expenses:
For the year ending on December 31
2019 2018 2017
USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands

Commissions to agents and credit card companies 94,794 108,793 106,636
Payroll and related expenses 50,690 51,808 51,455
Advertising and public relations 25,096 19,306 18,382
Expenses in respect of distribution systems 25,633 21,122 20,015
Other selling expenses 17,589 14,087 * 12,736 *
Total 213,802 215,116 209,224
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Note 19 — Supplementary information on the statement of income (continued)

D.  Administrative and general expenses:
For the year ending on December 31

2019 2018 2017
USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands
Payroll and related expenses 68,581 68,455 70,022
Professional services 7,484 10,803 8,163
Media 1.891 2,412 3,111
Rent and office maintenance 6,410 8,532 7,582
Insurance 2,410 1,805 2,050
Depreciation — owned equipment 15,590 13,925 * 13,264 *
Right-of-use asset 3,573 - -
Others 33,351 26,529 22,578
Total 139,290 132,461 126,800
E. Other income, net:
For the year ending on December 31
2019 2018 2017
USD in USD in USD in

thousands thousands thousands

Expenses with respect to employee retirement

plans, net (see Note 14.K) 701 540 731
Capital gain from realized fixed assets and

compensation with respect to damage to aircraft

(see Notes 9.F and 9.G3) (13,190) (14,541) {3,998)
Others (9) - (1)
Total (12,498) (14,001) (3271)

* Re-classified - see Note 9.B.1.

F.  Financing expenses:
For the year ending on December 31
2019 2018 2017
USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands
Interest on loans 33,831 26,118 19,078
Interest with respect to lease liabilities * 43,630 — —
Loan raising fees and other banking expenses 6,450 5,118 4,907
Exchange rate differentials with respect to non-
USD balances 2,883 718 -
Total 86,794 31,954 23,985

* See Note 2(D) regarding the application of IFRS 16 "Leases"
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Note 19 — Supplementary income statement information (continued)

Note2() -

Note 21 —

G.  Financing income:
For the year ending on December 31
2019 2018 2017

USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands

Interest on short-term bank deposits 2,747 3,007 2,040

Exchange rate differentials with respect to non-USD 3,042 194 1,443

and other balances

Total 5,789 3,201 3,483
Segment Reporting

During February 2018, following the appointment of Mr. Gonen Usishkin as Company CEQ, there were
changes in the information reviewed by him, as the Company's Chief Operating Decision Maker
(CODM), for the purpose of allocating resources on a continued basis. In line with the new review
format, the Company has a single operating segment, the objective of which is to maximize the
Company's overall profitability. As aresult, the Company's results are no longer presented by operating
segments.

Subsidiaries
A,  Details on the companies owned by the Company

(1) Sun D'or International Airlines Ltd. ("Sun D'or"):
The Group’s charter flights are carried out by Sun D'or (a company wholly owned by El
Al). Sun D'or is a tour operator for wholesalers and individuals and markets charter flights
and regular flights, by chartering entire aircrafts to a third party or portions of aircrafts to a
number of partners at pre-agreed prices, or through direct sales.

Starting 2011, Sun D'or has to serve as a tourism organizer, while preserving the “Sun D'or”
label for charter flights it markets and which are carried out by the Company (on weekdays)
and by other airlines (on weekend and holiday flights).

(2) Tamam Tamam Aircraft Food Industries (Ben Gurion Airport) Ltd.
Tamam (a company wholly-owned by El Al) is primarily engaged in the production and
supply of prepared kosher airline meals. The company has recently expanded its non-
aviation activity and it supplies, inter alia, institutional catering services. Tamam is located
in Israel. Its factory and offices are located in Ben Gurion Airport. The Company is the
principal customer of Tamam.

In December 2016, Tamam signed a licensing agreement with the Airport Authority for the
production, transport, unloading, loading and supply of food, beverages, and related
products to airplanes in Ben Gurion Airport. In August 2016 Tamam won a tender
published by the Airport Authority for the receipt of up to three licenses for the production,
transport, unloading, loading and supply of food, beverages and related products to
airplanes ("the Tender").
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Note 21 — Subsidiaries: (continued)

A Details on the companies owned by the Company: (continued)

3

)

3

(6)

In accordance with the terms of the tender, Tamam will build and operate a facility, in lieu

of the existing facility, for the supply of airplane food for a period of 25 years. The
investment in the construction of the above facility, its maintenance and the annual
licensing fees which Tamam will be required to pay to the Airport Authority are in
immaterial amounts.

In December 2017, Tamam was notified by the Airport Authority that the government has
given its approval for the budget, which was a suspensive condition for the commencement
of activity, by virtue of the tender, and it began designing the facility. Pursuant to the
aforementioned agreement, Tamam is required to complete construction of the facility by
end of 2020. Note that due to implications of the Corona Virus crisis on Company
operations, the Company did not continue the process of constructing this facility, and this
project has been put on hold. The Company has applied to Israel Airport Authority to
further discuss this matter after the end of this crisis.

Bornstein Caterers In¢. {(USA) (""Bornstein''):

Borenstein {a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company}, which was incorporated in the
United States and operates out of New York’s JFK airport, deals mostly in the production
and delivery of prepared Kosher meals for airlines and other institutions. The Company is
Borenstein's primary customer.

Superstar Holidays Limited (UK) ("'Superstar™):

Superstar (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), is a tourism wholesaler which
markets tour packages to travel agents and individual travelers, and sells airline tickets on
Company routes at reduced prices. Superstar has operations in other countries besides the
UK.

Katit Ltd. (“Katit”):

Katit (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) operates several restaurants for
Company employees at Ben Gurion Airport, cafeterias in the Company's oftfice buildings
and catering for the King David Lounge at Ben Gurion Airport.

Cockpit Innovation Ltd" (" Cockpit"):

Cockpit was established in 2016 by the Company to be its operating arm as an incubator

for investment projects related to the aviation field, both in terms of financial support and
in terms of collaboration with the Company for the promotion of the projects.
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Note 21 — Subsidiaries (continued)
A.  Details on the companies owned by the Company (continued)
(6) Cockpit Innovation Ltd" (*'Cockpit"):(continued}

In December 2018, Cockpit, the Company and Gate Gourmet Switzerland GmbH
(hereinafier — "Gate Gourmet"), a subsidiary of the Gate Group (a leading global airline
catering company) entered into a share allocation agreement, pursuant to which Gate
Gourmet was allocated 10.2% of Cockpit's shares {on a fully diluted basis), in return for
Gate Gourmet's USD 2.5 million investment in Cockpit As of the reporting date, the
Company holds 80.9% of Cockpit’s shares while Boeing and Gate Gourmet hold 8.9% and
10.2% (on a fully diluted basis), respectively. Inrespect of this transaction, the Company
recognized equity attributable to owners in the amount of USD 1.8 million and non-
controlling interests in the amount of USD 0.7 million, It is noted that the loss attributable
to Cockpit's non-controlling interests is negligible.

(7) Fly In, a Limited Partnership (""Fly In"")

The Company holds 50.09% of Fly In, while the remaining interests are held by the Phoenix
Insurance Agencies 1989 Lid. ("the Phoenix"}), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Phoenix
Insurance Company Ltd., and a company established by the Phoenix, which serves as the
general partner (0.02%) ("The Partnership”). The Partnership will operate an insurance
agency that will engage in the sale and marketing of travel insurance and other insurance
products, among others, to the Company's frequent flyer club customers. It is noted that as
of the date of approval of the report, the insurance agency has not yet obtained the license
for its independent operation and there, as of this date, its activities are carried out by the
Phoenix Insurance Agency and a licensed agency related thereto.

B.  Translatien of financial statements of investees whose functional currency is other than
USD:

In order to present the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of these
companies are presented in US dollars according to the exchange rates in effect as of the end of
the reported period, and income and expense items are translated according to the average
exchange rates in the reported period. The translation differences are recognized in other
comprehensive earnings under “exchange rate differences from the translation of foreign
operations,” and will be classified to profit or loss on the date of disposal of the foreign operation
in respect of which the translation differences were created.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 21 — Subsidiaries (continued)
C. Material transactions and agreements with the subsidiaries: (continued)

As stated in Note 2(a), the Company did not include separate financial information in its periodic
reporis for 2017 and 2016 in accordance with Regulation 9(¢) of the Securities Regulations
(Periodic and Immediate Reports), 5730-1970, due to the negligibility of the added information.
The Company has agreements with investee companies as follows:

Scope of activity

For the year ending
on December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
Company Activity type thousands thousands
Sun D'or Leasing planes and provision of related services 82,558 88,060
Purchase of food for Company flights from Ben
Tamam Gurion Airport 31,402 29,196
Purchase of food for Company flights from New
Bornstein York 7,468 6,290
Superstar Sale of airline tickets and land arrangements 6,386 5,346
Catering for employees and food services at the
Catit King David Lounge in Terminal 3 3,212 5,243

Note 22 -- Transactions with interested parties and affiliates
A.  The Company’s controlling shareholder:

As of January 2005, Knafaim Holdings (hereinafter — "Knafaim™), which is controlled by the
Borovitz family and additional shareholders, is the Company’s controlling shareholder. As of
December 31, 2019, Knatfaim held 38.33% of Company shares.

The following is a general description of the transactions with Knafaim and companies in which
the controlling shareholders of the Company have a personal interest, their characteristics and
their scope:

Operating revenues in 2019, 2018 and 2017 include revenues from a company controlled by
Knafaim, amounting to USD 1,151 thousand, USD 1,244 thousand and USD 792 thousand,
respectively.

Operating expenses in 2019, 2018 and 2017 include transactions with Knafaim and companies in

which the controlling shareholders of the Company have a personal interest, amounting to USD
401 thousand, USD 645 thousand and USD 813 thousand, respectively.
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A. The Company’s controlling sharehelder: {(continued)

Selling expenses in 2019, 2018 and 2017 include transactions through a third party with
advertising companies in which the controlling shareholders of the Company have a personal
interest, amounting to USD 241 thousand, USD 247 thousand and USD 781 thousand,
respectively.

General and administrative expenses in 2019, 2018 and 2017 include expenses with respect to
Board member liability insurance, amounting to USD 87 thousand, USD 87 thousand and USD
141 thousand, respectively.

For group insurance agreement, see section B(2}b} below.
B. Transactions with interested parties and affiliates:
1. Transactions with a controlling shareholder:

(a) Group Board members and officers are covered by Board member and officer liability
insurance, under a group insurance policy obtained by Knafaim for officers of
Knafaim, subsidiaries and affiliates thereof, pursuant to a framework transaction
approved by the annual and special General Meeting of Company shareholders on
November 29, 2017 and in conformity with the Company's remuneration policy ("the
Framework Transaction”) for joint purchase of Board member and officer liability
insurance policy in the Company and in subsidiaries thereof (including with respect to
controlling shareholders of the Company serving as Board members and officers), as
they may be from time to time, for an additional 3-year period from December 28, 2017
through December 27, 2020.

On August 11, 2019, the Audit and Remuneration Committee approved, and on August
13, 2019 the Company Board of Directors approved continued contracting, through
Knafaim, with Menora Mivtachim Insurance Ltd., to renew the Board member and
officer liability insurance policy, including Board members considered to be controlling
shareholders of the Company, serving from time to time the Company, subsidiaries and
affiliates thereof, for an additional period from August 1, 2019 through July 31, 2020,
pursuant to the Framework Transaction. The liability limit in the insurance policy
obtained is in conformity with terms and conditions of the Framework Transaction, at
USD 100 (one hundred) million. In addition to the aforementioned liability limit,
insured parties are eligible to reasonable legal expenses beyond the aforementioned
liability limit, pursuant to the Insurance Contract Act, 1981.

In accordance with the terms of the policy and the Framework Transaction, the
Company's share of the insurance premium fees is USD 123,750 thousand per year,
representing 70% of the total premium fees for the group insurance policy, as
recommended by the insurance advisors, taking into account the various parameters
examined by them — shareholders' equity, balance sheet and experience in claims
(Knafaim incurs the additional 30% of the premium fees). The deductible ranges
between USD 10-75 thousand, based on the type and nature of the claim.
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Transactions with related parties and other interested parties: (continued)

The Audit and Remuneration Committee approved, in conformity with Regulation 1B1
of the Corporate Regulations {Relietf for transactions with interested parties), 2000 ("'the
Relief Regulations”), that the contracting terms are in line with the Company's
remuneration policy. Furthermore, the Audit and Remuneration Committee and the
Company Board of Directors approved this contracting pursuant to provisions of
Regulation 1(3) and 1B(5) of the Relief Regulations, and determined that this
contracting is in line with terms and conditions set forth in the Framework Transaction.

Furthermore, the Audit and Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors
confirmed that this contracting is identical for all Company ofticers, including officers
who are controlling shareholders, as they may have been or will be from time to time,
is at market terms and may not materially impact Company earnings, assets or liabilities.

(b) On November 29, 2017, the annual and special General Meeting of Company

(c)

shareholders approved the issue of letters of indemnification to Company Board
members, including Board members who are contrelling shareholders of the Company
(currently: Tamar Moses-Borowitz and Sophia Kimmerling), for a three-year period as
from December 29, 2017, as well as amendment of letters of indemnification to all
Company officers.

On December 11, 2018, Nimrod Borowitz, CPA ("Nimrod") was appointed VP,
Strategy, Aircraft Procurement and Business Development.

Nimrod is the son of Mr. David Borowitz (a controlling shareholder of Knafaim, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, who is the husband of Tamar Moses
Borowitz, Deputy Chairperson of the Board of Directors and a controlling shareholder
of Knafaim) and nephew of Professor Israel {1zzy) Borowitz, a controlling shareholder
of Knafaim. Therefore, this agreement was approved as a transaction in which the
controlling shareholder has a personal interest.

On January 15, 2020, an extraordinary General Meeting of Company shareholders,
after receiving approvals by the Audit and Remuneration Committee and by the
Company Board of Directors, approved Nimrod's revised terms of employment, as
follows: Increase of their gross monthly salary to NIS 61 thousand (linked to the CPI)
and revision of their other terms of employment, to be similar to those of other VPs at
the Company, effective as from February 1, 2020. For reduction in Nimrod's salary
due to the Corona Virus crisis, see Note 1 to the financial statements,

Nimrod has been employed by the Company since March 2009 in various roles.
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Nimrod's previous terms of employment, as approved by the General Meeting of
Company shareholders on June 28, 2017 (after recejving approvals from the Audit and
Remuneration Committee and from the Company Board of Directors), upon their
appointment to the position of Deputy VP, Strategy, Aircraft Procurement and
Business Development of the Company, were as follows:

(a) Gross monthly salary of NIS 48 thousand, linked to the CPI; (b) Contributions
towards retirement insurance and study fund, as customary for the Company, and
provision of a Company car; and (c) eligibility for airline tickets as customary at the
Company.

(dy Ms. Dganit Palti ("Dganit") has been serving as CFO of the Company since March

(e)

2014, On May 23, 2017, following the approval of the audit and compensation
committee, the Company's board of directors approved the revisions made in the
employment agreement with Ms. Dganit Palti ("Dganit"), Company CFO, and her
salary increase to NIS 88,000 as of April 2017. Dganit's other terms of employment are
similar to those of other VPs, in conformity with the Company's officer remuneration
policy. Dganit's husband is a director in Knafaim, the Company's centrolling
shareholder, and there are business ties between a company owned by Mr. And Mrs.
Palti and companies owned by Mrs. Tamar Moses-Borowitz, deputy chairman of the
board and one of the controlling shareholders of Knafaim. Therefore, this contracting
was approved as a transaction in which a controlling shareholder has a personal
interest, classified as a non-exceptional transaction. For reduction in Dganit's salary
due to the Corona Virus crisis, see Note 1 to the financial statements.

On March 6, 2018, an extraordinary General Meeting of Company shareholders, after
receiving approvals by the Audit and Remuneration Committee and by the Company
Board of Directors, approved extension of the employment contract of Ms. Dalit Moses
("Dalit") by the Company for a 3-year period as from June 1, 2018 and revision of her
terms of employment as set forth below. Dalit is the wife of Mr. Armon (Noni) Moses,
brother of Ms. Tamar Moses Borowitz, who serves as Deputy Chairperson of the
Company and is a controlling shareholder of the Company. Therefore, this agreement
was approved as a transaction in which the controlling shareholder has a personal
interest. As approved by the General Meeting, Dalit's employment terms were revised
for a three-year period, as follows: (a) Dalit was promoted by one rank, to Unit
Manager at the Matmid frequent flyer club, and is entitled to a gross monthly salary of
NIS 8,000 for 50% full-time equivalent position, plus car expenses as customary at the
Company; (b) should Company employees be paid a bonus, Dalit would be entitled to
an annual bonus for each year between 2017-2019, not to exceed the average annual
bonus amount (in terms of gross pay for 50% full-time equivalent position) payable to
employees up to her rank, and subject to additional conditions as specified. Dalit is also
entitled to social benefits (retirement insurance and study fund), paid leave and sick
leave as customary at the Company, as well as to benefits and discounts with regard to
airline tickets with tax gross-up, as customary at the Company and in conformity with
Company procedures. As of the publication date of this report, Dalit is on furlough.
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On December 3, 2019, the General Meeting of Company Shareholders approved, in
conjunction with approval of the Company's officer remuneration policy for 2020-
2022, the remuneration for Company Board members for a further three-year period,
including Board members who are controlling shareholders of the Company, except
for the Chairperson of the Board of Directors, whose remuneration was specifically
approved. Note that external and independent Board members are entitled to
remuneration for attending meetings and to annual remuneration, as set forth in the
remuneration policy, and are not entitled to benefits with regard to airline tickets. Note
that for calculation of the benefit value of airline tickets as set forth above, the flight
ticket value was calculated based on its value for tax purposes, based on customary
Company tariffs. For reduction in remuneration of Board members due to the Corona
Virus crisis, see Note 1 to the financial statements.

Entitlement of the retiring Chairperson of the Board of Directors, Professor Israel
(Izzy) Borowitz, to airline tickets with the Company for them and for family members
thereof — Professor Israel (Izzy) Borowitz is a controlling shareholder of Knafaim, the
controlling shareholder of the Company. The transaction was approved by the Audit
Committee, by the Company Board of Directors and by the General Meeting of
Company shareholders held on December 30, 2008.

2. Negligible transactions or non-exceptional transactions with controlling shareholder:

Non-exceptional and non-negligible transactions with controlling shareholder

a) From time to time, the Company enters into aviation insurance agreements with

insurers. As from 2006, soon after Knafaim became the controlling shareholder of the
Company, Knafaim joined the Company's aviation insurance policy and the terms of
contracting between the parties were covered by the aviation insurance agreement,
which was renewed every three years ("Aviation Insurance Agreement”). Upon
termination of the extension of this agreement (on November 25, 2017), a decision was
made to revise the contracting of the Aviation Insurance Agreement, such that Global
Leasing Knafaim Ltd. ("Global Leasing"), a public company controlled by Knafaim,
would contract the Aviation Insurance Agreement with the Company of Knafaim and it
was further decided to obtain separate insurance policies for the Company and for
Global Leasing, rather than a single insurance policy as has been the case to date. On
November 19, 2017 and on November 21, 2017, the Audit and Remuneration
Committee and the Company Board of Directors, respectively, approved contracting by
the Company with Global Leasing of an agreement for three years through November
25, 2020 ("the Revised Agreement"), at terms and conditions similar to those of the
original agreement signed by the parties in July 2006 and extended from time to time.
Pursuant to the agreement, Global Leasing pays to El Al an administrative fee for El
Al's handling of the aforementioned insurance policies.
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(c)

Approval of the Revised Agreement by the Audit and Remuneration Committee and by the Board
of Directors is granted for a three-year period, and the Company may terminate this agreement
upon occurrence of certain events, as set forth in the Revised Agreement. Moreover, either party
has the right to terminate the agreement, for any reason and at its discretion, provided that the other
party was notified 60 days in advance.

Pursuant to Secticn 117(1a) of the Corporate Act, 1999 ("the Corporate Act"), the Audit and
Remuneration Committee has classified the agreement with Global Leasing as a "non-exceptional
transaction”, and has determined that it was contracted in the normal course of Company business,
at market terms and may not materially impact the Company's eamings, assets or liabilities. The
Company Board of Directors approved the agreement with Global Leasing and resclved that this
agreement is in the Company's best interest.

The Company Board of Directors approved contracting by the Company with Yedioth Aharonoth

Group as follows: (1) Contracting the purchase of advertising space in various media owned by
Yedioth Aharonoth Group (approved in December 2017); (2) Contracting the purchase of
newspapers and magazines in Israel (approved in December 2020) and in New York (approved in
December 2017) from Yedioth Aharonoth Group, for distribution to passengers on Company
flights; (3) Contracting the purchase of subscriptions to newspapers of Yedioth Aharonoth Group
for Company managers (approved in November 2018); (4) Contracting with a third party provider
of a platform for in-flight reading newspapers and magazines owned, inter alia, by Yedioth
Aharonoth Group (approved in April 2019, this contracting is not in effect); (5) Contracting by
Tour Air Israel Ltd. "Airtour") with website "Big Deal”, owned by YNET {of Yedioth Aharonoth
Group), whereby the website Big Deal would distribute for Airtour airline tickets, at similar terms
to Airtour co-operations with other entities (approved in February 2018). Note that the Company
holds 50% of Airtour shares.

Contracts with Yedioth Aharonoth Group were classified as transactions in which a controlling
shareholder of the Company has a personal interest, since Yedioth Aharonoth Group is controlled
by the brother of Ms. Tamar Moses Borowitz, Deputy Chairperson of the Company Board of
Directors and a controlling shareholder of Knafaim, the controlling shareholder of the Company.

The Audit and Remuneration Comimittee has determined that these agreements are not exceptional
transactions. The Company Board of Directors has reviewed these agreement and concluded that
they are in the Company's best interest.

(1) In April 2017, the Company Board of Directors approved the Company contracting with QAS
Israel Ltd. ("QAS"), whereby the Company provides line maintenance services to airlines
represented by QAS in Israel, and QAS provides such services te the Company as required.
Knafaim owns 50% of the issued and paid-in share capital of QAS, and Mr. Shlomo Hanel, who is
a Board member of the Company and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Knafaim, serves as
Chairman of the Board of Directors of QAS. Therefore, Company contracts with QAS were
classified as contracts in which a controlling shareholder of the Company has a personal interest.
The Audit and Remuneration Committee has determined that these agreements are not exceptional
transactions and has approved these agreements. The Company Board of Directors has reviewed
these agreement and concluded that they are in the Company's best interest.
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(2} In August 2019, the Company Board of Directors approved and ratified the Company
contracting with QAS, whereby the Company has been providing to QAS, since 2010, repair
and maintenance services for various tools owned by QAS ("Ground Equipment
Maintenance Services" or "the Contract"), pursuant to a price list agreed by the parties. Due
to human error, the Contract was not previously brought for approval by the Company organs
as required by law. The Audit and Remuneration Committee has determined that the Contract
is not an exceptional transaction and has approved the Contract. The Company Board of
Directors has reviewed the Contract and concluded that it is in the Company's best interest.
Furthermore, the Company Board of Directors approved that contracting with QAS in 2019 is
a negligible transaction, as defined below. Note that the Company's financial statements for
2010-2018 included, in the Note regarding Company revenues from transactions with
interested parties, all revenues from QAS for maintenance services, i.e. both revenues from
provision of Ground Equipment Maintenance Services to QAS (which were not approved in
time) and from line maintenance services (which were approved in time), as noted above.

In December 2019, the Company Board of Directors approved the extension of Company
contracting with QAS for provision of Ground Equipment Maintenance Services, from
January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2022, as set forth above, after the Audit and
Remuneration Commitiee had determined that these agreements do not constitute exceptional
transactions and had approved these agreements. The Company Board of Directors has
reviewed these agreement and concluded that they are in the Company's best interest.

Note that all the agreements listed above in section B2(a) through B2(c}(2) are not material
relative to Company revenues and/or expenses, as the case may be. These agreements are

included in financial data below.

Non-exceptional negligible transactions with controlling shareholder

"Negligible transaction”

On March 18, 2014, the Company Board of Directors set the guidelines and rules for
classification of a transaction by the Company, a subsidiary or an associate thereof, with an
interested party therein as a "negligible transaction”. These rules and guidelines are used by
the Company to determine the extent of disclosure in the periodic report and in the prospectus
(including in shelf proposal reports) as regards transactions by the Company, a corporation
under its control, its subsidiary or associate, with a controlling shareholder or in which the
controlling shareholder has a personal interest in its approval as defined in Article 22 of the
Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 5730-1970 and Article 54 of the
Securities Regulations (Prospectus Details and Prospectus Draft — Structure and Form), 5729-
1969 (“Prospectus Details Regulations™) (the types of transactions set in the Financial
Statements Regulations, the Periodic Report Regulations and the Prospectus Details
Regulations denoted above, shall be called “Transactions with Interested Parties™).
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Accordingly, the Board of Directors has determined that in absence of special qualitative
censiderations arising from all circumstances of the matter, an Interested Party Transaction
conducted in the normal course of Company business, at market terms and with no material
effect on the Company, would be considered a "negligible transaction" if all of the following
conditions are met:

(a) The annual contract value (per calendar year) stated therein is up to NIS 1 million. Should
the Company not own all of the rights and obligations in the transaction, the transaction
shall be evaluated pro-rata to the Company's share of the transaction.

(b} The Company is not required to issue an immediate report of the transaction pursuant to
the Periodic and Immediate Reports regulations, or to any other law.

(¢) The transaction does not concern terms of office and employment of an interested party

or relative thereof (as defined in the Corporate Act, 1999, hereinafter: "the Corporate
Act™).
In general, any interested party transaction would be separately reviewed for
classification as a negligible transaction, based on the relevant benchmarks on the
Company's most recent audited consolidated annual financial statements. Relevant
benchmarks for review of transactions include the following: (1) Total sales subject of
the interested party transaction; (2) Total cost of sales subject of the interested party
transaction; (3) Total assets subject of the interested party transaction; (4} Total liabilities
subject of the interested party transaction; or (3) Total expenses or consideration subject
of the interested party transaction.

In cases where, at the Company's discretion, all of the aforementioned benchmarks are
not relevant for review of negligibility of the interested party transaction, the transaction
would be deemed negligible in conformity with another relevant benchmark to be
determined by the Company, provided that the relevant benchmark calculated for the
transaction would not exceed NIS | million per calendar year.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, separate transactions that are part of the same contracting
or continucus transactions or highly similar recurring transactions, shall be reviewed as a
single transaction for each calendar year, in order to review its classification as a
negligible transaction, and in such cases, the aggregate contract value per calendar year
shall not exceed NIS 1 million.

In the reported period and through submission of this report, the Company had
transactions with entities in which controtling shareholders of the Company have a
personal interest and which constitute negligible transactions, of the following types and
features:

Contracting for transportation of cargo (newspapers) from Ben Gurion Airport to
Kennedy Airport in New York; provision of flight ticket benefits to Yedioth Aharonoth
in conformity with a business customer agreement; obtaining advertising services
regarding billboard advertising; providing and obtaining transportation services for
passengers to/from aircraft; co-operation in mutual hosting of VIP customers of the
Company at the Dan lounge and VIP customers of foreign companies at the lounge
operated by the Company in Ben Gurion Airport; flight ticket discounts in conformity
with a business customer agreement; control over the Company website; sponsorship of
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conferences; provision of various food services by the subsidiary, Tamam; and provision
of Ground Equipment Maintenance Services to QAS.

The aforementioned contracts were approved by the Board of Directors as "negligible
transactions”, after they were classified by the Audit and Remuneration Committee as
non-exceptional transactions, in conformity with the aferementioned benchmarks.

Transactions with interested parties:

{b) Exceptional transactions with interested parties:

(M

€))

In November 2018, the Audit and Remuneration Committee and the Company Board
of Directors approved the amendment and extension of the Company's framework
agreement with Maman Cargo Warehousing Ltd. ("Maman"), signed in February
2010 and amended and extended in May 2016 ("the Framework Agreement” and
"the Letter of Amendment and Extension”, respectively). The Framework
Agreement stipulates contracting terms for terminal services provided by Maman to
the Company, including cargo handling, transportation and warehousing. In
conformity with the Letter of Amendment and Extension, (a) the contracting period
with Maman, due to expire on December 31, 2019, was extended through December
31, 2022; (b) the exercise period for options granted by Maman to the Company,
exercisable for up to 10% of the issued share capital of Maman, fully diluted, was
extended through December 31, 2022 (with no changes made to terms and conditions
of these options); and (¢) non-material revision of the payment mechanism stipulated
in the Framework Agreement. Note that the effect of revision of option terms and
conditions and of the payment mechanism on the Company's financial statements,
business standing and operating results is not material.

In December 2019, the Audit and Remuneration Committee and the Company Board
of Directors approved the extension of the agreement with Maman, signed in August
1990 ("the Agreement"), which was extended from time to time and amended in
February 2013 ("the Letter of Amendment and Extension of the Agreement").
The Agreement and the Letter of Amendment and Extension stipulate contracting
terms with regard to loading and off-loading services ("Loading and Off-loading
Services™) of the cargo aircraft used by the Company, conducted by the Company
using heavy transportation equipment owned by the Company, and with regard to
provision of Loading and Off-loading Services by the Company to other airlines
(including irregular cargo) referred to the Company by Maman, in cases where
Maman does not have available labor and equipment to provide such services. In
conformity with the Letter of Amendment and Extension, the Company was given
the option to extend the contract by another year (which was exercised), from
January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020, whose exercise was subject to approval
by the Audit and Remuneration Committee and by the Company Board of Directors.

Contracts with Maman were classified as transaction in which an interested party in
the Company has a personal interest, since Mr. Yehuda (Yudi) Levi, Deputy
Chairperson of the Company Board of Directors, serves as Board member of Maman
on behalf of the Company. Note that these contracts were classified and approved as
"exceptional transactions”.
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(¢) Non-excepticnal transactions with interested parties:

The Company has contracts in which interested parties in the Company have a personal
interest and which are non-exceptional, as set forth below. Note that all of these contracts
are not material relative to Company revenues and/or expenses, and that they are included
in financial data below. Provision of flight ticket benefits in conformity with a business
customer agreement; leasing of office space; and provision of various food services by the
subsidiary, Tamam.

The Company has a non-material contract with Harel Insurance, regarding dental insurance
for Company employees, which is not included in the financial data. Moreover, the
Company has contracts with Harel Insurance with regard to insurance as listed below,
which are included in the financial data: Elementary insurance for the Company; insurance
for construction of Tamam facility; employer liability and professional liability insurance;
overseas travel insurance for business travel by Company employees; and healthcare
insurance for Company employees stationed overseas and their family members.

{d) Contracts with interested parties pursuant to holdings:

Note that the Company has contracts with interested parties pursuant to holdings only, of
non-material scope, including: (1} contracts with HaPhoenix Group for healthcare
insurance for Company employees, which are not included in the financial data. (2)
commurication with Mr. Pinhas Ginzburg (hereinafter: "Ginzburg ") or anyone on his
behalf (including corporations under his control) as detailed below: (1) connections with
Y. Hilel (travel agency owned by Mr. Ginzburg and relatives thereof) for purchase of
airline tickets for Company flights and for flights marketed by Sun d'Or and for leasing
charter flights marketed by Sun d'Or; (3) contracts to purchase airline tickets and for
provision of outsourcing services by Airtour (in which Ginzburg is a shareholder and
Board member), for bookings and provision of ground services; and (4) contracts
regarding transport of passengers and cargo, including code sharing and inter-line
agreements, and purchase of airline tickets from Thai Airways ("Thai"), which Mr.
Ginzburg represents as their general sales agent in Israel. Moreover, since Mr. Ginzburg
is Thai's general sales agent in Israel, in 2019 Mr, Ginzburg and his wife received
complimentary airline tickets from the Company, pursuant to IATA resolution 788 and to
Company procedures. These agreements are included in financial data below,

C.  Services agreement with Chairman of the Company Board of Directors:

On June 1, 2017, Mr. Eli Defes assumed the position as chairman of the Company's board of
directors.

On June 28, 2017, the General Meeting of Company shareholders resolved to approve the terms
of office of Defes as Executive Chairman of the Company Board of Directors. Mr. Defes provides
chairman services to the Company equivalent to a 70% part-time position (130 management hours
a month).

The management agreement is effective from June 1, 2017 and until the day in which Mr. Defes
ceases to serve as chairman of the Company's board of directors, for any reason whatsoever ("the
management agreement”). Each party (Mr. Defes or the Company) may terminate the
management agreement by giving a 3-month prior notice.
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In the event of dismissal under special circumstances, the Company may terminate the
management agreement immediately.

Mr. Defes is entitled to monthly management fees of NIS 81,900 plus VAT (against a tax invoice,
as required by law), linked to the CPI, which will be updated once a year on January based on the
rate of increase in the CPl in the preceding year. For reduction in Defes' salary due to the Corona
Virus crisis, see Note 1 to the financial statements.

Mr. Defes is entitled to a company car with a maximum value of NIS 300,000. The Company also
bears all operating and maintenance costs of the car (including tax gross-up of the usage value up
to NIS 6,000 per month).

In addition, Mr. Defes is entitled to an annual bonus of no more than 63% of the annual bonus
paid to the Company's CEO, as shall be from time to time and which, in any case, shall not exceed
NIS 1.89 million, all in accordance with the Company's remuneration policy, as shall be from
time to time, which includes threshold terms for receipt of the bonus, long-term deferred bonus,
as well as reduction of the bonus amount by the Company's board of directors and refund of
amounts paid, if paid, based on data that turned out to be misleading and restated in the Company's
financial statements, and subject to the approvals required by law ("the annual bonus™). It is
noted that according to the terms of the current remuneration policy, the annual bonus to the
Company's CEQ is up to 2% of the Company's pre tax annual profit, and no more than NIS 3
million. The percentage of bonus to Mr. Defes (63% of the CEO's bonus) is derived from the
percentage of the part-time position (70%) times 90% (according to the limit specified in the
Company's remuneration policy). The annual bonus will be paid with the addition of VAT, against
atax invoice. For 2017-2019, Mr. Defes was not entitled to an annual bonus. Mr. Defes is entitled
to benefits in the form of Company airline tickets, for him and for his family members, as set
forth in the management agreement. Moreover, should Mr. Defes complete 3 years in office as
Chairman of the Company Board of Directors, he would be entitled to benefits in the form of
airline tickets for him and for his family members, for five years after his retirement.

D.  Contracting with Mr. Gonen Usishkin ("Gonen'") as Company CEO:

As from February 15, 2018, Gonen serves as Company CEOQ, after the Company Board of
Directors approved his appointment on January 8, 2018. Gonen has served the Company in
various role since 2004; from January 2017 through his start date in office as CEQO, he served as
VP, Trade and Aviation Relations.

Through February 15,2018, Mr. David Maimon served as Company CEQ. Note that the Company
employed Mr. Maimon through March 31, 2019, as he was on sick leave.

On March 6, 2018, the General Meeting of Company shareholders approved Genen's terms of
office and employment as Company CEO. The employment agreement signed by Gonen and by
the Company is effective as from February 15, 2018, for an un-specified term, during which he
would serve as Company CEO in a full time position ("the Employment Agreement"). Either
party may terminate the Agreement by 6 months' advance notice.
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Gonen is entitled to a gross monthly salary of NIS 120,000 ("Base Salary). The Base Salary is linked to
the Consumer Price Index. For reduction in Gonen's salary due to the Corona Virus crisis, see Note 1 to
the financial statements.

Gonen is entitled to an annual bonus equal to 2% of the Company's annual earnings (before tax), capped
at NIS 3 million, in conformity with terms and conditions, restrictions and provisions set forth, now or
in future, in the remuneration policy, as it may be from time to time, including provisions with regard
to minimum conditions for bonus eligibility, long-term deferred compensation and with regard to
reduction of the bonus amount by the Company Board of Directors. Also note that pursuant to the
remuneration policy, in any year when no bonuses were distributed for any reason whatsoever (including
if the minimum conditions for bonus distribution, as set forth in the remuneration policy ("Minimum
Conditions"™) have not been fulfilled, the Audit and Remuneration Committee and the Company Board
of Directors may resolve, at their discretion, to pay Gonen a special bonus of up to 3 months' Base Salary
(as it was in the year for which the special bonus is paid). The Audit and Remuneration Committee and
the Company Board of Directors may resolve to pay Gonen a special bonus even in a year in which the
Minimum Conditions were fulfilled, provided that in total, the annual bonus and special bonus would
not exceed NIS 3 million. For 2018-2019, Gonen was not entitled t¢ an annual bonus.

Gonen is entitled to social benefits, such as contributions to retirement insurance or pension fund,
disability insurance and study fund, as customary for senior Company officers, as well as to payment of
the value of car maintenance (including tax gross-up). Gonen is also entitled to reimbursement of per
diem expenses in Israel and overseas, in conformity with Company procedures and subject to rates and
amounts applicable at the Company from time to time.

Gonen and his family members are entitled to benefits in the form of airline tickets during his
employment by the Company, as set forth in the employment agreement. Should Gonen actually
complete 3 years in office as Company CEO (excluding any notice period), he would be entitled to
recelve airtine tickets for five years after concluding his term in office as Company CEQO, in conformity
with terms and conditions set forth in the employment agreement. Note that in any case, Genen would
be entitled to airline tickets as a retiring VP (to which he was entitled prior to being appointed CEQ), as
customary at the Company.

Gonen is entitled to paid leave, sick leave and vacation pay as follows: (a) For each full year of service
with the Company (including any notice period), Gonen would be entitled to 22 days' paid leave, which
may be accumulated during his term in office with no limitations; (b) The Company would pay Gonen
for up to 30 days' sick leave for each year of service with the Company, which may be accumulated with
no limitations nor caps (Base Salary and other amounts and benefits to which he would have been
entitled had he worked for the Company during the sick leave period), which may not be redeemed for
cash payment; {c) For each full year of service with the Company, Gonen would be entitled to 14 days
of vacation pay, at the rate customary at the Company. Note that the employment agreement stipulates
that provisions of this agreement shall not derogate from any rights accrued by Gonen since his start
date with the Company (April 19, 2004) through the effective start date of the agreement. Nevertheless
and in conformity with the foregoing, upon termination of Gonen's service with the Company, he would
be entitled to redeem in cash the accrued balance of paid leave with respect to his service with the
Company prior to being appointed CEO (72 days); the redeemable value of each such paid leave day
would be based on his most recent salary as VP, prior to being appointed CEO.
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Note 22 — Transactions with interested parties and affiliates (continued)

E. Remuneration OF key managerial personnel:
For the year ending on December 31
2019 2018 2017
USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands
Short term benefits 4,709 5,738 5,833
Post-employment benefits 102 126 26
Total 4,811 5,864 5.859
F. Benefits provided to interested parties:
For the year ending on December 31
2019 2018 2017
USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands
Services of Chairman and management fee
(including benefit with respect to options) to
interested parties employed by the Company 276 273 323
Number of beneficiaries 1 1 1
Remuneration for Board member not employed
Number of beneficiaries 9 9 10
G. Balances with Interested partis and affiliates:
As of December 31
2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands
Interested parties / other related parties
Under Current Assets:
Customers:
Related party — associate 445 808
Related party and interested party 449 446
895 1,254
Total highest debit balance during account period 3,703 4,687
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Note 22 — Transactions with interested parties and affiliates (continued)

GG.  Balances with Interested partis and affiliates: {(continued)

As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands
Under Current Liabilities:
[nterested party 62 852
Current liabilities in respect to employee benefits:
Interested party 244 191*
Non-current severance pay liabilities:
Interested party 530 542%

* Reclassified

As of December 31

2019 2018
USD in USD in
thousands thousands
Associates:
Under Non-current Financial Assets:
Investment in shares and options 20,111 19,575
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Note 22 — Transactions with interested parties and affiliates (continued)

Note 23

G.  Balances with Interested partis and affiliates: (continued)

For the year ending on December 31

2019 2018 2017

USD in USD in USD in
thousands thousands thousands

Interested parties / related parties:

Income from interested and related parties:

Airline tickets (1) 22,319 29,945 31,663
Cargo shipment (1) 310 641 * 955 *
Other revenue 1,314 1,172 * 595 *
Operating expenses 1,028 2,503 1,561

Selling expenses:
Mostly commissions and marketing fee to interested

parties 1,728 1,951 2,528 *

Advertising services from interested parties 241 247 781

Administrative and general expenses: 2,810 2,300% 2,266*
* Reclassified.

(1)  Note that the amount shown in this table includes, for the sake of caution, the total turnover
values for transactions for which commissions are payable at different rates to related
parties or to the Company, as the case may be.

Events during the reported period

The agreement signed by the Company and by the State of Israel, which governs the Israeli aviation
security system ("the Agreement") whereby, inter alia, the State's participation in security expenses
of Israeli airlines is 97.5%, was extended through June 3¢, 2020. The Company is negotiating with the
relevant regulatory officials to regulate the matter.
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Note 24 - Events subsequent to the financial position statement date

1.

For implications of the Corona Virus crisis, subsequent to the date of the statement of financial
position, see Note 1.

In conjunction with action taken by the Company to address the material implications of the Corona
Virus crisis, on April 23, 2020, the Company signed an MOU with a foreign company, for sale and
lease-back of three Boeing 737-800 aircraft manufactured in 2009 and six engines thereof (“the
Aircraft” and "the Transaction", respectively).

According to the Transaction, the Aircraft would be sold to the foreign company for USD 76 million
("the Sale Proceeds™), and would be leased back by the Company for a term of 8 years, after which
they would be returned to the foreign company, subject to fulfillment of conditions for such return, as
stipulated in the agreement to be signed by the parties.

Of the Sale Proceeds, USD 21 million would be deposited with the Buyer to cover refurbishment of
the Aircraft during the term of the Agreement. The Company would gradually receive amounts equal
to 75% of the aforementioned deposit, later in 2020 and through 2021, subject to actual refurbishiment
of the engines, with the balance to be gradually reimbursed to the Company through 2026, in
conformity with refurbishments to be carried out in that period. The amounts to be reimbursed to the
Company would be used for Aircraft and engine maintenance.

Should the Transaction close in the format and for the price stipulated in the MOU, the Company is
expected to record upon the sale date capital loss estimated at USD 3.7 million (before tax) in
conformity with GAAP.

Closing of the Transaction and receipt of the consideration are subject to conditions set forth in the
MOU, including the following: Receiving financial or other support from the Staie of Israel, to secure
continued viability of the Company to the foreign company's satisfaction; release of existing liens on
the Aircraft; obtaining internal approvals by the foreign company; physical inspection of the Aircraft
and relevant paperwork by the foreign company; delivery of financial and operating information with
regard to the Company, as required by the foreign company; and signing the transaction documents.
Note that closing of this transaction, subject to the aforementioned conditions or otherwise, is uncertain
at this time.

On May 11 and 13, 2020, the Audit and Remuneration Committee and the Company Board of
Directors, respectively, confirmed that the Company would act to exercise the option set forth in the
group insurance policy obtained by Knafaim Holdings Ltd. ("Knafaim"), the controlling shareholder
of the Company, for officers of Knafaim, subsidiaries and affiliates thereof ("the Group Insurance
Policy™), pursuant to terms and conditions of the framework transaction (as defined in Section 1(3) of
the Corporate Regulations (Relief for transactions with interested parties), 2000 ("the Relief
Regulations”)) between the Company and Knafaim, for joint purchase of a Board member and officer
liability insurance policy, as approved by the General Meeting of Company shareholders on November
29, 2017 ("the Framework Transaction"), and in conformity with the officer remuneration policy of
the Company, as approved by the General Meeting of Company shareholders on December 1, 2016
("the Remuneration Policy"), allowing for purchase of insurance coverage with respect to an extended
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Note 24 - Events subsequent to the financial position statement date (continued)

seven-year run-off period, from August 1, 2020 through July 31, 2027 ("Purchase of Run-off
Coverage"}.

Upon exercise of the aforementioned option, the insurance coverage for the run-off period would be
provided to all Board members and officers of Knafaim and subsidiaries thereof, including the
Company (including Board members and officers who are controlling shareholders of the Company)
and to officers on behalf of the Company while serving with affiliates and to other managers at the
Company.

The decisien to exercise the aforementioned option was made after receiving the position of insurance
advisors and their assessment of the anticipated deterioration in insurance renewal terms across the
insurance market, and in particular for the aviation industry due to the challenges it faces at this time.
Purchase of the run-off coverage is contingent on a resolution by Knafaim to do so, and the Company
would ask Knafaim to act to exercise the aforementioned option.

Terms and conditions of insurance coverage with respect to the run-off period are in line with terms
and conditions of the Framework Transaction and with provisions of the Remuneration Policy,
including with regard to insurance premium sharing by the Company and by Knafaim which, as
recommended by the insurance advisors, would remain as in the current insurance policy, with the
Company liable for 70% of the insurance premium for the run-off period, i.e. USD 322,070 for the
entire 7-year insurance period.

Pursuant to Regulation 1Bi of the Relief Regulations, the Company's Audit and Remuneration
Committee confirmed that contracting terms for purchase of the run-off coverage are in line with the
Company's Remuneration Policy, are at market terms and may not materially impact the Company's
earnings, assets or liabilities.

Pursuant to Regulation 1(3) of the Relief Regulations, the Audit and Remuneration Committee and the

Company Board of Directors confirmed that contracting for purchase of run-off coverage is in line

with terms and conditions of the Framework Transaction, and further confirmed pursuant to Regulation

1B(a)(5) of the Relief Regulations, that contracting for purchase of the run-off coverage is identical
for all Company officers, including officers who are controlling shareholders, as they may have been
or will be from time to time.

Below is a summary of reasons cited by the Audit and Remuneration Committee and by the Company

Board of Directors for approval of the purchase of run-off coverage:

A. Purchase of the run-off coverage is in the Company's best interest, as it would allow Board
members, officers and other managers of the Company to properly discharge their office, noting
that upon renewal of insurance, its terms and conditions may be significantly worse, in particular
for the aviation industry at this time, and considering the risk involved in their office and the
responsibility imposed by law on Board members and officers.

B. By obtaining the aforementioned insurance coverage, the Company may reduce payments that
may be payable by the Company in conjunction with its commitment to indemnify Board
members and officers, pursuant to letters of indemnification provided by the Company to Board
members and officers.

C. Subject to precedence, the aforementioned coverage would also provide insurance coverage for
the Company (as distinct from officers thereof) with respect to claims involving breach of
securities laws, thereby reducing the Company's risk in this regard.

D. This contracting involves exercise of an option granted by the insurers in an insurance policy
purchased pursuant to the Framework Transaction with Knafaim, as approved by the General
Meeting of Company shareholders.
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Note 24 - Events subsequent to the financial position statement date (continued)

E. This transaction is in line with the Company's Remuneration Policy, which explicitly allows for
purchasing of such coverage, stipulating a maximum payment for such coverage of USD 1,500
thousand, whereas in this case, the amount payable is much lower.

F. The contracting terms and conditions are identical for all Company officers, including officers
who are controlling shareholders, as they may have been or will be from time to time.

G. Contracting of the insurance policy is at market terms, as set forth above, and in conformity with
the opinion of insurance advisors, given the fact that the coverage purchased is for a 7-year term,
and may not materially affect Company profitability, assets or liabilities.
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